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PREFACE

This publication, issued by the Accounting and Review Services Committee
(ARSC), s a codification of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services (SSARSs), and the related interpretations of SSARSs applicable to
performing engagements to prepare financial statements and performing and
reporting on compilation and review engagements.

SSARSs are issued by ARSC, the senior committee of the AICPA desig-
nated to promulgate standards under the "General Standards Rule" (ET sec.
1.310.001) and the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.300.001) of
the AICPA Code of Conduct with respect to unaudited financial statements or
other unaudited financial information of an entity that is not required to file
financial statements with a regulatory agency in connection with the sale or
trading of its securities in a public market. The "Compliance With Standards
Rule" requires an AICPA member who performs engagements to prepare finan-
cial statements, compilations or reviews to comply with standards promulgated
by the ARSC. Pursuant to paragraph .15 of AR-C section 60, General Principles
for Engagements Performed in Accordance With Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services, an accountant must comply with an uncondi-
tional requirement in all cases in which the circumstances exist to which the
unconditional requirement is relevant. SSARSs use the word "must" to indicate
an unconditional requirement. Paragraph .15 of AR-C section 60 further states
that an accountant must comply with a presumptively mandatory requirement
in all cases in which such a requirement is relevant, except in rare circum-
stances. SSARSs use the word "should" to indicate a presumptively mandatory
requirement.

Paragraph .06 of AR-C section 60 defines interpretative publications as
interpretations of SSARSSs; exhibits to SSARSs; the AICPA Guide, Compi-
lation and Review Engagements, guidance on reviews, compilations, and en-
gagements to prepare financial statements included in AICPA Audit and Ac-
counting Guides; and AICPA Statements of Position, to the extent that those
statements are applicable to such engagements. Interpretative publications are
not SSARSs. Interpretative publications are recommendations on the applica-
tion of SSARSs in specific circumstances, including engagements for entities in
specialized industries. An interpretative publications is issued under the au-
thority of the ARSC after all ARSC members have been provided an opportunity
to consider and comment on whether the proposed interpretative publication
is consistent with SSARSs. Pursuant to paragraph .17 of AR-C section 60, the
accountant is required to consider applicable interpretative publications in the
performance of an engagement in accordance with SSARSs.

ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW

SERVICES COMMITTEE

Mike Fleming, Chair

Michael P. Glynn, Senior Technical Manager—
Audit and Attest Standards
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How This Publication Is Organized

HOW THIS PUBLICATION IS ORGANIZED

The AR-C sections include clarified accounting and review services standards
issued by SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services: Clarification and Recodification. These sections are arranged as fol-
lows:

AR-C Cross-References to SSARS
AR-C Introduction

General Principles for Engagements Performed in Accordance
With Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services

Preparation of Financial Statements
Compilation Engagements

Review of Financial Statements
Appendixes

AR-C Topical Index

The AR-C Cross-References to SSARSs lists all issued SSARSs and the
sources of sections created by SSARS No. 21 in the current text.

The AR-C Introduction describes the May 2010 ARSC project to revise and
clarify all existing compilation and review standards in the Codification of
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

Accounting and review services interpretations are numbered in the 9000
series with the last two digits indicating the section to which the interpretation
relates. Interpretations immediately follow their corresponding section. For ex-
ample, interpretations related to section 90 are numbered 9090, which directly
follows section 90.

The standards are divided into sections, each with its own section number.
Each paragraph within a section is decimally numbered.

The AR-C appendixes are currently reserved.

The AR-C topical index uses the keyword method to facilitate reference to
the pronouncements. The index is arranged alphabetically by topic and refers
to major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.

©2017, AICPA






AR-C Cross-References to SSARSs

AR-C Cross-References to SSARSs

Part |—Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services and Sources of Sections in Current Text

Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services’

No. Date Issued Title AR-C Section

21 Oct. 2014 Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review
Services: Clarification and

Recodification!

22 Sept. 2016 Compilation of Pro Forma 120
Financial Information

23 Oct. 2016 Omnibus Statement on

Standards for Accounting and
Review Services—20162

Sources of Sections in Current Text

AR-C
Section Contents Source
60 General Principles for Engagements SSARS No. 21
Performed in Accordance With Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review
Services
70 Preparation of Financial Statements SSARS No. 21
80 Compilation Engagements SSARS No. 21
90 Review of Financial Statements SSARS No. 21
120 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial SSARS No. 22
Information

* This table lists Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) issued
subsequent to SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clarifi-
cation and Recodification, which was issued in October 2014. Refer to part II, "List of Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services Nos. 1-20," of this section for SSARSs issued prior to
SSARS No. 21.

1 SSARS No. 21 created various sections throughout Accounting and Review Services (Clarified).
See the following section, "Sources of Sections in Current Text," for a full list.

2 SSARS No. 23 has been integrated within sections 60.01, 60.03-.04, 60.07, 60.17, 60.26, 60.A4,
60.A12, 60.A21, 60.A26, 60.A33, 60.A38, 70.01, 70.10, 70.14, 70.19, 70.A1-.A3, 70.A9, 80.01, 80.10,
80.24-.25, 80.29-.30, 80.A1-.A4, 80.A14, 90.01, 90.05, 90.11-.12, 90.39g, 90.81-.83,90.A1, 90.A11-.A12,
90.A20, and 90.A132-.A134.

©2017, AICPA



AR-C Cross-References to SSARSs

Part Il —List of Statements on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services Nos. 1-20

No. Date Issued Title

1 Dec. 1978 Compilation and Review of Financial Statements

2 Oct. 1979 Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements

3 Dec. 1981 Compilation Reports on Financial Statements
Included in Certain Prescribed Forms

4 Dec. 1981 Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Accountants

5 July 1982 Reporting on Compiled Financial Statements

6 Sept. 1986 Reporting on Personal Financial Statements
Included in Written Personal Financial Plans

7 Nov. 1992 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services—1992

8 Oct. 2000 Amendment to Statement on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services No. 1,
Compilation and Review of Financial Statements

9 Nov. 2002 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services—2002

10 May 2004 Performance of Review Engagements

11 May 2004 Standards for Accounting and Review Services

12 July 2005 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services—2005

13 July 2005 Compilation of Specified Elements, Accounts, or
Items of a Financial Statement

14 July 2005 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information

15 July 2007 Elimination of Certain References to Statements
on Auditing Standards and Incorporation of
Appropriate Guidance Into Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services

16 Dec. 2007 Defining Professional Requirements in Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

17 Feb. 2008 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services—2008

18 Feb. 2009 Applicability of Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services

19 Dec. 2009 Compilation and Review Engagements

20 Feb. 2011 Revised Applicability of Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services

©2017, AICPA
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Foreword

AR-C Introduction
Foreword

Clarified Statements on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services

In October 2011, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) reached a major mile-
stone in its project to redraft all the auditing sections in the Codification of
Statements on Auditing Standards (contained in AICPA Professional Stan-
dards), with the release of Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) Nos. 122—
124. The clarified auditing standards are designed to make the standards easier
to read, understand, and apply.

The Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC) concluded that by un-
dertaking a similar clarity project, it would serve the public interest and have
all professional literature for audits, reviews, and compilations drafted using
the same conventions. In addition, the resulting clarified compilation and re-
view standards would be easier to read, understand, and apply.

In May 2010, ARSC approved a project to revise all existing compilation and
review standards in the Codification of Statements on Standards for Account-
ing and Review Services (AR sections of AICPA Professional Standards) sub-
stantially using the drafting conventions adopted by the ASB in clarifying the
auditing literature.

ARSC determined, however, that there would be certain differences between its
clarity drafting conventions and those adopted by the ASB. Specifically, ARSC
determined to not include specific application guidance with respect to gov-
ernmental entities and smaller, less complex entities. Accordingly, the clarified
SSARSs have been drafted in accordance with ARSC's clarity drafting conven-
tions, which include the following:

® [Establish objectives for each clarified AR-C section

® Include a Definitions section, where relevant, in each clarified
AR-C section

® Separate requirements from application and other explanatory
material

® Number application and other explanatory material paragraphs
using an A- prefix and present them in a separate section that
follows the Requirements section

® Use formatting techniques, such as bullet lists, to enhance read-
ability

Convergence

Whereas the ASB used, where applicable, the corresponding International
Standards on Auditing (ISA) as a base when drafting each clarified auditing
standard, ARSC has used AU-C section 930, Interim Financial Information, as
a base for the clarified review literature. AU-C section 930 was clarified us-
ing the corresponding international standard for reviews of interim financial
statements as a base (International Standard on Review Engagements [ISRE]
2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent

©2017, AICPA



AR-C Introduction

Auditor of the Entity), and there are no substantive differences between AU-C
section 930 and ISRE 2410. ARSC determined that it was more appropriate
to converge with the corresponding limited assurance engagement guidance in
the American auditing literature than with ISRE 2400 (Revised), Engagements
to Review Historical Financial Statements.

Although ARSC has considered International Standard on Related Services
(ISRS) 4410, Engagements to Compile Financial Statements, and has adopted
certain of the requirements, section 80, Compilation Engagements, has not been
fully harmonized with ISRS 4410 because some of the underlying premises
(for example, the requirement to determine independence) are different in the
United States of America.

SSARS No. 21

Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) No. 21
supersedes all outstanding SSARSs through No. 20, except SSARS No. 14, Com-
pilation of Pro Forma Financial Information, as amended (AR sec. 120). SSARS
No. 14 is currently being redrafted and will be issued as a separate SSARS when
finalized.

All compilation and review interpretations of the SSARS have been considered
in the development of the clarified SSARS and either been incorporated accord-
ingly or will be considered for inclusion in the 2015 edition of the AICPA Guide
Review, Compilation, and Financial Statement Preparation Engagements.

SSARS No. 21 is a standalone standard and does not represent the Codification
of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

Effective Date

Section 60 is effective for engagements performed in accordance with SSARSs
for periods ending on or after December 15, 2015.

Section 70 is effective for engagements to prepare financial statements for pe-
riods ending on or after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indicated.

Section 80 is effective for compilations of financial statements for periods end-
ing on or after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indicated.

Section 90 is effective for reviews of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2015.

Section 120 is effective for compilation reports on pro forma financial informa-
tion dated on or after May 1, 2017.

Early implementation is permitted for all sections.

©2017, AICPA



Glossary of Terms 9

AR-C Glossary
Glossary of Terms

Analytical procedures. Evaluations of financial information through analy-
sis of plausible relationships among both financial and nonfinancial data.
Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation, as is necessary,
of identified fluctuations or relationships that are inconsistent with other
relevant information or that differ from expected values by a significant
amount.

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting frame-
work adopted by management and, when appropriate, those charged with
governance, in the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the objective
of the financial statements or that is required by law or regulation.

Basic financial statements. Financial statements excluding supplementary
information and required supplementary information.

Comparative financial statements. A complete set of financial statements
for one or more prior periods included for comparison with the financial
statements of the current period.

Designated accounting standard-setter. A body designated by the Council
of the AICPA to promulgate accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America pursuant to the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the "Accounting Principles Rule" (ET sec.
1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

Emphasis-of-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the accountant's
compilation or review report that is required by Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSSs), or is included at the ac-
countant's discretion, and that refers to a matter appropriately presented
or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant's profes-
sional judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to the users'
understanding of the financial statements.

Engagement partner. The partner or other person in the firm who is re-
sponsible for the engagement and its performance and for the report that
is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has the appropriate
authority from a professional, legal, or regulatory body.

Engagement team. All partners and staff performing the engagement and
any individuals engaged by the firm or a network firm who perform proce-
dures on the engagement.

Error. Mistakes in the financial statements, including arithmetical or clerical
mistakes, and mistakes in the application of accounting principles, includ-
ing inadequate disclosures.

1 This term is also defined in paragraph .13 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Con-
trol, for purposes of the Statements on Quality Control Standards. Refer to QC section 10 for specific
language.

©2017, AICPA AR-C GLO



10 AR-C Introduction

Experienced accountant. An individual (whether internal or external to the
firm) who has practical review experience and a reasonable understanding
of

a. review processes;
SSARSs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
c¢. the business environment in which the entity operates; and

d. review and financial reporting issues relevant to the entity's
industry.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine mea-
surement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material items
appearing in the financial statements (for example, accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America [U.S. GAAP], Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board, or a special purpose framework).

Financial statements. A structured representation of historical financial in-
formation, including related notes, intended to communicate an entity's
economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the changes
therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial reporting frame-
work. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary of significant ac-
counting policies and other explanatory information. The term financial
statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as de-
termined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting frame-
work but can also refer to a single financial statement.

Firm. A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose characteris-
tics conform to resolutions of the Council of the AICPA and that is engaged
in the practice of public accounting.

Fraud. An intentional act that results in a misstatement in financial state-
ments.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). References to gener-
ally accepted accounting principles in SSARSs means generally accepted
accounting principles promulgated by bodies designated by the Council of
the AICPA pursuant to the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec.
1.310.001) and the "Accounting Principles Rule" (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

Historical financial information. Information expressed in financial terms
regarding a particular entity, derived primarily from that entity's account-
ing system, about economic events occurring in past time periods or about
economic conditions or circumstances at points in time in the past.

Interpretive publications. Interpretations of SSARSSs; exhibits to SSARSS;
AICPA Guide Preparation, Compilation, and Review Engagements, guid-
ance on preparation, compilation, and review engagements included in
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides; and AICPA Statements of Position,
to the extent that those statements are applicable to such engagements.

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of
the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes some or
all of those charged with governance (for example, executive members of a
governance board or an owner-manager).

AR-C GLO ©2017, AICPA



Glossary of Terms 11

Misstatement. A difference between the amount, classification, presentation,
or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the amount, clas-
sification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be
presented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error.

Misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifications,
presentations, or disclosures that, in the accountant's professional judg-
ment, are necessary for the financial statements to be presented fairly, in
all material respects.

Noncompliance. Acts of omission or commission by the entity, either inten-
tional or unintentional, which are contrary to the prevailing laws or reg-
ulations. Such acts include transactions entered into, by, or in the name
of, the entity or on its behalf by those charged with governance, manage-
ment, or employees. Noncompliance does not include personal misconduct
(unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by those charged with
governance, management, or employees of the entity.

Other-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the accountant's compi-
lation or review report that is required by SSARSSs, or is included at the
accountant's discretion, and that refers to a matter other than those pre-
sented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant's pro-
fessional judgment, is relevant to users' understanding of the compilation
or review, the accountant's responsibilities, or the accountant's compilation
or review report.

Other preparation, compilation and review publications. Publications
other than interpretive publications.

Professional judgment. The application of relevant training, knowledge, and
experience, within the context provided by SSARSSs, accounting, and ethical
standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that
are appropriate in the circumstances of the preparation, compilation, or
review engagement.

Pro forma financial information. A presentation that shows what the sig-
nificant effects on historical financial information might have been had
a consummated or proposed transaction (or event) occurred at an earlier
date.

Prospective financial information Any financial information about the fu-
ture. The information may be presented as complete financial statements
or limited to one or more elements, items, or accounts.

Report release date. The date the accountant grants the entity permission to
use the accountant's review report in connection with the financial state-
ments.

Required supplementary information. Information that a designated ac-
counting standards-setter requires to accompany an entity's basic financial
statements. Required supplementary information is not part of the basic
financial statements; however, a designated accounting standards-setter
considers the information to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, eco-
nomic, or historical context. In addition, authoritative guidelines for the
methods of measurement and presentation of the information have been
established.

©2017, AICPA AR-C GLO



12 AR-C Introduction

Review documentation. The record of review procedures performed, relevant
review evidence obtained, and conclusions the accountant reached (terms
such as working papers or workpapers are also sometimes used).

Review evidence. Information used by the accountant to provide a reasonable
basis for obtaining limited assurance.

Special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework other than
GAAP that is one of the following bases of accounting:

a. Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record
cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording depreci-
ation on fixed assets).

b. Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its tax
return for the period covered by the financial statements.

c¢. Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to
comply with the requirements or financial reporting provisions
of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject
(for example, a basis of accounting that insurance companies use
pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by
a state insurance commission).

d. Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to
comply with an agreement between the entity and one or more
third parties other than the accountant.

e. Other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of log-
ical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items ap-
pearing in financial statements.

The cash-basis, tax-basis, regulatory-basis, and other-basis of account-
ing are commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of accounting
(OCBOA).

Specified parties. The intended users of the accountant's compilation or re-
view report.

Subsequent events. Events occurring between the date of the financial state-
ments and the date of the accountant's compilation or review report.

Subsequently discovered facts. Facts that become known to the accountant
after the date of the accountant's review report that, had they been known
to the accountant at that date, may have caused the accountant to revise
the accountant's compilation or review report.

Supplementary information. Information presented outside the basic finan-
cial statements, excluding required supplementary information, that is not
considered necessary for the financial statements to be fairly presented in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Such infor-
mation may be presented in a document containing the reviewed financial
statements or separate from the reviewed financial statements.

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for ex-
ample, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the strategic
direction of an entity and the obligations related to the accountability of
the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those
charged with governance may include management personnel (for exam-
ple, executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager).

Updated report. A report issued by a continuing accountant that takes into
consideration information that the accountant becomes aware of during

AR-C GLO ©2017, AICPA



Glossary of Terms 13

the accountant's current engagement and that re-expresses the accoun-
tant's previous conclusions or, depending on the circumstances, expresses
different conclusions on the financial statements of a prior period reviewed
by the accountant as of the date of the accountant's current report.

Written representation. A written statement by management provided to
the accountant to confirm certain matters or to support other review ev-
idence. Written representations in this context do not include financial
statements, the assertions therein, or supporting books and records.

©2017, AICPA AR-C GLO






Table of Contents 15

AR-C Section

STATEMENTS ON STANDARDS FOR
ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW SERVICES
(CLARIFIED)

The following is a Codification of Statements on Standards for Account-
ing and Review Standards (SSARSs) resulting from the Accounting and
Review Services Committee's (ARSC's) project to clarify and revise the
standards for reviews, compilations, and engagements to prepare finan-
cial statements. SSARSs are issued by the ARSC, the senior committee
of the AICPA designated to issue pronouncements in connection with
the unaudited financial statements or other unaudited financial infor-
mation of a nonpublic entity. Council has designated ARSC as a body to
establish technical standards under the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Paragraph
60 General Principles for Engagements Performed in Accordance
With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services .01-.A52
Infroduction ........ooiiii .01-.05
Scope of This Section ..., .01-.04
Effective Date .........ooviiiiiiiiiiii .05
Objective ... .06
Definiions . ....ooe .07
Requirements ... ... .. i .08-.26
Ethical Requirements ............ccooiiiiii... .08
Professional Judgment ...............ccoviiiiiiii... .09
Conduct of the Engagement in Accordance
With SSARSS ..o .10-19
Engagement Level Quality Control .................... .20-.24
Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Engagements ............c.iiiiiiiiiii .25-26
Application and Other Explanatory Material ................ AT-A51
Financial Statements ................ ... [[A1-A3]
Scope of This Section ..........coviiiiiiiiiinans Ad-A11
Definition ... A12
Ethical Requirements .............cooiviiiiiiiiii... Al13-Al16
Professional Judgment .............. ... Al17-A21
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General Principles for Engagements 23

AR-C Section 60

General Principles for Engagements
Performed in Accordance With Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services

Source: SSARS No. 21; SSARS No. 23.

Effective for engagements performed in accordance with SSARSs for
periods ending on or after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indi-
cated.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section provides general principles for engagements performed in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
(SSARSSs) issued by the Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC)
and codified into AR-C sections. This section also sets forth the meaning of cer-
tain terms used in SSARSs when describing the professional requirements im-
posed on accountants performing an engagement in accordance with SSARSs.
[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.02 This section is intended to help accountants better understand their
professional responsibilities when performing an engagement in accordance
with SSARSs. Additional sections have been established to set forth specific per-
formance and reporting requirements. Such additional requirements are based
on the general principles provided by this section, and any requirements cre-
ated by this section also have been incorporated into the additional sections.

.03 SSARSSs do not address the responsibilities of the accountant that may
exist in legislation, regulation, or otherwise. Such responsibilities may differ
from those established in SSARSs. Accordingly, although the accountant may
find aspects of SSARSs helpful in such circumstances, it is the responsibility
of the accountant to ensure compliance with all relevant legal, regulatory, or
professional obligations. [As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No.
23.]

.04 The financial statements subject to the engagement performed in ac-
cordance with SSARSs are those of the entity. SSARSs do not impose respon-
sibilities on management and do not override laws and regulations that gov-
ern their responsibilities. (Ref: par. .A4—.A11) [Paragraph renumbered and
amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Effective Date

.05 This section is effective for engagements performed in accordance with
SSARSs for periods ending on or after December 15, 2015. Early implementa-
tion is permitted. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

©2017, AICPA AR-C §60.05



24 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

Obijective

.06 The objective of the accountant is to obtain an understanding of the
general principles for engagements performed in accordance with SSARSs.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Definitions

.07 For purposes of SSARSs, the following terms have the meanings at-
tributed as follows:

Engagement partner.! The partner or other person in the firm who is
responsible for the engagement and its performance and for the report
that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has the
appropriate authority from a professional, legal, or regulatory body.

Engagement team. All partners and staff performing the engagement
and any individuals engaged by the firm or a network firm who per-
form procedures on the engagement.

Financial statements. A structured representation of historical finan-
cial information, including related notes, intended to communicate an
entity's economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the
changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial re-
porting framework. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The term financial statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of
financial statements as determined by the requirements of the appli-
cable financial reporting framework but can also refer to a single fi-
nancial statement.

Firm. A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose char-
acteristics conform to resolutions of the Council of the AICPA and that
is engaged in the practice of public accounting.

Interpretive publications. Interpretations of SSARSs; exhibits to
SSARSs; AICPA Guide Preparation, Compilation, and Review Engage-
ments,” guidance on preparation, compilation, and review engage-
ments included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides; and AICPA
Statements of Position, to the extent that those statements are appli-
cable to such engagements.

Other preparation, compilation and review publications. Publica-
tions other than interpretive publications. (Ref: par. .A12)

Professional judgment. The application of relevant training, knowledge,
and experience, within the context provided by SSARSSs, accounting,
and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses
of action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the preparation,
compilation, or review engagement.

Prospective financial information Any financial information about the
future. The information may be presented as complete financial state-
ments or limited to one or more elements, items, or accounts.

1 This term is also defined in paragraph .13 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Con-
trol, for purposes of the Statements on Quality Control Standards. Refer to QC section 10 for specific
language.

121 [Footnote deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS
No. 23.]

Requirements

Ethical Requirements

.08 The accountant should comply with relevant ethical requirements.
(Ref: par. .A13-.A16)

Professional Judgment

.09 The accountant should exercise professional judgment in the perfor-
mance of an engagement in accordance with SSARSs. (Ref: par. .A17-.A21)

Conduct of the Engagement in Accordance With SSARSs

.10 The accountant must perform a review, compilation, or an engagement
to prepare financial statements in accordance with SSARSSs, except for certain
reviews of interim financial information as discussed in section 90, Review of
Financial Statements.3

Complying With AR-C Sections Relevant to the Engagement

.11 The accountant should comply with all AR-C sections relevant to the
engagement. An AR-C section is relevant to the engagement when the AR-C
section is in effect, and the circumstances addressed by the AR-C section exist.
(Ref: par. .A22—.A27)

.12 The accountant should have an understanding of the entire text of an
AR-C section, including its application and other explanatory material, to un-
derstand its objectives and apply its requirements properly. (Ref: par. .A28—
A32)

.13 An accountant should not represent compliance with SSARSs in the
accountant's compilation or review report unless the accountant has complied
with the requirements of this section and all other AR-C sections relevant to
the engagement.

Complying With Relevant Requirements

.14 Subject to paragraph .16, the accountant should comply with each re-
quirement of the relevant AR-C section unless, in the circumstances of the en-
gagement, the requirement is not relevant because it is conditional, and the
condition does not exist. (Ref: par. .A33)

Defining Professional Responsibilities in SSARSs

.15 SSARSSs use the following two categories of professional requirements,
identified by specific terms, to describe the degree of responsibility they impose
on accountants:

®  Unconditional requirements. The accountant must comply with an
unconditional requirement in all cases in which such requirement
is relevant. SSARSs use the word "must" to indicate an uncondi-
tional requirement.

3 Paragraph .02 of section 90, Review of Financial Statements.
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®  Presumptively mandatory requirements. The accountant must
comply with a presumptively mandatory requirement in all cases
in which such a requirement is relevant, except in rare circum-
stances discussed in paragraph .16. SSARSs use the word "should"
to indicate a presumptively mandatory requirement. (Ref: par.
.A34)

.16 In rare circumstances, the accountant may judge it necessary to de-
part from a relevant presumptively mandatory requirement. In such circum-
stances, the accountant should perform alternative procedures to achieve the
intent of the requirement. The need for an accountant to depart from a rel-
evant, presumptively mandatory requirement is expected to arise only when
the requirement is for a specific procedure to be performed and, in the spe-
cific circumstances of the engagement, that procedure would be ineffective in
achieving the intent of the requirement.

.17 If, in rare circumstances, the accountant judges it necessary to depart
from a relevant presumptively mandatory requirement, the accountant must
document the justification for the departure and how the alternative proce-
dures performed in the circumstances were sufficient to achieve the intent of
that requirement. [Paragraph added, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Interpretive Publications

.18 The accountant should consider applicable interpretive publications in
the performance of an engagement in accordance with SSARSs. (Ref: par. .A35)
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Other Preparation, Compilation and Review Publications

.19 In applying the guidance included in an other preparation, compilation
and review publication, the accountant should, exercising professional judg-
ment, assess the relevance and appropriateness of such guidance to the cir-
cumstances of the engagement. (Ref: par. .A36—.A38) [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Engagement Level Quality Control

.20 In an engagement performed in accordance with SSARSs, the engage-
ment partner should possess the competence and capabilities to perform the
engagement and competence in financial reporting, appropriate to the engage-
ment circumstances. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

.21 In an engagement performed in accordance with SSARSSs, the engage-
ment partner should take responsibility for the following: (Ref: par. .A39-.A42)
a. The overall quality of each engagement to which that partner is
assigned
b. The direction, supervision, planning and performance of the en-
gagement in compliance with professional standards and appli-
cable legal and regulatory requirements (Ref: par. .A43)
c¢. The accountant's report being appropriate in the circumstances
d. The engagement being performed in accordance with the firm's
quality control policies and procedures, including the following:
i. Being satisfied that appropriate procedures regarding the
acceptance and continuance of client relationships and
engagements have been followed, and that conclusions
reached are appropriate, including considering whether

AR-C §60.16 ©2017, AICPA
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there is information that would lead the engagement part-
ner to conclude that management lacks integrity (Ref: par.
A44— A45)

ii. Being satisfied that the engagement team collectively has
the appropriate competence and capabilities to perform
the engagement and expertise in financial reporting to

(1) perform the engagement in accordance with pro-
fessional standards and applicable legal and reg-
ulatory requirements and

(2) enable a report that is appropriate in the circum-
stances to be issued, if applicable
iii. Taking responsibility for appropriate engagement docu-
mentation being maintained.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Relevant Considerations After Engagement Acceptance

.22 Ifthe engagement partner obtains information that would have caused
the firm to decline the engagement had that information been available earlier,
the engagement partner should communicate that information promptly to the
firm, so that the firm and the engagement partner can take the necessary ac-
tion. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Compliance With Relevant Ethical Requirements

.23 Throughout the engagement, the engagement partner should remain
alert, through observation and making inquiries as necessary, for evidence of
noncompliance with relevant ethical requirements by members of the engage-
ment team. If matters come to the engagement partner's attention through the
firm's system of quality control or otherwise that indicate that members of the
engagement team have not complied with relevant ethical requirements, the
engagement partner, in consultation with others in the firm, should determine
the appropriate action. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

Monitoring

.24 An effective system of quality control for a firm includes a monitoring
process designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that the firm's
policies and procedures relating to the system of quality control are relevant,
adequate, and operating effectively. The engagement partner should consider
the results of the firm's monitoring process as evidenced in the latest informa-
tion circulated by the firm and, if applicable, other network firms and whether
deficiencies noted in that information may affect the engagement. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Engagements

.25 The accountant should not accept an engagement to be performed in
accordance with SSARSs if (Ref: par. .A46)

a. theaccountant has reason to believe that relevant ethical require-
ments will not be satisfied; (Ref: par. .A47)

b. the accountant's preliminary understanding of the engagement
circumstances indicates that information needed to perform the
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engagement is likely to be unavailable or unreliable; or (Ref: par.

.A48)

c. the accountant has cause to doubt management's integrity such
that it is likely to affect the performance of the engagement.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.26 As a precondition for accepting an engagement to be performed in ac-
cordance with SSARSS, the accountant should

a. determine whether preliminary knowledge of the engagement cir-
cumstances indicate that ethical requirements regarding profes-
sional competence will be satisfied.

b. determine whether the financial reporting framework selected
by management to be applied in the preparation of the financial
statements is acceptable. (Ref: par. .A49)

c. obtain the agreement of management that it acknowledges and
understands its responsibility (Ref: par. .A50)

1.

ii.

iii.

iv.

Vi.

for the selection of the financial reporting framework to be
applied in the preparation of financial statements.

for the design, implementation, and maintenance of inter-
nal control relevant to the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, unless the ac-
countant decides to accept responsibility for such internal
control.

for preventing and detecting fraud.

for ensuring that the entity complies with laws and regu-
lations applicable to its activities.

for the accuracy and completeness of the records, doc-
uments, explanations, and other information, including
significant judgments provided by management for the
preparation of financial statements.

to provide the accountant with (Ref: par. .A51)

(1) access to all information of which management is
aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements, such as
records, documentation, and other matters.

(2) additional information that the accountant may
request from management for the purpose of the
engagement.

(3) unrestricted access to persons within the entity of
whom the accountant determines it necessary to
make inquiries.

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS

No. 23]

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Financial Statements
[.A1-.A3] [Paragraphs deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October

2016.]

AR-C §60.26
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Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01 and .04)

.A4 Ifthe accountant is engaged to perform a professional service in accor-
dance with SSARSs on financial information other than financial statements
(for example, the preparation or compilation of prospective financial informa-
tion or the compilation of pro forma financial information), references in this
section to financial statements are to be taken as references to such other fi-
nancial information. [Paragraph added, effective October 2016, by SSARS No.
23.]

A5 The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements re-
quire

® the identification of the applicable financial reporting framework,
in the context of any relevant laws or regulations.

® the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with that framework.

® the inclusion of an adequate description of that framework in the
financial statements.

The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements require man-
agement to exercise judgment when making accounting estimates that are rea-
sonable in the circumstances as well as when selecting and applying appropri-
ate accounting policies. These judgments are made in the context of the appli-
cable financial reporting framework. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A6 The financial statements may be prepared in accordance with one of
the following:

® A general purpose framework (a financial reporting framework
designed to meet the common financial information needs of a
wide range of users)

® A special purpose framework
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A7 The applicable financial reporting framework often encompasses fi-
nancial accounting standards promulgated by an authorized or recognized
standards-setting organization or legislative or regulatory requirements. In
some cases, the financial reporting framework may encompass both financial
accounting standards promulgated by an authorized or recognized standards-
setting organization and legislative or regulatory requirements. Other sources
may provide direction on the application of the applicable financial reporting
framework. In some cases, the applicable financial reporting framework may
encompass such other sources or may even consist only of such sources. Such
other sources may include the following:

® The legal and ethical environment, including statutes, regula-
tions, court decisions, and professional ethical obligations regard-
ing accounting matters

® Published accounting interpretations of varying authority issued
by standards-setting, professional, or regulatory organizations

® Published views of varying authority on emerging accounting is-
sues issued by standards-setting, professional, or regulatory orga-
nizations

®  General and industry practices widely recognized and prevalent

®  Accounting literature

©2017, AICPA AR-C §60.
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When conflicts exist between the financial reporting framework and the sources
from which direction on its application may be obtained or among the sources
that encompass the financial reporting framework, the source with the highest
authority prevails. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

.A8 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework de-
termine the form and content of the financial statements. Although the frame-
work may not specify how to account for or disclose all transactions or events,
it ordinarily embodies sufficiently broad principles that can serve as a basis for
developing and applying accounting policies that are consistent with the con-
cepts underlying the requirements of the framework. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A9 The financial accounting standards promulgated by organizations
that are authorized or recognized to promulgate standards to be used by en-
tities for preparing financial statements in accordance with a general purpose
framework include the FASB Accounting Standards Codification®; Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board; Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Standards, is-
sued by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board for U.S. federal gov-
ernment entities; and Statements of the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board for U.S. state
and local governmental entities. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A10 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework
also determine what constitutes a complete set of financial statements. In the
case of many frameworks, financial statements are intended to provide infor-
mation about the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of an
entity. For example, a complete set of financial statements might include a bal-
ance sheet, an income statement, a statement of changes in equity, a cash flow
statement, and related notes. For some other financial reporting frameworks,
a single financial statement and the related notes might constitute a complete
set of financial statements. Examples of a single financial statement, each of
which would include related notes, include the following:

® Balance sheet

Statement of income or statement of operations
Statement of retained earnings

Statement of cash flows

Statement of assets and liabilities

Statement of changes in owners' equity

Statement of revenue and expenses

Statement of operations by product lines
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.All An accountant may be engaged to prepare or perform a compilation
or review engagement on a complete set of financial statements or an individ-
ual financial statement (for example, balance sheet only). The financial state-
ments may be for an annual period or for a shorter or longer period, depending
on management's needs. However, it is likely not appropriate for the entity to
present financial statements for a period longer or shorter than an annual pe-
riod in a comparative presentation with financial statements for an annual pe-
riod. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Definitions (Ref: par. .07)
.A12 Other preparation, compilation, and review publications include

® AICPA preparation, compilation, and review publications not de-
fined as interpretive publications;

® AICPA's annual alert addressing engagements performed in ac-
cordance with SSARSS;

® articles addressing preparation, compilation, and review engage-
ments in the Journal of Accountancy and other professional jour-
nals;

® continuing professional education programs and other instruction
materials,

® textbooks, guide books, programs for preparation, compilation,
and review engagements

® checklists; and

® other publications addressing preparation, compilation, and re-
view engagements from state CPA societies, other organizations,
and individuals.

[Paragraph added, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Ethical Requirements (Ref: par. .08)

.A13 The accountant is subject to relevant ethical requirements relating
to engagements performed in accordance with SSARSs. Ethical requirements
consist of those contained in the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, together
with rules of state boards of accountancy and applicable regulatory agencies
that are more restrictive. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.A14 The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct establishes the fundamen-
tal principles of professional ethics, which include the following:

Responsibilities

The public interest

Integrity

Objectivity and independence
Due care

Scope and nature of services
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A15 Due care requires the accountant to discharge professional responsi-
bilities with competence and have the appropriate capabilities to perform the
engagement and enable an appropriate accountant's report to be issued, if ap-
plicable. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

A16 QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control, sets out the firm's
responsibilities to establish and maintain its system of quality control for en-
gagements performed in accordance with SSARSs and establish policies and
procedures designed to provide it with reasonable assurance that the firm
and its personnel comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those
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pertaining to independence.* [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

Professional Judgment (Ref: par. .09)

.A17 Professional judgment is essential to the proper conduct of an en-
gagement in accordance with SSARSs because interpretation of relevant ethi-
cal requirements and SSARSs and the informed decisions required throughout
the engagement cannot be made without the application of relevant knowledge
and experience to the facts and circumstances. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A18 The distinguishing feature of the professional judgment expected of
the accountant is that it is exercised by an accountant whose training, knowl-
edge, and experience have assisted in developing the necessary competencies
to achieve reasonable judgments and make informed decisions about appro-
priate courses of action when undertaking an engagement in accordance with
SSARSSs. Consultation on difficult or contentious matters during the course
of the engagement, both within the engagement team and between the en-
gagement team and others at the appropriate level within or outside the firm,
assists the accountant in making informed and reasonable judgments. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A19 The exercise of professional judgment in individual engagements
is based on the facts and circumstances that are known by the accountant
throughout the engagement, including

® knowledge acquired from engagements carried out for the entity's
financial statements in prior periods, where applicable.

® the accountant's understanding of the entity and its environment,
including its accounting system, and the application of the appli-
cable financial reporting framework in the entity's industry.

® the extent to which the preparation and presentation of the finan-
cial statements requires the exercise of judgment by management
or the accountant, if applicable.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A20 Professional judgment can be evaluated based on whether the judg-
ment reached reflects a competent application of SSARSs and accounting prin-
ciples and is appropriate in light of, and consistent with, the facts and circum-
stances that were known to the accountant up to the date of the issuance of
financial statements prepared by the accountant or the date of the accountant's
compilation or review report. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.A21 Professional judgment needs to be exercised throughout the engage-
ment performed in accordance with SSARSs. It also needs to be appropriately
documented in accordance with the requirements of the applicable AR-C sec-
tion. Professional judgment is not to be used as the justification for decisions
that are not otherwise supported by the facts and circumstances of the engage-
ment or, in a review engagement, the evidence obtained. [Paragraph renum-
bered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

4 Paragraphs .21-.25 of QC section 10.
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Conduct of an Engagement in Accordance With SSARSs

Complying With AR-C Sections Relevant to the Engagement
(Ref: par. .11-.12)

A22 ARSC is designated to promulgate standards under the "General
Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.300.001) and the "Compliance With Standards Rule"
(ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct® with respect to
unaudited financial statements or other unaudited financial information of an
entity that is not required to file financial statements with a regulatory agency
in connection with the sale or trading of its securities in a public market. ARSC
develops and issues standards in the form of SSARSs through a process that in-
cludes deliberation in meetings open to the public, public exposure of proposed
SSARSSs, and a formal vote. SSARSs are codified in AR-C sections in AICPA
Professional Standards. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A23 SSARSs provide the standards used for fulfilling the overall objec-
tives of the accountant's work. SSARSs address the general responsibilities of
the accountant as well as the accountant's further considerations relevant to

the application of those responsibilities to specific topics. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A24 The scope, effective date, and any specific limitation of the applicabil-
ity of a specific AR-C section are made clear in the AR-C section. Unless other-
wise stated in the AR-C section, the accountant is permitted to apply an AR-C
section before the effective date specified therein. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A25 In certain engagements, the accountant also may be required to com-
ply with other requirements in addition to SSARSs. SSARSs do not override
law or regulation that governs a review, compilation, or an engagement to pre-
pare financial statements. In the event that such law or regulation differs from
SSARSSs, an engagement conducted only in accordance with law or regulation
will not necessarily comply with SSARSs. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A26 The accountant may also conduct the compilation or review of finan-
cial statements in accordance with both SSARSs and

® International Standard on Related Services 4410 (Revised), Com-
pilation Engagements,

® International Standard on Review Engagements 2400 (Revised),
Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements, or

® compilation or review standards of a specific jurisdiction or coun-
try.

In such cases, in addition to complying with each of the AR-C sections relevant
to the engagement, it may be necessary for the accountant to perform additional
compilation or review procedures in order to comply with the other compilation
or review standards. [Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October
2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

5 AICPA's Professional Ethics Executive Committee has restructured the Code of Professional
Conduct. References in this standard are to the revised code, which is effective December 15, 2014. It
is available at http://pub.aicpa.org/codeofconduct.
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A27 SSARSs are relevant to engagements to prepare financial statements
and compilations and reviews of financial statements of governmental entities.
The accountant's responsibilities, however, may be affected by law, regulation,
or other authority (such as government policy requirements or resolutions of
the legislature), which may encompass a broader scope than an engagement in
accordance with SSARSs. These additional responsibilities are not dealt with
in SSARSs. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A28 In addition to objectives and requirements, an AR-C section contains
related guidance in the form of application and other explanatory material.
It may also contain introductory material that provides context relevant to a
proper understanding of the AR-C section and definitions. The entire text of an
AR-C section, therefore, is relevant to an understanding of the objectives stated
in an AR-C section and the proper application of the requirements of an AR-
C section. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A29 When necessary, the application and other explanatory material pro-
vides further explanation of the requirements of an AR-C section and guidance
for carrying them out. In particular, it may

® explain more precisely what a requirement means or is intended
to cover.

® include examples of procedures that may be appropriate in the
circumstances.

Although such guidance does not, in itself, impose a requirement, it is rele-
vant to the proper application of the requirements of an AR-C section. The ac-
countant is required by paragraph .12 to understand the application and other
explanatory material; how the accountant applies the guidance in the engage-
ment depends on the exercise of professional judgment in the circumstances
consistent with the objective of the AR-C section. The words "may," "might,"
and "could" are used to describe these actions and procedures. The application
and other explanatory material may also provide background information on
matters addressed in an AR-C section. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A30 Appendixes form part of the application and other explanatory ma-
terial. The purpose and intended use of an appendix are explained in the body

of the related AR-C section or within the title and introduction of the appendix
itself. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A31 Introductory material may include, as needed, such matters as ex-
planation of the following:

® The purpose and scope of the AR-C section, including how the AR-
C section relates to other AR-C sections

® The subject matter of the AR-C section

® The respective responsibilities of the accountant and others in re-
lation to the subject matter of the AR-C section

® The context in which the AR-C section is set
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A32 An AR-C section may include, in a separate section under the head-
ing "Definitions," a description of the meanings attributed to certain terms for
purposes of SSARSs. These are provided to assist in the consistent application
and interpretation of SSARSs and are not intended to override definitions that
may be established for other purposes, whether in law, regulation, or otherwise.
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Unless otherwise indicated, those terms will carry the same meanings through-
out SSARSs. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Complying With Relevant Requirements (Ref: par. .14)

.A33 In some cases, a requirement may be expressed as being conditional
on applicable law or regulation. For example, the accountant may be required to
withdraw from the engagement when withdrawal is possible under applicable
law or regulation, or the accountant may be required to perform a certain action,
unless prohibited by law or regulation. [Paragraph renumbered and amended,
effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Defining Professional Responsibilities in SSARSs (Ref: par. .15)

.A34 If an AR-C section provides that a procedure or action is one that
the accountant "should consider," consideration of the procedure or action is
presumptively required. Whether the accountant performs the procedure or
action is based upon the outcome of the accountant's consideration and the
accountant's professional judgment. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Interpretive Publications (Ref: par. .18)

.A35 Interpretive publications are not SSARSs. Interpretive publications
are recommendations on the application of SSARSSs in specific circumstances,
including engagements for entities in specialized industries. An interpretive
publication is issued under the authority of ARSC only after all ARSC mem-
bers have been provided an opportunity to consider and comment on whether
the proposed interpretive publication is consistent with SSARSs. Compilation
and review interpretations of SSARSs and exhibits to SSARSs are included in
the AR-C sections. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Other Preparation, Compilation and Review Publications (Ref: par. .19)

.A36 Other preparation, compilation and review publications have no au-
thoritative status; however, they may help the accountant understand and ap-
ply SSARSSs. The accountant is not expected to be aware of the full body of other
preparation, compilation and review publications. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A37 Although the accountant determines the relevance of these publica-
tions in accordance with paragraph .19, the accountant may presume that other
preparation, compilation and review publications published by the AICPA that
have been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff are ap-
propriate. These other preparation, compilation and review publications are
listed in the exhibit, "Other Preparation, Compilation and Review Publica-
tions." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A38 When determining whether an other preparation, compilation and
review publication that has not been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest
Standards staff is appropriate to the circumstances of the engagement, the ac-
countant may wish to consider the degree to which the publication is recog-
nized as being helpful in understanding and applying SSARSs and the degree
to which the publisher or author is recognized as an authority in matters ad-
dressing preparation, compilation, and review engagements. An other prepa-
ration, compilation, and review publication that has not been reviewed by the
AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff that contradicts an other preparation,
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compilation and review publication that has been reviewed by the AICPA Au-
dit and Attest Standards staff is inappropriate. [Paragraph renumbered and
amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23. Revised, February 2017, to
better reflect the AICPA Council Resolution designating the PCAOB to promul-
gate technical standards.]

Engagement Level Quality Control (Ref: par. .21)

.A39 Within the context of the firm's system of quality control, engagement
teams have a responsibility to implement quality control procedures applicable
to the engagement and provide the firm with relevant information to enable the
functioning of that part of the firm's system of quality control relating to inde-
pendence. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A40 The actions of the engagement partner and appropriate messages to
the other members of the engagement team, in the context of the engagement
partner taking responsibility for the overall quality of each engagement, em-
phasize the fact that quality is essential when performing an engagement in
accordance with SSARSs and the importance to the quality of the engagement
of

a. performing work that complies with professional standards and
regulatory and legal requirements.

b.  complying with the firm's quality control policies and procedures,
as applicable.

c. issuing a report, if applicable, for the engagement that is appro-
priate in the circumstances.

d. the engagement team's ability to raise concerns without fear of
reprisals.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A41 Unless information provided by the firm or other parties suggests
otherwise, the engagement team is entitled to rely on the firm's system of qual-
ity control. For example, the engagement team may rely on the firm's system of
quality control in relation to

® competence of personnel through their recruitment and formal
training.

® independence through the accumulation and communication of
relevant independence information.

® maintenance of client relationships through acceptance and con-
tinuance systems.

® adherence to regulatory and legal requirements through the mon-
itoring process.

When considering the deficiencies identified in the firm's system of quality con-
trol that may affect the engagement, the engagement partner may consider
measures taken by the firm to rectify those deficiencies.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A42 A deficiency in the firm's system of quality control does not necessar-
ily indicate that an engagement was not performed in accordance with profes-
sional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements or that the
accountant's report, if applicable, was not appropriate. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Assignment of Engagement Teams (Ref: par. .21b)

.A43 When considering the appropriate competence and capabilities ex-
pected of the engagement team as a whole, the engagement partner may take
into consideration such matters as the team's

® understanding of, and practical experience with, engagements of a
similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and
participation.

® understanding of professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

® technical expertise, including expertise with relevant information
technology and specialized areas of accounting or attest services.

® knowledge of relevant industries in which the client operates.
® ability to apply professional judgment.

® understanding of the firm's quality control policies and proce-
dures.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Engagements
Performed in Accordance With SSARSs (Ref: par. .21d(i))

.A44 QC section 10 requires the firm to obtain information considered nec-
essary in the circumstances before accepting an engagement with a new client,
when deciding whether to continue an existing engagement, and when con-
sidering acceptance of a new engagement with an existing client. Information
such as the following assists the engagement partner in determining whether
the conclusions reached regarding the acceptance and continuance of client re-
lationships and engagements in accordance with SSARSs are appropriate:

® The integrity of the principal owners, key management, and those
charged with governance of the entity

® Whether the engagement team is competent to perform the en-
gagement and has the necessary capabilities, including time and
resources

®  Whether the firm and the engagement team can comply with rel-
evant ethical requirements
® Significant findings or issues that have arisen during the current

or previous engagement and their implications for continuing the
relationship

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A45 If the engagement partner has cause to doubt management's in-
tegrity to a degree that is likely to affect proper performance of the engage-
ment, it is not appropriate to accept the engagement, unless required by law
or regulation, because doing so may lead to the accountant being associated
with the entity's financial statements in an inappropriate manner. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and
Engagements (Ref: par. .25-.26)

.A46 The accountant's consideration of engagement continuance and rel-
evant ethical requirements occurs throughout the engagement as conditions
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and changes in circumstances occur. Performing initial procedures on engage-
ment continuance and evaluation of relevant ethical requirements at the begin-
ning of an engagement informs the accountant's decisions and actions prior to
the performance of other significant activities for the engagement. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A47 Relevant ethical requirements with respect to a review engagement
include independence. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A48 This consideration is not directed at the need that sometimes arises
in the course of an engagement to assist management by recommending adjust-
ing entries required to finalize the financial statements prepared by manage-
ment. An example of where the accountant may have cause to doubt whether
the information needed to perform the review will be available or reliable is
when the accounting records necessary for performing analytical procedures
are suspected to be substantially inaccurate or incomplete. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A49 Factors that are relevant to the accountant's determination of the
acceptability of the financial reporting framework selected by management to
be applied in the preparation of the financial statements include the following:

® The purpose of the financial statements (for example, whether
they are prepared to meet the common financial information
needs of a wide range of users)

® Whether law or regulation prescribes the applicable financial re-
porting framework

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A50 In accordance with this section, the accountant is required to obtain
the agreement of management on management's responsibilities in relation to
the financial statements as a condition precedent to accepting the engagement.
In smaller entities, management may not be well-informed about what those
responsibilities are, including those arising in applicable law or regulation. In
order to obtain management's agreement on an informed basis, the accountant
may find it necessary to discuss those responsibilities with management in ad-
vance of seeking management's agreement on its responsibilities. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A51 The accountant is entitled to rely on management to provide all rel-
evant information for the engagement. The form of the information provided
by management for the purpose of the engagement will vary in different en-
gagement circumstances. In broad terms, it will comprise records, documents,
explanations, and other information relevant to the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the financial reporting framework adopted by
management. The information provided may include, for example, information
about management's assumptions, intentions, or plans underlying development
of accounting estimates needed to prepare the financial statements in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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This listing identifies other preparation, compilation and review publi-
cations published by the AICPA that have been reviewed by the AICPA
Audit and Attest Standards staff and are, therefore, presumed to be ap-
propriate, as defined in section 60. Products may be obtained through
www.cpa2biz.com.

Current AICPA Alerts

Developments in Review, Compilation, and Financial Statement Preparation
Engagements

Understanding the Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-
Sized Entities

Independence and Ethics Developments

AICPA Technical Questions and Answers Accounting and Compilation
and Review Technical Questions and Answers (Q&A) Sections (avail-
able in hard copy)

Special Purpose Frameworks

Q&A Section 1500.07, "Disclosure Concerning Subsequent Events
in Special Purpose Financial Statements"

Q&A Section 1800.06, "Applicability of Fair Value Disclosure Re-
quirements in FASB ASC 820 to Financial Statements Prepared
in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework"

Compilation and Review Engagements

® Q&A Section 9150.04, "Financial Statements Marked As 'Unau-
dited"

® Q&A Section 9150.08, "Supplementary Information"

® Q&A Section 9150.09, "Applicability of AR Section 300 to Certain
Companies Required to File With Regulatory Bodies"

® Q&A Section 9150.10, "Review of Financial Statements Included
in a Prescribed Form"

® Q&A Section 9150.16, "Reference to Accountant's Report in Notes
to Financial Statements"

® Q&A Section 9150.18, "Bank Engaged an Accountant to Compile
a Financial Statement of Another Entity"

® Q&A Section 9150.20, "Reissuance When Not Independent"

® Q&A Section 9150.24, "Issuing a Compilation Report on Finan-
cial Statements That Omit Substantially All Disclosures After Is-
suing a Report on the Same Financial Statements That Include
Substantially All Disclosures"

® Q&A Section 9150.29, "Effects on Compilation and Review En-
gagements When Management Does Not Assess Whether the
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Reporting Entity Is the Primary Beneficiary of a Variable Interest
Entity and Instructs the Accountant to Not Perform the Assess-
ment"

® Q&A Section 9150.30, "Disclosure of Independence Impairment in
the Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements When the Accountant's Independence Is Impaired in
Only One Period"

®  Q&A Section 9150.31, "Break-Even Financial Statements"
Compilation of Financial Statements

® Q&A Section 1300.17, "Omission of Reconciliation of Net Income
to Cash Flow From Operations"

® Q&A Section 9160.26, "Compilation and Review—Comparative
Financial Statements"

® Q&A Section 8900.10, "Successor Accountant Becomes Aware of
Information During the Performance of a Compilation or Review
That Leads the Successor Accountant to Believe That Financial
Statements Reported On by a Predecessor Accountant Who Has
Ceased Operations May Require Revision"

Compilation Reports

®  Q&A Section 1300.17, "Omission of Reconciliation of Net Income
to Cash Flow From Operations"

® Q&A Section 9110.07, "Statement of Cash Receipts and Disburse-
ments"

Review of Financial Statements

® Q&A Section 8900.10, "Successor Accountant Becomes Aware of
Information During the Performance of a Compilation or Review
That Leads the Successor Accountant to Believe That Financial
Statements Reported On by a Predecessor Accountant Who Has
Ceased Operations May Require Revision"
Review Reports
® Q&A Section 8800.30, "Making Reference to Review Report"

® Q&A Section 9110.07, "Statement of Cash Receipts and Disburse-
ments"

Other Publications

Corporations: Checklists and Illustrative Financial Statements

The Engagement Letter: Best Practices and Examples

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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AR-C Section 70
Preparation of Financial Statements

Source: SSARS No. 21; SSARS No. 23.

Effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods end-
ing on or after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indicated.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section applies when an accountant in public practice is engaged
to prepare financial statements or prospective financial information. (Ref: par.
Al-.A2).

This section may also be applied, adapted as appropriate in the circumstances,
to the preparation of other historical financial information. (Ref: par. .A3)

This section does not apply when an accountant prepares financial statements
or prospective financial information

® andis engaged to perform an audit, review, or compilation of those
financial statements,

®  golely for submission to taxing authorities,

® for inclusion in written personal financial plans prepared by the
accountant,

® in conjunction with litigation services that involve pending or po-
tential legal or regulatory proceedings, or

® in conjunction with business valuation services.!"

[As amended, effective for prospective financial information prepared on or af-
ter May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.02 The determination about whether the accountant has been engaged to
prepare financial statements or merely assist in preparing financial statements
(which is a bookkeeping service that is not subject to this section) is determined
based on services the client requests the accountant to perform and requires
the accountant to apply professional judgment. (Ref: par. .A4)

The Preparation Engagement

.03 An engagement to prepare financial statements is a nonattest service
and does not require a determination about whether the accountant is inde-
pendent of the entity. (Ref: par. .A5)

.04 In addition, an engagement to prepare financial statements does not
require the accountant to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information
provided by management or otherwise gather evidence to express an opinion
or a conclusion on the financial statements or otherwise report on the financial
statements.

' [Footnote deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Effective Date

.05 This section is effective for the preparation of financial statements for
periods ending on or after December 15, 2015. Early implementation is permit-

Obijective

.06 The objective of the accountant is to prepare financial statements pur-
suant to a specified financial reporting framework.

Definitions

.07 For purposes of Statements on Accounting and Review Standards
(SSARSS), the following terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting

framework adopted by management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance, in the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the
entity and the objective of the financial statements or that is required
by law or regulation.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine

measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material
items appearing in the financial statements (for example, accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America [U.S.
GAAP], International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board, or a special purpose
framework).

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the con-

duct of the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes
some or all of those charged with governance (for example, executive
members of a governance board or an owner-manager).

Special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework other

than GAAP that is one of the following bases of accounting:

a. Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record
cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording de-
preciation on fixed assets).

b. Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its
tax return for the period covered by the financial statements.

c¢. Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with the requirements or financial reporting provi-
sions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is
subject (for example, a basis of accounting that insurance com-
panies use pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by a state insurance commission). (Ref: par. .A6)

d. Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with an agreement between the entity and one or
more third parties other than the accountant.

e. Other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of
logical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items
appearing in financial statements.
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The cash-basis, tax-basis, regulatory-basis, and other-basis of account-
ing are commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of account-
ing (OCBOA).

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for
example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the
strategic direction of an entity and the obligations related to the ac-
countability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial report-
ing process. Those charged with governance may include management
personnel (for example, executive members of a governance board or
an owner-manager).

Requirements

General Principles for Performing Engagements to Prepare
Financial Statements

.08 In addition to complying with this section, an accountant is required
to comply with section 60, General Principles For Engagements Performed in
Accordance With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Engagements to Prepare Financial Statements

.09 If the accountant is not satisfied with any of the matters set out in
paragraph .26 of section 60 as preconditions for accepting an engagement to
prepare financial statements, the accountant should discuss the matter with
management or those charged with governance. If changes cannot be made to
satisfy the accountant about those matters, the accountant should not accept
the proposed engagement.

Agreement on Engagement Terms

.10 The accountant should agree upon the terms of the engagement with
management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. The agreed-
upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an engagement letter
or other suitable form of written agreement between the parties and should
include the following: (Ref: par. . A7—.A11)

a. The objective of the engagement

b. The responsibilities of management set forth in paragraph .26¢ of
section 60

c¢. The agreement of management that each page of the financial
statements will include a statement indicating that no assurance
is provided on the financial statements or the accountant will be
required to issue a disclaimer that makes clear that no assurance
is provided on the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A13)

d. The responsibilities of the accountant

e. The limitations of the engagement to prepare financial state-
ments

[ Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for
the preparation of financial statements

g Whether the financial statements are to contain a known depar-
ture or departures from the applicable financial reporting frame-
work (including inadequate disclosure) or omit substantially all
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disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting frame-
work

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.11 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement
should be signed by

a. the accountant or the accountant's firm and

b. management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.
(Ref: par. .A10)

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s
Financial Reporting Framework

.12 The accountant should obtain an understanding of the financial re-
porting framework and the significant accounting policies intended to be used
in the preparation of the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A12)

Preparing the Financial Statements

.13 The accountant should prepare the financial statements using the
records, documents, explanations, and other information provided by manage-
ment.

.14 The accountant should ensure that a statement is included on each
page of the financial statements indicating, at a minimum, that "no assurance
is provided" on the financial statements. If the accountant is unable to include
a statement on each page of the financial statements, the accountant should
(Ref: par. .A13)

a. issue either a disclaimer that makes clear that no assurance is
provided on the financial statements; (Ref: par. .A14)

b. perform a compilation engagement in accordance with section 80,
Compilation Engagements; or

c¢. withdraw from the engagement.
[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.15 When preparing financial statements in accordance with a special pur-
pose framework, the accountant should include a description of the financial
reporting framework on the face of the financial statements or in a note to the
financial statements. (Ref: par. .A15)

.16 If, during the preparation of financial statements, the accountant as-
sists management with significant judgments regarding amounts or disclosures
to be reflected in the financial statements, the accountant should discuss those
judgments with management so management understands the significant judg-
ments reflected in financial statements and accepts responsibility for those
judgments. (Ref: par. .A16 and .A20)

.17 Ifthe accountant becomes aware that the records, documents, explana-
tions, or other information, including significant judgments, used in the prepa-
ration of the financial statements are incomplete, inaccurate, or otherwise un-
satisfactory, the accountant should bring that to the attention of management
and request additional or corrected information.

.18 When, after discussions with management, the accountant prepares
financial statements that contain a known departure or departures from the
applicable financial reporting framework (including inadequate disclosure), the
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accountant should disclose the material misstatement or misstatements in the
financial statements. (Ref: par. .A17)

Preparing Prospective Financial Information

.19 The summary of significant assumptions is essential to the user's un-
derstanding of prospective financial information. Accordingly, the accountant
should not prepare prospective financial information that excludes disclosure
of the summary of significant assumptions. Also, the accountant should not
prepare a financial projection that excludes either (a) an identification of the
hypothetical assumptions or (b) a description of the limitations on the useful-
ness of the presentation. [Paragraph added, effective for prospective financial
information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All the Disclosures
Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

.20 When, after discussions with management, the accountant prepares
financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures required by the
applicable financial reporting framework, the accountant should disclose such
omission in the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A18) [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.21 The accountant should not prepare financial statements that omit sub-
stantially all disclosures required by the financial reporting framework if the
accountant becomes aware that the omission of substantially all disclosures
was undertaken with the intention of misleading users of such financial state-
ments. (Ref: par. .A19) [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

Documentation in a Preparation Engagement

.22 The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each
preparation engagement in sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding
of the work performed which, at a minimum, includes the following: (Ref: par.
.A20)

a. The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documen-
tation with management, as described in paragraphs .10-.11
b. A copy of the financial statements that the accountant prepared
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.23 If, in rare circumstances, the accountant judges it necessary to depart
from a relevant presumptively mandatory requirement, the accountant must
document the justification for the departure and how the alternative proce-
dures performed in the circumstances were sufficient to achieve the intent of
that requirement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01-.02)

.Al If the accountant is engaged to prepare prospective financial infor-
mation, references in this section to financial statements are to be taken as a
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reference to prospective financial information. [Paragraph added, effective for
prospective financial information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS
No. 23.]

A2 AICPA Guide Prospective Financial Information (the guide) provides
comprehensive guidance regarding prospective financial information. Chapter
6, "Preparation Guidelines;" chapter 7, "Reasonably Objective Basis;" chapter
8, "Presentation Guidelines;" and chapter 9, "Illustrative Prospective Financial
Statements," of the guide establish the preparation and presentation guidelines
for financial forecasts and financial projections. The guide also includes infor-
mation about the types and uses of prospective financial information. The guide
provides suitable criteria for the preparation and presentation of prospective
financial information. The accountant is not prohibited from preparing prospec-
tive financial information prepared and presented in accordance with other
suitable criteria. [Paragraph added, effective for prospective financial informa-
tion prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A3 Other historical financial information to which this section may be
applied includes the following:

® Specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement,
such as schedules of rentals, royalties, profit participation, or pro-
vision for income taxes

®  Supplementary information
® Required supplementary information
®  Pro forma financial information

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No.
23.]

.A4 The appendix, "Preparation of Financial Statements Versus Assis-
tance in Preparing Financial Statements," provides examples of services that
the accountant may be engaged to perform and whether this section would
apply. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

The Preparation Engagement (Ref: par. .03)

A5 The "Nonattest Services" subtopic of the "Independence Rule" (ET sec.
1.295) addresses the accountant's considerations with respect to independence
when performing nonattest services for attest clients. For example, the accoun-
tant may prepare monthly or other interim financial statements and be en-
gaged to perform an audit, review, or compilation engagement with respect to
the annual financial statements. The accountant needs to be aware that the
performance of the preparation services may impair independence unless the
safeguards described in this subtopic are met. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Definitions (Ref: par. .07)

A6 Certain regulators, including state and local government legislators,
regulatory agencies, or departments, require financial statements to be pre-
pared in accordance with a financial reporting framework that is based on
GAAP but does not comply with all the requirements of GAAP. Such frame-
works are regulatory-bases of accounting, as defined in paragraph .07. In some
circumstances, however, the cash- or tax-basis of accounting may be permitted
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by a regulator. For purposes of this section, the cash- and tax-bases of account-
ing are not regulatory-bases of accounting. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Agreement on Engagement Terms (Ref: par. .10-.11)

.A7 Both management and the accountant have an interest in document-
ing the agreed-upon terms of the engagement to prepare financial statements
before the commencement of the engagement to help avoid misunderstandings
with respect to the engagement. For example, it reduces the risk that manage-
ment may inappropriately rely on or may expect the accountant to protect man-
agement against certain risks or to perform certain functions, including those
that are management's responsibility. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A8 When a third party has contracted for an engagement to prepare the
entity's financial statements, agreeing the terms of the engagement with man-
agement of the entity is necessary in order to establish that the preconditions
for an engagement to prepare financial statements are present. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A9 The understanding with management regarding the services to be per-
formed for engagements to prepare financial statements is required by para-
graph .10 to be in a documented form, and, accordingly, an oral understand-
ing is insufficient. An engagement letter is the most common, and usually the
most convenient, method for documenting the understanding with manage-
ment regarding the services to be performed for engagements to prepare fi-
nancial statements. [Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October
2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A10 The roles of management and those charged with governance in
agreeing upon the terms of the engagement to prepare financial statements
for the entity depend on the governance structure of the entity and relevant
law or regulation. Depending on the entity's structure, the agreement may be
with management, those charged with governance, or both. Nonetheless, when
the agreement on the terms of engagement is only with those charged with
governance in accordance with paragraph .26¢ of section 60, the accountant is
required to obtain management's agreement that it acknowledges and under-
stands its responsibilities. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.All An illustrative example of an engagement letter for an engagement
to prepare financial statements is presented in the exhibit, "Illustrative En-
gagement Letter." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s
Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .12)

.A12 The requirement that the accountant obtain an understanding of the
financial reporting framework adopted by management intended to be used in
the preparation of the financial statements and the significant accounting poli-
cies adopted by management does not prevent the accountant from accepting
an engagement to prepare financial statements for an entity in an industry
in which the accountant has no previous experience. The accountant may ob-
tain such understanding, for example, by consulting AICPA guides, industry
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publications, financial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks
and periodicals, appropriate continuing professional education, or individuals
who are knowledgeable about the industry. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Preparing the Financial Statements (Ref: par. .10, .14-.16,
and .18)

.A13 The statement on each page of the financial statements, including re-
lated notes, is intended to avoid misunderstanding on the part of users with re-
spect to the accountant's involvement with the financial statements. The state-
ment is made at management's discretion, and the accountant or the accoun-
tant's firm name is not required to be included. The accountant is concerned
that the indication is not misleading. Examples of a statement on each page of
the financial statements include the following:

® No assurance is provided on these financial statements.

® These financial statements have not been subjected to an audit or
review or compilation engagement, and no assurance is provided
on them.

Other statements that convey that no assurance is provided on the financial
statements would also be acceptable. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A14 An example of a disclaimer that the accountant may issue is as fol-
lows:

The accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company as of and for the year
ended December 31, 20XX, were not subjected to an audit, review, or compila-
tion engagement by me (us) and I (we) do not express an opinion, a conclusion,
nor provide any assurance on them.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Re-
vised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SSARS No. 23.]

.A15 A description of the special purpose framework is usually placed next
to or under the title of the financial statements (for example "statement of as-
sets and liabilities—modified cash basis"). However, the description may be
placed elsewhere in the financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A16 In the preparation of financial statements, the accountant may pro-
vide assistance to management with significant judgments (for example, the ac-
countant may advise management on alternative accounting policies that are
significant to the financial statements or help management with significant
judgments regarding material accounting estimates). [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A17 The disclosure of the material misstatement or misstatements may
be made on the face of the financial statements or in a note to the financial
statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]
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Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All the Disclosures
Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework
(Ref: par. .20-.21)

.A18 The disclosure of the omission of substantially all disclosures re-
quired by the applicable financial reporting framework may be made on the
face of the financial statements or in a selected note to the financial statements.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A19 The accountant may prepare financial statements that include dis-
closures about only a few matters in the notes to the financial statements.
Such disclosures may be labeled "Selected Information—Substantially All Dis-
closures Required by [the applicable financial reporting framework] Are Not
Included." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Documentation in a Preparation Engagement
(Ref: par. .16 and .22)

.A20 Documentation may include documentation regarding significant
consultations or significant professional judgments made throughout the en-
gagement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]
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A21

Appendix—Preparation of Financial Statements
Versus Assistance in Preparing Financial Statements

(Ref: par. .A4)

The determination about whether the accountant has been engaged to prepare
financial statements or merely assist in preparing financial statements (which
is a bookkeeping service that is not subject to this section) is determined based
on the services the client requests the accountant to perform and requires the
accountant to apply professional judgment. The following table provides exam-
ples of services that the accountant may be engaged to perform and whether
section 70 would apply. The table is not intended to be all inclusive, and profes-
sional judgment would still need to be applied.

Examples of Services for Which
This Section Applies

Examples of Accountant Services for
Which This Section Does Not Apply

Preparation of financial statements
prior to audit or review by another
accountant

Preparation of financial statements
when the accountant is engaged to
perform an audit, review, or
compilation of such financial
statements

Preparation of financial statements
for an entity to be presented
alongside the entity's tax return

Preparation of financial statements
with a tax return solely for
submission to taxing authorities

Preparation of personal financial
statements for presentation
alongside a financial plan

Personal financial statements that
are prepared for inclusion in written
personal financial plans prepared by
the accountant

Financial statements prepared in
conjunction with litigation services
that involve pending or potential
legal or regulatory proceedings

Financial statements prepared in
conjunction with business valuation
services

Maintaining depreciation schedules

Preparing or proposing certain
adjustments, such as those applicable
to deferred income taxes,
depreciation, or leases

Preparation of single financial
statements, such as a balance sheet
or income statement or financial
statements with substantially all
disclosures omitted

Drafting financial statement notes

Using the information in a general
ledger to prepare financial
statements outside of an accounting
software system

Entering general ledger transactions
or processing payments (general
bookkeeping) in an accounting
software system

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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A22

Exhibit—lllustrative Engagement Letter (Ref: par. .A11)

The following is an example of an engagement letter for an engagement to pre-
pare financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. This engagement letter is
intended as an illustration that may be used in conjunction with the considera-
tions outlined in Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.
The engagement letter will vary according to individual requirements and cir-
cumstances and is drafted to refer to the preparation of financial statements for
a single reporting period. The accountant may seek legal advice about whether
a proposed letter is suitable.

To the appropriate representative of ABC Company:!

You? have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Company,
which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements.? * We are
pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this engagement
to prepare the financial statements of ABC Company by means of this letter.

Our Responsibilities

The objective of our engagement is to prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America based on information provided by you. We will conduct our engage-
ment in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Com-
mittee of the AICPA and comply with the AICPA's Code of Professional Con-
duct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional com-
petence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information you will provide to us for the engagement or otherwise gather
evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. Accordingly,
we will not express an opinion or a conclusion or provide any assurance on the
financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by fraud or error, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations.

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the engagement to prepare financial statements, including the relevant jurisdic-
tion. It is important to refer to the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A10.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant
would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 If the accountant is to be engaged to prepare financial statements that omit the statement of
cash flows and the related notes, the sentence may be revised to read, "You have requested that we
prepare the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheet as of December
31, 20XX, and the related statements of income and changes in stockholders' equity." The following
additional sentence may then be added: "These financial statements will not include a statement of
cash flows and related notes to the financial statements."

4 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement,
such as income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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Management Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management
acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Management has the following overall responsibilities that
are fundamental to our undertaking the engagement to prepare your financial
statements in accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as the financial reporting framework to
be applied in the preparation of the financial statements

b. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

c¢. The prevention and detection of fraud

d. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities

e. The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the engagement to prepare financial state-
ments

f To provide us with:

i. Documentation, and other related information that is rel-
evant to the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements,

ii. Additional information that may be requested for the pur-
pose of the preparation of the financial statements, and

iii. Unrestricted access to persons within ABC Company of
whom we determine necessary to communicate.

The financial statements will not be accompanied by a report. However, you
agree that the financial statements will clearly indicate that no assurance is
provided on them.

lIf the accountant expects to issue a disclaimer, instead of the preceding para-
graph, the following may be added:

As part of our engagement, we will issue a disclaimer that will state that the
financial statements were not subjected to an audit, review, or compilation en-
gagement by us and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion,
nor provide any assurance on them.]

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services. . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding lim-
itation of, or other arrangements regarding, the liability of the accountant or
the entity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from
knowing misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may
restrict or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorney's fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]
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Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to
prepare the financial statements described herein, and our respective respon-
sibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter ele-
ments. Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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AR-C Section 80
Compilation Engagements

Source: SSARS No. 21; SSARS No. 23.

Effective for compilations of financial statements for periods ending
on or after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indicated.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section applies when the accountant is engaged to perform a com-
pilation of financial statements, prospective financial information, pro forma
financial information, or other historical financial information. (Ref: par. .A1-
.A4)." [As amended, effective for compilation reports on prospective financial
information dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

The Compilation Engagement

.02 Because a compilation engagement is not an assurance engagement,
a compilation engagement does not require the accountant to verify the accu-
racy or completeness of the information provided by management or otherwise
gather evidence to express an opinion or a conclusion on the financial state-
ments.

Effective Date

.03 This section is effective for compilations of financial statements for pe-
riods ending on or after December 15,2015. Early implementation is permitted.

Obijective

.04 The objective of the accountant in a compilation engagement is to ap-
ply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist management in the
presentation of financial statements and report in accordance with this section
without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no ma-
terial modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order for
them to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

Definitions

.05 For purposes of Statements on Accounting and Review Standards
(SSARSSs), the following terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting
framework adopted by management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance, in the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the

' [Footnote deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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entity and the objective of the financial statements or that is required
by law or regulation.

Basic financial statements. Financial statements excluding supplemen-
tary information and required supplementary information.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine
measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material
items appearing in the financial statements (for example, accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America [U.S.
GAAP], International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board, or a special purpose
framework).

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Reference to gen-
erally accepted accounting principles in SSARSs means generally ac-
cepted accounting principles promulgated by bodies designated by the
Council of the AICPA pursuant to the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the "Accounting Principles Rule" (ET
sec. 1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the con-
duct of the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes
some or all of those charged with governance (for example, executive
members of a governance board or an owner-manager).

Misstatement. A difference between the amount, classification, presenta-
tion, or disclosure of a reported financial item and the amount, classi-
fication, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be
presented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error.

Misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifica-
tions, presentations, or disclosures that, in the accountant's profes-
sional judgment, are necessary for the financial statements to be pre-
sented fairly, in all material respects.

Required supplementary information. Information that a designated
accounting standards-setter requires to accompany an entity's basic
financial statements. Required supplementary information is not part
of the basic financial statements; however, a designated accounting
standards-setter considers the information to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an ap-
propriate operational, economic, or historical context. In addition, au-
thoritative guidelines for the methods of measurement and presenta-
tion of the information have been established.

Special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework other
than GAAP that is one of the following bases of accounting:

a. Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record
cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording de-
preciation on fixed assets).

b. Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its
tax return for the period covered by the financial statements.

c¢. Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with the requirements or financial reporting provi-
sions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is
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subject (for example, a basis of accounting that insurance com-
panies use pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by a state insurance commission). (Ref: par. .A5)

d. Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with an agreement between the entity and one or
more third parties other than the accountant.

e. Other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of
logical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items
appearing in financial statements.

The cash-basis, tax-basis, regulatory-basis, and other-basis of account-
ing are commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of account-
ing (OCBOA).

Supplementary information. Information presented outside the basic
financial statements, excluding required supplementary information,
that is not considered necessary for the financial statements to be
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework. Such information may be presented in a document con-
taining the financial statements subjected to the compilation engage-
ment or separate from the financial statements subjected to the com-
pilation engagement. (Ref: par. .A6—.A7)

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for
example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the
strategic direction of the entity and the obligations related to the ac-
countability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial report-
ing process. Those charged with governance may include management
personnel (for example, executive members of a governance board or
an owner-manager).

[Revised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23.]

Requirements

General Principles for Performing and Reporting on
Compilation Engagements

.06 In addition to complying with this section, an accountant is required
to comply with section 60, General Principles for Engagements Performed in
Accordance With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

Independence

.07 The accountant must determine whether the accountant is indepen-
dent of the entity. (Ref: par. .A8)

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Compilation Engagements

.08 As a condition for accepting an engagement to perform a compilation
with respect to an entity's financial statements, in addition to the requirements
in paragraph .26 of section 60, the accountant should obtain the agreement of
management that it acknowledges and understands its responsibility
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a. for the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework
and the inclusion of all informative disclosures that are appro-
priate for the applicable financial reporting framework used to
prepare the entity's financial statements. If the financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work, this includes (Ref: par. .A9)

i. a description of the special purpose framework, including
a summary of significant accounting policies, and how the
framework differs from GAAP, the effect of which need not
be quantified, and informative disclosures similar to those
required by GAAP, in the case of special purpose finan-
cial statements that contain items that are the same as,
or similar to, those in financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with GAAP, (Ref: par. .A28)

ii. a description of any significant interpretations of the con-
tract on which the special purpose financial statements are
prepared, in the case of financial statements prepared in
accordance with a contractual-basis of accounting, and

iii. additional disclosures beyond those specifically required
by the framework that may be necessary for the special
purpose framework to achieve fair presentation.

b. to include the accountant's compilation report in any document
containing financial statements that indicates that the entity's
accountant has performed a compilation engagement on such fi-
nancial statements unless a different understanding is reached.
(Ref: par. .A10)

.09 If the accountant is not satisfied about any of the matters set out in
paragraph .26 of section 60 or paragraph .08 of this section as preconditions for
accepting a compilation engagement, the accountant should discuss the matter
with management or those charged with governance. If changes cannot be made
to satisfy the accountant about those matters, the accountant should not accept
the proposed engagement.

Agreement on Engagement Terms

.10 The accountant should agree upon the terms of the engagement with
management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. The agreed-
upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an engagement letter
or other suitable form of written agreement between the parties and should
include the following: (Ref: par. .A11-.A16)

a. The objectives of the engagement

b. The responsibilities of management set forth in paragraph .26¢ of
section 60 and paragraph .08 of this section

c¢. The responsibilities of the accountant

d. The limitations of the compilation engagement

e. Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for
the preparation of the financial statements

f The expected form and content of the accountant's compilation
report and a statement that there may be circumstances in which
the report may differ from its expected form and content

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]
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.11 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement
should be signed by

a. the accountant or the accountant's firm and

b. management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.
(Ref: par. .A12)

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s
Financial Reporting Framework

.12 The accountant should obtain an understanding of the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework and the significant accounting policies intended
to be used in the preparation of the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A17)

Compilation Procedures

.13 The accountant should read the financial statements in light of the
accountant's understanding of the applicable financial reporting framework
and the significant accounting policies adopted by management and consider
whether such financial statements appear to be appropriate in form and free
from obvious material misstatements.

.14 If, in the course of the engagement, the accountant becomes aware that
the records, documents, explanations, or other information, including signifi-
cant judgments, provided by management are incomplete, inaccurate, or other-
wise unsatisfactory, the accountant should bring that to the attention of man-
agement and request additional or corrected information. (Ref: par. .A18)

.15 If the accountant becomes aware during the course of the engagement
that

a. thefinancial statements do not adequately refer to or describe the
applicable financial reporting framework (Ref: par. .A19);

b. revisions to the financial statements are required for the finan-
cial statements to be in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework; or

c¢. thefinancial statements are otherwise misleading (Ref: par. .A20—
A21)

the accountant should propose the appropriate revisions to management.

.16 The accountant should withdraw from the engagement and inform
management of the reasons for withdrawing if (Ref: par. .A22—.A23)

a. the accountant is unable to complete the engagement because
management has failed to provide records, documents, explana-
tions, or other information, including significant judgments, as
requested, or

b. management does not make appropriate revisions that are pro-
posed by the accountant or does not disclose such departures in
the financial statements, and the accountant determines to not
disclose such departures in the accountant's compilation report.

The Accountant’s Compilation Report

.17 The accountant's compilation report should be in writing and (Ref: par.
.A24 and .A27)
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a. include a statement that management (owners) is (are) responsi-
ble for the financial statements.

b. identify the financial statements that have been subjected to the
compilation engagement.

c¢. identify the entity whose financial statements have been sub-
jected to the compilation engagement.

d. specify the date or period covered by the financial statements.

e. include a statement that the accountant performed the compila-
tion engagement in accordance with SSARSs promulgated by the
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.

[ include a statement that the accountant did not audit or review
the financial statements nor was the accountant required to per-
form any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
information provided by management and does not express an
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the financial
statements.

g include the signature of the accountant or the accountant's firm.

h. include the city and state where the accountant practices. (Ref:
par. .A26)

i. include the date of the report, which should be the date that the
accountant has completed the procedures required by this section.

[Revised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23.]

The Accountant’s Compilation Report on Financial Statements
Prepared in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework

.18 Unless the entity elects to omit substantially all disclosures, the ac-
countant should modify the compilation report when that accountant becomes
aware that the financial statements do not include

a. adescription of the special purpose framework. (Ref: par. .A28)
b. asummary of significant accounting policies. (Ref: par. .A29)

c¢. an adequate description about how the special purpose frame-
work differs from GAAP. The effects of these differences need not
be quantified. (Ref: par. .A28)

d. informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP when
the financial statements contain items that are the same as, or
similar to, those in financial statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP. (Ref: par. .A31)

.19 In the case of financial statements prepared in accordance with a
contractual-basis of accounting, the accountant should modify the compilation
report if the financial statements do not adequately describe any significant
interpretations of the contract on which the financial statements are based.

.20 The accountant's compilation report on financial statements prepared
in accordance with a special purpose framework should

a. make reference to management's responsibility for determining
that the applicable financial reporting framework is acceptable
in the circumstances when management has a choice of financial
reporting frameworks in the preparation of such financial state-
ments.
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b. describe the purpose for which the financial statements are pre-
pared or refer to a note in the financial statements that contains
that information when the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with a regulatory- or contractual-basis of accounting.
(Ref: par. .A32)

.21 The accountant's compilation report on financial statements prepared
in accordance with a special purpose framework should include a separate para-
graph that

a. indicates that the financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with the applicable special purpose framework,

b. refers to the note to the financial statements that describes the
framework, if applicable, and

c. states that the special purpose framework is a basis of accounting
other than GAAP.

Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent

.22 When the accountant is not independent with respect to the entity,
the accountant should indicate the accountant's lack of independence in a final
paragraph of the accountant's compilation report. (Ref: par. . A33—.A35)

.23 If the accountant elects to disclose a description about the reasons the
accountant's independence is impaired, the accountant should include all such
reasons in the description.

Reporting on Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All
the Disclosures Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework

.24 The summary of significant assumptions is essential to the user's un-
derstanding of prospective financial information. Accordingly, the accountant
should not issue a compilation report on prospective financial information that
excludes disclosure of the summary of significant assumptions. Also, the ac-
countant should not issue a compilation report on a financial projection that
excludes either (a) an identification of the hypothetical assumptions or (b) a
description of the limitations on the usefulness of the presentation. [Paragraph
added, effective for compilation reports on prospective financial information
dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.25 In addition to the reporting elements required by paragraph .17, an
accountant's compilation report on prospective financial information should in-
clude statements that

a. the forecasted or projected results may not be achieved and

b. the accountant assumes no responsibility to update the report for
events and circumstances occurring after the date of the report.

[Paragraph added, effective for compilation reports on prospective financial in-
formation dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.26 The accountant should not issue an accountant's compilation report on
financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures required by the ap-
plicable financial reporting framework unless the omission of substantially all
disclosures is not, to the accountant's knowledge, undertaken with the inten-
tion of misleading those who might reasonably be expected to use such financial
statements. (Ref: par. .A21) [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]
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.27 When reporting on financial statements that omit substantially all dis-
closures required by the applicable financial reporting framework, the accoun-
tant should include a separate paragraph in the accountant's compilation re-
port that includes the following elements: (Ref: par. .A36—.A37)

a. A statement that management has elected to omit substantially
all the disclosures (and the statement of cash flows, if applicable)
required by the applicable financial reporting framework (or ordi-
narily included in the financial statements if the financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work)

b. A statement that if the omitted disclosures (and the statement
of cash flows, if applicable) were included in the financial state-
ments, they might influence the user's conclusions about the en-
tity's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows (or
the equivalent for presentations other than GAAP)

c. A statement that, accordingly, the financial statements are not
designed for those who are not informed about such matters

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.28 The omission of one or more notes, when substantially all other disclo-
sures are presented, should be treated in a compilation report like any other
departure from the applicable financial reporting framework, and the nature of
the departure and its effects, if known, should be disclosed in accordance with
paragraphs .29-.33. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Reporting Known Departures From the Applicable Financial
Reporting Framework

.29 When the accountant becomes aware of a departure from the applica-
ble financial reporting framework (including inadequate disclosure) that is ma-
terial to the financial statements and the financial statements are not revised,
the accountant should consider whether modification of the standard report is
adequate to disclose the departure. (Ref: par. .A39) [Paragraph renumbered and
amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.30 If the accountant concludes that modification of the standard report
is adequate, the departure should be disclosed in a separate paragraph of the
report. The effects of the departure on the financial statements should be dis-
closed if such effects have been determined by management or are readily
known to the accountant as the result of the accountant's procedures. [Para-
graph renumbered and amended, by SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.31 If the effects of the departure have not been determined by manage-
ment or are not readily known to the accountant as a result of the accountant's
procedures, the accountant is not required to determine the effects of a depar-
ture; however, in such circumstances, the accountant should state in the re-
port that such determination has not been made by management. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.32 Ifthe accountant believes that modification of the compilation report is
not adequate to indicate the deficiencies in the financial statements as a whole,
the accountant should withdraw from the engagement and provide no further
services with respect to those financial statements. (Ref: par. .A23) [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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.33 The accountant should not modify the compilation report to include a
statement that the financial statements are not in conformity with the appli-
cable financial reporting framework. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Supplementary Information That Accompanies Financial
Statements and the Accountant’s Compilation Report Thereon

.34 When supplementary information accompanies financial statements
and the accountant's compilation report thereon, the accountant should clearly
indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, the accountant is taking with respect
to such information in either

a. a separate paragraph in the accountant's compilation report on
the financial statements or

b. aseparate report on the supplementary information.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Re-
vised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SSARS No. 23.]

.35 When the accountant has performed a compilation engagement with
respect to both the financial statements and the supplementary information,
the accountant should include a separate paragraph in the accountant's com-
pilation report on the financial statements or issue a separate report on the
supplementary information that states (Ref: par. .A41 and .A43)

a. the supplementary information is presented for purposes of ad-
ditional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements;

b. the supplementary information is the responsibility of manage-
ment;

c¢. thesupplementary information was subject to the compilation en-
gagement; and

d. the accountant has not audited or reviewed the supplementary
information and does not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor
provide any assurance on such information.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Re-
vised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SSARS No. 23.]

.36 When the accountant has performed a compilation engagement with
respect to the financial statements but the supplementary information was not
subject to the compilation engagement, the accountant should include a sepa-
rate paragraph in the accountant's compilation report on the financial state-
ments or issue a separate report on the supplementary information that states
(Ref: par. .A42—.A43)

a. the supplementary information is presented for purposes of ad-
ditional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements;

b. the supplementary information is the responsibility of manage-
ment; and

c¢. thesupplementary information was not subject to the compilation
engagement and the accountant does not express an opinion, a
conclusion, nor provide any assurance on such information.
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[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Re-
vised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SSARS No. 23.]

Required Supplementary Information

.37 With regard to the requirement in paragraph .34, with respect to re-
quired supplementary information, the accountant should include a separate
paragraph in the accountant's compilation report on the financial statements.
The other-matter paragraph should include language to explain the following
circumstances, as applicable: (Ref: par. .A44)

a. The required supplementary information is included, and the ac-
countant performed a compilation engagement on the required
supplementary information.

b. The required supplementary information is included, and the ac-
countant did not perform a compilation, review, or audit on the
required supplementary information.

c¢. The required supplementary information is omitted.

d. Some required supplementary information is missing, and some
is presented in accordance with the prescribed guidelines. (Ref:
par. .A45)

e. The accountant has identified departures from the prescribed
guidelines.

f The accountant has unresolved doubts about whether the re-
quired supplementary information is presented in accordance
with prescribed guidelines.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.38 If the entity has presented all or some of the required supplementary
information and the accountant did not perform a compilation engagement on
the required supplementary information, the separate paragraph in the ac-
countant's compilation report referred to in paragraph .34 should include the
following elements: (Ref: par. .A46)

a. A statement that [identify the applicable financial reporting
framework (for example, accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America)] requires that the [identify the
required supplementary information] be presented to supplement
the basic financial statements

b. A statement that such information, although not a part of the ba-
sic financial statements, is required by [identify designated ac-
counting standards-setter], who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial state-
ments in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical con-
text

c¢. A statement that the accountant did not perform a compilation,
review, or audit on the required supplementary information and
does not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assur-
ance on the information
d. If some of the required supplementary information is omitted:
i. A statement that management has omitted [description
of the missing required supplementary information] that

[identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for
example, accounting principles generally accepted in the
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United States of America)] require to be presented to sup-
plement the basic financial statements

ii. A statement that such missing information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by [iden-
tify designated accounting standards- setter], who consid-
ers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for plac-
ing the basic financial statements in an appropriate oper-
ational, economic, or historical context

e. If the measurement or presentation of the required supplemen-
tary information departs materially from the prescribed guide-
lines, a statement that material departures from prescribed
guidelines exist [describe the material departures from the appli-
cable financial reporting framework]

[ If the accountant has unresolved doubts about whether the re-
quired supplementary information is measured or presented in
accordance with prescribed guidelines, a statement that the ac-
countant has doubts about whether material modifications should
be made to the required supplementary information for it to be
presented in accordance with guidelines established by [identify
designated accounting standards-setter]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Re-
vised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SSARS No. 23.]

.39 If all the required supplementary information is omitted, the separate
paragraph in the accountant's compilation report should include the following
elements:

a. A statement that management has omitted [description of the
missing required supplementary information] that [identify the
applicable financial reporting framework (for example, account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America)]
require to be presented to supplement the basic financial state-
ments

b. A statement that such missing information, although not a part
of the basic financial statements, is required by [identify desig-
nated accounting standards-setter], who considers it to be an es-
sential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Documentation in a Compilation Engagement

.40 The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each
compilation engagement in sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding of
the work performed which, at a minimum, includes the following:

a. The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documen-
tation with management, as described in paragraphs .10-.11 (Ref:
par. .A14 and .A16)

b. A copy of the financial statements
c¢. A copy of the accountant's report
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01)

.Al If the accountant is engaged to perform a compilation on prospective
financial information or pro forma financial information, references in this sec-
tion to financial statements are to be taken as a reference to such other financial
information. [Paragraph added, effective for compilation reports on prospective
financial information dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

A2 AICPA Guide Prospective Financial Information (the guide) provides
comprehensive guidance regarding prospective financial information. Chapter
6, "Preparation Guidelines;" chapter 7, "Reasonably Objective Basis;" chapter
8, "Presentation Guidelines;" and chapter 9, "Illustrative Prospective Financial
Statements," of the guide establish the preparation and presentation guide-
lines for financial forecasts and financial projections. The guide also includes
information about the types and uses of prospective financial information. The
guide provides suitable criteria for the preparation and presentation of prospec-
tive financial information. The accountant is not prohibited from preparing
prospective financial information prepared and presented in accordance with
other suitable criteria. [Paragraph added, effective for compilation reports on
prospective financial information dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No.
23.]

.A3 Other historical financial information to which this section applies in-
cludes the following:

® Specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement,
such as schedules of rentals, royalties, profit participation, or pro-
vision for income taxes

® Supplementary information
® Required supplementary information

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective for compilation reports on
prospective financial information dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No.
23.]

.A4 In addition to the requirements of this section, in a compilation of pro
forma financial information, the accountant is also required to adhere to the
requirements of section 120, Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information.
[Paragraph added, effective for compilation reports on prospective financial in-
formation dated on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

Definitions (Ref: par. .05)

A5 Certain regulators, including state and local government legislators,
regulatory agencies, or departments, require financial statements to be pre-
pared in accordance with a financial reporting framework that is based on
GAAP but does not comply with all the requirements of GAAP. Such frame-
works are regulatory-bases of accounting, as defined in paragraph .05. In some
circumstances, however, the cash- or tax-basis of accounting may be permitted
by a regulator. For purposes of this section, the cash- and tax-bases of account-
ing are not regulatory-bases of accounting. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A6 Supplementary information includes additional details or explana-
tions of items in or related to the basic financial statements, consolidating infor-
mation, historical summaries of items extracted from the basic financial state-
ments, statistical data, and other material, some of which may be from sources
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outside the accounting system or outside the entity. [Paragraph added to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23]

.A7 Supplementary information may be prepared in accordance with an
applicable financial reporting framework, by regulatory or contractual require-
ments, in accordance with management's criteria, or in accordance with other
requirements. [Paragraph added to reflect conforming changes necessary due
to the issuance of SSARS No. 23]

Independence (Ref: par. .07)

.A8 The interpretations of the "Independence Rule" (ET sec. 1.200.001) of
the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct provide authoritative guidance with
respect to independence. It is in the public interest and, therefore, required by
this section, that the accountant modify the accountant's compilation report
when the accountant is not independent of the entity whose financial state-
ments are the subject of the compilation engagement. The AICPA Code of Pro-
fessional Conduct also defines independence as consisting of two elements, in-
dependence of mind and independence in appearance. Independence enhances
the accountant's ability to act with integrity and be objective. Independence
implies an impartiality that recognizes an obligation to be fair not only to man-
agement but also to users of the financial statements, who may rely upon the
accountant's compilation report. In the absence of an interpretation of the "In-
dependence Rule" that addresses a particular relationship or circumstance, a
member should apply the "Conceptual Framework for Independence" interpre-
tation (ET sec. 1.210.010). [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to
reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Compilation Engagements (Ref: par. .08)

.A9 A compilation in accordance with SSARSs is conducted on the premise
that management has acknowledged and understands that it has the respon-
sibility set out in paragraph .26¢ of section 60. The preparation of financial
statements, in whole or in part, is a nonattest service subject to the provisions
of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic of the "Independence Rule" (ET sec. 1.295).
To avoid misunderstanding, agreement is reached with management that it ac-
knowledges and understands that it has such responsibilities as part of agree-
ing and documenting the terms of the compilation engagement as required by
paragraphs .10-.11. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A10 Documents containing financial statements that may include an indi-
cation that such financial statements have been subjected to a compilation en-
gagement by the entity's accountant includes documents submitted to bonding
companies. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Agreement on Engagement Terms (Ref: par. .10-.11 and .40)

.Al11 Both management and the accountant have an interest in document-
ing the terms of the compilation engagement before the commencement of the
engagement to help avoid misunderstandings with respect to the engagement.

67

©2017, AICPA AR-C §80.A11



68 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

For example, it reduces the risk that management may inappropriately rely on
or expect the accountant to protect management against certain risks or per-
form certain functions, including those that are management's responsibility.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.Al12 The roles of management and those charged with governance in
agreeing upon the terms of the compilation engagement for the entity depend
on the governance structure of the entity and relevant law or regulation. De-
pending on the entity's structure, the agreement may be with management,
those charged with governance, or both. Nonetheless, when the agreement on
the terms of engagement is only with those charged with governance, in accor-
dance with paragraph .26¢ of section 60, the accountant is required to obtain
management's agreement that it acknowledges and understands its respon-
sibilities. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conform-
ing changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A13 When a third party has contracted for a compilation of the entity's
financial statements, agreeing the terms of the compilation with management
of the entity is necessary in order to establish that the preconditions for a com-
pilation are present. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.Al14 The understanding with management regarding the services to be
performed for compilation engagements is required by paragraph .10 to be in
a documented form, and, accordingly, an oral understanding is insufficient. An
engagement letter is the most common and usually the most convenient method
for documenting the understanding with management regarding the services
to be performed for compilation engagements. [Paragraph subsequently renum-
bered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23. Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective Oc-
tober 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A15 Although the accountant may prepare the financial statements, in
whole or in part, the financial statements are representations of management,
and the fairness of their presentation in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework is management's responsibility. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently
renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A16 Illustrative examples of engagement letters for a compilation engage-
ment are presented in exhibit A, "Illustrative Engagement Letters." [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s
Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .12)

.A17 The requirement that the accountant obtain an understanding of the
applicable financial reporting framework intended to be used in the prepara-
tion of the financial statements, and the significant accounting policies adopted
by management, does not prevent the accountant from accepting a compila-
tion engagement for an entity in an industry in which the accountant has no
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previous experience. The accountant may obtain such understanding, for exam-
ple, by consulting AICPA guides, industry publications, financial statements of
other entities in the industry, textbooks and periodicals, appropriate contin-
uing professional education, or individuals who are knowledgeable about the
framework or the industry. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to
reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Compilation Procedures (Ref: par. .14-.16, .26, and .32)

.A18 The accountant is not required to make inquiries or perform other
procedures to verify, corroborate, or review information supplied by the entity.
However, the accountant may have performed such inquiries or procedures and
the results of those inquiries or procedures, knowledge gained from prior en-
gagements, or the financial statements themselves may cause the accountant
to become aware that information provided by management is incorrect, in-
complete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October
2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS
No. 23.]

.A19 The financial statements may adequately refer to or describe the ap-
plicable financial reporting framework via

® the financial statement titles or

® the notes to the financial statements.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A20 Financial statements may be misleading, for example, if the applica-
ble financial reporting framework includes the premise that the financial state-
ments are prepared on the going concern basis, and undisclosed uncertainties
exist regarding the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If the accoun-
tant becomes aware that uncertainties exist regarding the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern, the accountant may suggest additional disclosures
concerning the entity's ability to continue as a going concern in order to avoid
the financial statements being misleading. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered,
October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
SSARS No. 23.]

.A21 Disclosure of items, such as an uncertainty, is not required in finan-
cial statements in which substantially all the disclosures required by the ap-
plicable financial reporting framework are omitted. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renum-
bered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23.]

A22 In circumstances addressed by the requirements of this section in
which withdrawal from the engagement is necessary, the responsibility to in-
form management of the reasons for withdrawing provides an opportunity to
explain the accountant's ethical obligations. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered,
October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
SSARS No. 23.]
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.A23 When making a determination about whether and how to withdraw
from an engagement, the accountant may wish to consult with legal counsel.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

The Accountant’s Compilation Report (Ref: par. .17)

.A24 The accountant's written report may become unattached from the
financial statements. To minimize the possibility that a user of the financial
statements may infer an unintended level of reliance on the financial state-
ments, the accountant may request that management include a reference on
each page of the financial statements to the accountant's written report. An ex-
ample of a reference to the accountant's written report included on each page
of the financial statements is "See Accountant's Report" or "See Accountant's
Compilation Report." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to re-
flect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

[.A25] [Paragraph deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A26 The city and state where the accountant practices may be indi-
cated on letterhead that contains the issuing office's city and state. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

A27 Tllustrative examples of accountant's compilation reports are pre-
sented in exhibit B, "Illustrative Examples of the Accountant's Compilation
Reports on Financial Statements." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October
2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS
No. 23]

The Accountant’s Compilation Report on Financial Statements
Prepared in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework
(Ref: par. .08, .18, and .20)

.A28 The description of the special purpose framework may be included in
the financial statement titles, in the notes to the financial statements, or oth-
erwise on the face of the financial statements. Although terms such as balance
sheet, statement of financial position, statement of income, statement of opera-
tions, and statement of cash flows, or similar unmodified titles, are generally
understood to be applicable only to financial statements that are intended to
present financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in accordance with
GAAP, such titles, with appropriate modification, may be used in connection
with financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work. Suitable financial statement titles for financial statements prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework include, but are not limited to

® a modified cash-basis financial statement that might be titled
— "Income Statement—Modified Cash-Basis," or
— "Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements."

® financial statements prepared in accordance with the tax-basis of
accounting that might be titled

— "Balance Sheet—Tax-Basis,"
— "Statement of Assets, Liabilities, and Equity—Tax-Basis,"
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— "Statement of Operations—Tax-Basis," or
— "Statement of Revenue and Expenses—Tax-Basis."

® a financial statement prepared in accordance with a regulatory-
basis of accounting that might be titled "Statement of Income—
Regulatory-Basis."

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A29 Financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose
framework need not include a summary of significant accounting policies or
a description about how the special purpose framework differs from GAAP if
such financial statements omit substantially all disclosures, and the omission of
substantially all disclosures is not, to the accountant's knowledge, undertaken
with the intention of misleading those who might reasonably be expected to use
such financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.A30 The description of how the special purpose framework differs from
GAAP ordinarily only includes the material differences between GAAP and the
special purpose framework. For example, if several items are accounted for dif-
ferently in accordance with the special purpose framework than they would
be in accordance with GAAP, but only the differences in how depreciation is
calculated are material, a brief description of the depreciation differences is all
that would be necessary, and the remaining differences need not be described or
quantified. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A31 Financial statements prepared when applying a special purpose
framework are not considered appropriate in form unless the financial state-
ments include informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP if the
financial statements contain items that are the same as, or similar to, those in
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently
renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A32 When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a
regulatory- or contractual-basis of accounting, the accountant is required by
paragraph .20b to describe the purpose for which the financial statements are
prepared or refer to a note in the financial statements that contains that infor-
mation. This is necessary to avoid misunderstandings when the financial state-
ments are used for purposes other than those for which they were intended. The
note to the financial statements may also describe any significant interpreta-
tions of the contract on which the financial statements are based. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent
(Ref: par. .22)

.A33 An example of a disclosure that an accountant may make to indicate
the accountant's lack of independence would be

I am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.
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[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A34 The accountant is not precluded from disclosing a description about
the reason(s) that the accountant's independence is impaired. The following are
examples of descriptions the accountant may use:

® ] am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as of
and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because I (a member
of the engagement team) had a direct financial interest in XYZ
Company.

® [ am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as
of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because an individ-
ual of my immediate family (an immediate family member of one
of the members of the engagement team) was employed by XYZ
Company.

® [ am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as
of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because I (we) per-
formed certain accounting services (the accountant may include a
specific description of those services) that impaired my (our) inde-
pendence.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A35 Illustrative examples of accountant's compilation reports when the
accountant's independence has been impaired are presented in exhibit B.2
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Reporting on Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All
the Disclosures Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework (Ref: par. .27)

.A36 When management elects to include disclosures about only a few
matters in the notes to the financial statements, such disclosures may be
labeled "Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by
[the applicable financial reporting framework] Are Not Included." [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A37 An illustrative example of an accountant's compilation report on
financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures required by the

2 Tllustration 4, "An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative Financial Statements Pre-
pared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America
When the Accountant's Independence Is Impaired, and the Accountant Determines to Not Disclose the
Reasons for the Independence Impairment" and illustration 5, "An Accountant's Compilation Report
on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the AICPA's Financial Reporting
Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities When the Accountant's Independence Has Been
Impaired Due to the Accountant Having a Financial Interest in the Entity, and the Accountant De-
cides to Disclose the Reasons for the Independence Impairment," of exhibit B, "Illustrative Examples
of the Accountant's Compilation Report on Financial Statements."
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applicable financial reporting framework is presented in exhibit B.? [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Reporting Known Departures From the Applicable Financial
Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .30 and .33)

.A38 The accountant is precluded from including a statement that the fi-
nancial statements are not in conformity with the applicable financial report-
ing framework because such a statement would be tantamount to expressing
an adverse opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Such an opinion can
be expressed only in the context of an audit engagement. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently
renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A39 An illustrative example of an accountant's compilation report on fi-
nancial statements that contain known departures from the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework that are not disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements is presented in exhibit B.* [Paragraph subsequently renumbered,
October 2016, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
SSARS No. 23. Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, Octo-
ber 2016.]

Supplementary Information That Accompanies Financial
Statements and the Accountant’s Compilation Report Thereon
(Ref: par. .34-.36)

[.A40] [Paragraph deleted to reflect conforming changes necessary due to
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A41 The following is an example of how an accountant may word a sepa-
rate paragraph in the accountant's compilation report addressing supplemen-
tary information when the accountant has performed a compilation engage-
ment on both the financial statements and the supplementary information:

The accompanying [identify the supplementary information] is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management. The supple-
mentary information was subject to our compilation engagement. I (We) have
not audited or reviewed the supplementary information and do not express an
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on such information.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered and revised, October 2016, to reflect conform-
ing changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

3 Tllustration 3, "An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative Financial Statements Pre-
pared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Accounting, and Management Has Elected to Omit Sub-
stantially All Disclosures Ordinarily Included in Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With
the Tax-Basis of Accounting," of exhibit B.

4 Tllustration 6, "An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative Financial Statements, and

the Accountant is Aware of Departures From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United
States of America," of exhibit B.
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.A42 The following is an example of how an accountant may word a sepa-
rate paragraph in the accountant's compilation report addressing supplemen-
tary information when the accountant has performed a compilation engage-
ment on the financial statements but has not performed a compilation on the
supplementary information:

The accompanying [identify the supplementary information] is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management. The supple-
mentary information was not subject to our compilation engagement. I (We) do
not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on such infor-
mation.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered and revised, October 2016, to reflect conform-
ing changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A43 Supplementary information may become unattached from the ac-
countant's compilation report. To minimize the possibility that a user of the
supplementary information may infer, through the accountant's association
with such information, an unintended level of reliance on it, the accountant
may request that management include a reference to the accountant's compi-
lation report on each page of the supplementary information. An example of a
reference to the accountant's compilation report included on each page of the
supplementary information is "See Accountant's Report" or "See Accountant's
Compilation Report." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered and revised, October 2016,
to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

Required Supplementary Information (Ref: par. .37-.38)

.A44 Examples of required supplementary information that may accom-
pany financial statements and the accountant's compilation report thereon in-
clude the following:

®  With respect to common interest realty associations, estimates of
current or future costs of major repairs and replacements of com-
mon property that will be required in the future as required by
FASB Accounting Standards Codification 972-235-50-3

® Management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison
statements as required by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Finan-
cial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—
for State and Local Governments

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered and revised, October 2016, to reflect conform-
ing changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A45 Prescribed guidelines are the authoritative guidelines established
by the designated accounting standards-setter for the methods of measure-
ment and presentation of the required supplementary information. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subse-
quently renumbered and revised, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]

.A46 Because the required supplementary information accompanies the
basic financial statements, the accountant's compilation report on the financial
statements includes a discussion of the responsibility taken by the accountant
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on that information. However, if the required supplementary information is
omitted by the entity, the accountant does not have a responsibility to present
that information. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered and revised, October 2016,
to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]
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A47

Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letters
(Ref: par. .A16)

Illustration 1—An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engagement
With Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Ac-
counting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

INlustration 2—An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engage-
ment With Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
With Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of
America, Except the Financial Statements Omit the Statement of Cash
Flows and Substantially All Disclosures Required by U.S. GAAP and in
Which the Accountant's Independence Is Impaired

Illustration 3—An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engagement
With Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the
Tax-Basis of Accounting

The illustrative engagement letters in this exhibit are intended as illustrations
that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined in Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. The engagement letter will
vary according to individual requirements and circumstances, and the illustra-
tions are drafted to refer to a compilation engagement for a single reporting
period. The accountant may seek legal advice about whether a proposed letter
is suitable.

lllustration 1—An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engagement With
Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the financial
statements, including related notes, subject to the compilation en-
gagement.

® The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and will include all related notes required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America

® The accountant expects that his or her independence will not be
impaired

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company:!

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to refer to
the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A12.
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You? have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Company,
which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and perform
a compilation engagement with respect to those financial statements.?,* We are
pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this engagement
by means of this letter.

Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

a. prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America based
on information provided by you and

b. apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in
the presentation of financial statements without undertaking to
obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modi-
fications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We will conduct our compilation engagement in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with
the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of
integrity, objectivity, professional competence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information you will provide to us for the engagement or otherwise gather
evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. Accordingly,
we will not express an opinion or a conclusion nor provide any assurance on the
financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by fraud or error, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations.

Your Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that you acknowl-
edge and understand that our role is to prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and assist you in the presentation of the financial statements in ac-
cordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. You have the following overall responsibilities that are fundamental
to our undertaking the engagement in accordance with SSARSs:

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant
would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 If the accountant is to be engaged to prepare financial statements that omit the statement of
cash flows and the related notes and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those fi-
nancial statements, the sentence may be revised to read, "You have requested that we prepare the
financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX,
and the related statements of income and changes in stockholders' equity, and perform a compilation
engagement with respect to those financial statements." The following additional sentence may then
be added: "These financial statements will not include a statement of cash flows and related notes to
the financial statements."

4 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement,
such as income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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a. The selection of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as the financial reporting framework to
be applied in the preparation of the financial statements

b. The preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and the inclusion of all informative dis-
closures that are appropriate for accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America

c¢. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

d. The prevention and detection of fraud

e. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities

f The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the engagement

g.  To provide us with

i. access to all information of which you are aware is rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-
cial statements, such as records, documentation, and other
matters

ii. additional information that we may request from you for
the purpose of the compilation engagement

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity of whom
we determine it necessary to make inquiries

You are also responsible for all management decisions and responsibilities and
for designating an individual with suitable skills, knowledge, and experience
to oversee our preparation of your financial statements. You are responsible for
evaluating the adequacy and results of the services performed and accepting
responsibility for such services.

Our Report

As part of our engagement, we will issue a report that will state that we did
not audit or review the financial statements and that, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them.

You agree to include our accountant's compilation report in any document con-
taining financial statements that indicates that we have performed a compi-
lation engagement on such financial statements and, prior to inclusion of the
report, to ask our permission to do so.

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services. . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding limita-
tion of or other arrangements regarding the liability of the accountant or the en-
tity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from knowing
misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may restrict
or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorney's fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
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third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to pre-
pare the financial statements described herein and to perform a compilation en-
gagement with respect to those same financial statements, and our respective
responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter
elements.]

lllustration 2— An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engagement With
Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America, Except the
Financial Statements Omit the Statement of Cash Flows and Substantially All
Disclosures Required by U.S. GAAP and in Which the Accountant’s
Independence Is Impaired

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the financial
statements subject to the compilation engagement.

® The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, except the statement of cash flows and substantially all
disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America will be omitted.

® The accountant's independence will be impaired as a result of the
performance of the nonattest preparation service.

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company:!

You? have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Company,
which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income and changes in stockholders' equity for the year then
ended, and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those financial
statements.® These financial statements will not include a statement of cash

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to refer to
the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A12.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant
would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement,
such as income tax preparation and bookkeeping service.

79

©2017, AICPA AR-C §80.A47



80 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

flows and related notes to the financial statements. We are pleased to confirm
our acceptance and our understanding of this engagement by means of this
letter.

Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

a. prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America based
on information provided by you and

b. apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in
the presentation of financial statements without undertaking to
obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modi-
fications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We will conduct our compilation engagement in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with
the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of
integrity, objectivity, professional competence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information you will provide to us for the engagement or otherwise gather
evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. Accordingly,
we will not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the
financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by fraud or error, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations.

Your Responsibilities

The compilation engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that you
acknowledge and understand that our role is to prepare financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America and assist you in the presentation of the financial statements in ac-
cordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. You have the following overall responsibilities that are fundamental
to our undertaking the engagement in accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as the financial reporting framework to
be applied in the preparation of the financial statements

b. The preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America

c¢. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

d. The prevention and detection of fraud

e. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities
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f The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the engagement

g To provide us with

i. access to all information of which you are aware is rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-
cial statements, such as records, documentation, and other
matters

ii. additional information that we may request from you for
the purpose of the compilation engagement

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity of whom
we determine it necessary to make inquiries

Our Report

As part of our engagement, we will issue a report that will state that we did
not audit or review the financial statements and that, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them. We will
disclose that we are not independent in our report.

You agree to include our accountant's compilation report in any document con-
taining financial statements that indicates that we have performed a compi-
lation engagement on such financial statements and, prior to inclusion of the
report, to ask our permission to do so.

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services. . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding lim-
itation of, or other arrangements regarding, the liability of the accountant or
the entity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from
knowing misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may
restrict or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorneys' fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to pre-
pare the financial statements described herein and to perform a compilation en-
gagement with respect to those same financial statements, and our respective
responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter
elements.]
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lllustration 3—An Engagement Letter for a Compilation Engagement With
Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis
of Accounting

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the financial
statements subject to the compilation engagement.

® The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the
tax-basis of accounting.

® The accountant expects that his or her independence will not be
impaired.

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company:!

You? have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Com-
pany, which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities, and equity—tax-basis
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of operations and related
earnings—tax-basis, and cash flows—tax-basis for the year then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements and perform a compilation en-
gagement with respect to those financial statements.® 4 We are pleased to con-
firm our acceptance and our understanding of this compilation engagement by
means of this letter.

Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

a. prepare financial statements in accordance with the tax-basis of
accounting based on information provided by you and

b. apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in
the presentation of financial statements without undertaking to
obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modi-
fications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with the tax-basis of accounting.

We will conduct our compilation engagement in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with
the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of
integrity, objectivity, professional competence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information you will provide to us for the engagement or otherwise gather
evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. Accordingly,

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to refer to
the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A12.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant

would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 If the accountant is to be engaged to prepare financial statements that omit the statement of
cash flows—tax-basis and the related notes and perform a compilation engagement with respect to
those financial statements, the sentence may be revised to read, "You have requested that we pre-
pare the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities,
and equity—tax-basis as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statement of operations and retained
earnings—tax-basis, and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those financial state-
ments." The following additional sentence may then be added: "These financial statements will not
include a statement of cash flows—tax-basis and related notes to the financial statements."

4 The accountant may include nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement, such
as income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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we will not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the
financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by fraud or error, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations.

Your Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that you acknowl-
edge and understand that our role is to prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with the tax-basis of accounting and assist you in the presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with the tax-basis of accounting. You have
the following overall responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking
the engagement in accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of the tax-basis of accounting as the financial report-
ing framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial
statements

b. The preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in
accordance with the tax-basis of accounting

c¢.  Theinclusion of all informative disclosures that is appropriate for
the tax-basis of accounting. This includes

i. a description of the tax-basis of accounting, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, and how the
tax-basis of accounting differs from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, the ef-
fects of which need not be quantified and

ii. informative disclosures similar to those required by ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.®

d. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

s

The prevention and detection of fraud

f To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities

g The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the compilation engagement

h. To provide us with

i. access to all information of which you are aware is rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-
cial statements, such as records, documentation, and other
matters

ii. additional information that we may request from you for
the purpose of the compilation engagement

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity of whom
we determine it necessary to make inquiries

5 The responsibility described in ¢ need not be included if the financial statements omit substan-
tially all disclosures required by the financial reporting framework.
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You are also responsible for all management decisions and responsibilities and
for designating an individual with suitable skills, knowledge, and experience
to oversee our preparation of your financial statements. You are responsible for
evaluating the adequacy and results of the services performed and accepting
responsibility for such services.

Our Report

As part of our engagement, we will issue a report that will state that we did
not audit or review the financial statements and that, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them.

You agree to include our accountant's compilation report in any document con-
taining financial statements that indicates that we have performed a compi-
lation engagement on such financial statements and, prior to inclusion of the
report, to ask our permission to do so.

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services. . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding lim-
itation of, or other arrangements regarding, the liability of the accountant or
the entity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from
knowing misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may
restrict or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorneys' fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to
prepare the financial statements described herein and perform a compilation
engagement with respect to those same financial statements and our respective
responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23. Revised, February 2015, to in-
clude additional required engagement letter elements.]
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A48

Exhibit B—Illlustrative Examples of the Accountant’s
Compilation Report on Financial Statements

(Ref: par. .A27, .A35, .A37, and .A39)

Illustration 1—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Princi-
ples Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Illustration 2—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the AICPA's Finan-
cial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities

Illustration 3—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of
Accounting, and Management Has Elected to Omit Substantially All
Disclosures Ordinarily Included in Financial Statements Prepared in
Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Accounting

INlustration 4—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Princi-
ples Generally Accepted in the United States of America When the Ac-
countant's Independence Is Impaired, and the Accountant Determines
to Not Disclose the Reasons for the Independence Impairment

Illustration 5—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the AICPA's Finan-
cial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities When
the Accountant's Independence Has Been Impaired Due to the Accoun-
tant Having a Financial Interest in the Entity, and the Accountant De-
cides to Disclose the Reason for the Independence Impairment

Illustration 6—An Accountant's Compilation Report on Comparative
Financial Statements, and the Accountant Is Aware of Departures
From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of
America

lllustration 1—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in the United States of America

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. I (We) have performed compilation engagements in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
I (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I (we)
required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of
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the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriatel
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's report]

lllustration 2—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With the AICPA’s Financial Reporting
Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the statements of financial position as of December
31, 20X2 and 20X1 and the related statements of operations and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements in
accordance with the AICPA's Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and
Medium-Sized Entities, and for determining that the AICPA's Financial Re-
porting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities is an acceptable fi-
nancial reporting framework. I (We) have performed compilation engagements
in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Ser-
vices promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
AICPA. 1 (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I
(we) required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness
of the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

I (We) draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the
basis of accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the AICPA's Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized En-
tities, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's report]

lllustration 3—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Accounting, and
Management Has Elected to Omit Substantially All Disclosures Ordinarily
Included in Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis
of Accounting

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Partnership, which comprise the statements of assets, liabilities, and partners'
capital—tax-basis as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1 and the related state-
ments of revenue and expenses—tax-basis, and changes in partners' capital—
tax-basis for the years then ended in accordance with the tax-basis of account-
ing, and for determining that the tax-basis of accounting is an acceptable finan-
cial reporting framework. I (We) have performed compilation engagements in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
I (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I (we)
required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
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an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the tax-basis of ac-
counting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America.

Management has elected to omit substantially all the disclosures ordinarily
included in financial statements prepared in accordance with the tax-basis of
accounting. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial statements,
they might influence the user's conclusions about the company's assets, liabil-
ities, equity, revenue, and expenses. Accordingly, the financial statements are
not designed for those who are not informed about such matters.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's report]

lllustration 4—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in the United States of America When the Accountant’s Independence
Is Impaired, and the Accountant Determines to Not Disclose the Reasons for the
Independence Impairment

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. I (We) have performed compilation engagements in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
I (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I (we)
required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.
[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's report]

lllustration 5—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With the AICPA’s Financial Reporting
Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities When the Accountant’s
Independence Has Been Impaired Due to the Accountant Having a Financial
Interest in the Entity, and the Accountant Decides to Disclose the Reason for the
Independence Impairment

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the statements of financial position as of December
31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of operations and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements in
accordance with the AICPA's Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and
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Medium-Sized Entities, and for determining that the AICPA's Financial Re-
porting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities is an acceptable fi-
nancial reporting framework. I (We) have performed compilation engagements
in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Ser-
vices promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
AICPA. I (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I
(we) required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness
of the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

I (We) draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the
basis of accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the AICPA's Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized En-
tities, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as during the year
ended December 31, 20X2, I (a member of the engagement team) had a direct
financial interest in XYZ Company.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's report]

lllustration 6—An Accountant’s Compilation Report on Comparative Financial
Statements, and the Accountant Is Aware of Departures From Accounting
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. I (We) have performed compilation engagements in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
I (We) did not audit or review the financial statements nor was (were) I (we)
required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial
statements.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America re-
quire that land be stated at cost. Management has informed me (us) that XYZ
Company has stated its land at appraised value and that if accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America had been followed, the
land account and stockholders' equity would have been decreased by $500,000.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriatel
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's report]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Para-
graph subsequently renumbered, October 2016, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23.]
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AR-C Section 90
Review of Financial Statements

Source: SSARS No. 21; SSARS No. 23.

Effective for reviews of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2015, unless otherwise indicated.

Introduction

Scope and Applicability of This Section

.01 This section applies when the accountant is engaged to perform a re-
view of financial statements. This section also applies when the accountant is
engaged to review other historical financial information, excluding pro forma
financial information. Reviews of pro forma financial information are to be
performed in accordance with Statements on Standards for Attestation En-
gagements. (Ref: par. .A1-.A3) [As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS
No. 23.]

.02 This section does not apply when the accountant is engaged to review
interim financial information when

a. the entity's latest annual financial statements have been audited
by the accountant or a predecessor;

b. the accountant either

i. has been engaged to audit the entity's current year finan-
cial statements or

ii. audited the entity's latest annual financial statements
and, in situations in which it is expected that the current
year financial statements will be audited, the engagement
of another accountant to audit the current year financial
statements is not effective prior to the beginning of the pe-
riod covered by the review; and

c¢. the entity prepares its interim financial information in accor-
dance with the same financial reporting framework as that used
to prepare the annual financial statements.

AU-C section 930, Interim Financial Information, provides guidance for review
engagements when the conditions in a—c are met.

Effective Date

.03 This section is effective for reviews of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2015. Early implementation is permitted.

Objective

.04 The objective of the accountant when performing a review of financial
statements is to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether the
accountant is aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
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financial statements for them to be in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework, primarily through the performance of inquiry and
analytical procedures. (Ref: par. .A4—.A9)

Definitions

.05 For purposes of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services (SSARSSs), the following terms have the meanings attributed as fol-
lows:

Analytical procedures. Evaluations of financial information through
analysis of plausible relationships among both financial and nonfinan-
cial data. Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation, as
is necessary, of identified fluctuations or relationships that are incon-
sistent with other relevant information or that differ from expected
values by a significant amount.

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting
framework adopted by management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance in the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the
entity and the objective of the financial statements, or that is required
by law or regulation.

Comparative financial statements. A complete set of financial state-
ments for one or more prior periods included for comparison with the
financial statements of the current period.

Designated accounting standard-setter. A body designated by the
Council of the AICPA to promulgate accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America pursuant to the "Compli-
ance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the "Accounting
Principles Rule" (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional
Conduct.

Emphasis-of-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the accoun-
tant's review report that is required by SSARSSs, or is included at the
accountant's discretion, and that refers to a matter appropriately pre-
sented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant's
professional judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to
the users' understanding of the financial statements.

Error. Mistakes in the financial statements, including arithmetical or cler-
ical mistakes, and mistakes in the application of accounting principles,
including inadequate disclosures.

Experienced accountant. An individual (whether internal or external
to the firm) who has practical review experience and a reasonable un-
derstanding of

a. review processes;

b. SSARSs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
c. the business environment in which the entity operates; and
d

. review and financial reporting issues relevant to the entity's
industry.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine
measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material
items appearing in the financial statements (for example, accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America [U.S.
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GAAP], International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board, or a special purpose
framework).

Financial statements. A structured representation of historical finan-
cial information, including related notes, intended to communicate an
entity's economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the
changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial re-
porting framework. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The term financial statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of
financial statements as determined by the requirements of the appli-
cable financial reporting framework but can also refer to a single fi-
nancial statement.

Fraud. An intentional act that results in a misstatement in financial state-
ments.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). References to
GAAP in SSARSs means generally accepted accounting principles pro-
mulgated by bodies designated by the Council of the AICPA pursuant
to the "Compliance With Standards Rule" (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the
"Accounting Principles Rule" (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of
Professional Conduct.

Historical financial information. Information expressed in financial
terms regarding a particular entity, derived primarily from that en-
tity's accounting system, about economic events occurring in past time
periods or about economic conditions or circumstances at points in
time in the past.

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the con-
duct of the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes
some or all of those charged with governance, for example, executive
members of a governance board or an owner-manager.

Misstatement. A difference between the amount, classification, presen-
tation, or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the
amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for
the item to be presented fairly in accordance with the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error.

Misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifica-
tions, presentations, or disclosures that, in the accountant's profes-
sional judgment, are necessary for the financial statements to be pre-
sented fairly, in all material respects.

Noncompliance. Acts of omission or commission by the entity, either in-
tentional or unintentional, which are contrary to the prevailing laws
or regulations. Such acts include transactions entered into, by, or in the
name of, the entity or on its behalf by those charged with governance,
management, or employees. Noncompliance does not include personal
misconduct (unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by those
charged with governance, management, or employees of the entity.

Other-matter paragraph. A paragraph included in the accountant's
review report that is required by SSARSSs, or is included at the ac-
countant's discretion, and that refers to a matter other than those
presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accoun-
tant's professional judgment, is relevant to users' understanding of the

©2017, AICPA AR-C §90.05



92 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

review, the accountant's responsibilities, or the accountant's review re-
port.

Report release date. The date the accountant grants the entity permis-
sion to use the accountant's review report in connection with the fi-
nancial statements.

Required supplementary information. Information that a designated
accounting standards-setter requires to accompany an entity's basic
financial statements. Required supplementary information is not part
of the basic financial statements; however, a designated accounting
standards-setter considers the information to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an ap-
propriate operational, economic, or historical context. In addition, au-
thoritative guidelines for the methods of measurement and presenta-
tion of the information have been established.

Review documentation. The record of review procedures performed,
relevant review evidence obtained, and conclusions the accountant
reached (terms such as working papers or workpapers are also some-
times used).

Review evidence. Information used by the accountant to provide a rea-
sonable basis for obtaining limited assurance.

Special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework other
than GAAP that is one of the following bases of accounting:

a. Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record
cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording de-
preciation on fixed assets).

b. Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its
tax return for the period covered by the financial statements.

c¢. Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with the requirements or financial reporting provi-
sions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is
subject (for example, a basis of accounting that insurance com-
panies use pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by a state insurance commission). (Ref: par. .A10)

d. Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses
to comply with an agreement between the entity and one or
more third parties other than the accountant.

e. Other-basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of
logical, reasonable criteria that is applied to all material items
appearing in financial statements.

The cash-basis, tax-basis, regulatory-basis, and other-basis of account-
ing are commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of account-

ing.
Specified parties. The intended users of the accountant's review report.

Subsequent events. Events occurring between the date of the financial
statements and the date of the accountant's review report.

Subsequently discovered facts. Facts that become known to the accoun-
tant after the date of the accountant's review report that, had they
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been known to the accountant at that date, may have caused the ac-
countant to revise the accountant's review report.

Supplementary information. Information presented outside the basic
financial statements, excluding required supplementary information,
that is not considered necessary for the financial statements to be
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial report-
ing framework. Such information may be presented in a document
containing the reviewed financial statements or separate from the re-
viewed financial statements. (Ref: par. A11-.A12)

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for
example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the
strategic direction of the entity and the obligations related to the ac-
countability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial report-
ing process. Those charged with governance may include management
personnel (for example, executive members of a governance board or
an owner-manager).

Updated report. A report issued by a continuing accountant that takes
into consideration information that the accountant becomes aware of
during the accountant's current engagement and that re-expresses the
accountant's previous conclusions or, depending on the circumstances,
expresses different conclusions on the financial statements of a prior
period reviewed by the accountant as of the date of the accountant's
current report.

Written representation. A written statement by management provided
to the accountant to confirm certain matters or to support other re-
view evidence. Written representations in this context do not include
financial statements, the assertions therein, or supporting books and
records.

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Requirements

General Principles for Performing and Reporting
on Review Engagements

.06 In addition to complying with this section, an accountant is required
to comply with section 60, General Principles for Engagements Performed in
Accordance With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

Independence

.07 The accountant must be independent of the entity when performing a
review of financial statements in accordance with SSARSs. If, during the per-
formance of the review engagement, the accountant determines that the ac-
countant's independence is impaired, the accountant should withdraw from the
review engagement. (Ref: par. . A13-.A14)

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
and Review Engagements

.08 The accountant should not accept a review engagement if, in addi-
tion to the requirements in paragraph .25 of section 60, management or those
charged with governance impose a limitation on the scope of the accountant's
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work in terms of a proposed review engagement such that the accountant be-
lieves the limitation will result in the accountant being unable to perform re-
view procedures to provide an adequate basis for issuing a review report.

.09 As a condition for accepting an engagement to review an entity's finan-
cial statements, in addition to the requirements in paragraph .26 of section 60,
the accountant should obtain the agreement of management that it acknowl-
edges and understands its responsibility

a. for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework and the inclusion of all informative disclosures that
are appropriate for the applicable financial reporting framework
used to prepare the entity's financial statements. If the financial
statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose
framework, this includes (Ref: par. .A15)

i. a description of the special purpose framework, including
a summary of significant accounting policies, and how the
framework differs from GAAP, the effect of which need not
be quantified, and informative disclosures similar to those
required by GAAP in the case of special purpose finan-
cial statements that contain items that are the same as,
or similar to, those in financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with GAAP, (Ref: par. .A81)

ii. a description of any significant interpretations of the con-
tract on which the special purpose financial statements are
prepared in the case of financial statements prepared in
accordance with a contractual-basis of accounting, and

iii. additional disclosures beyond those specifically required
by the framework that may be necessary for the special
purpose framework to achieve fair presentation.

b. to provide the accountant, at the conclusion of the engagement,
with a letter that confirms certain representations made during
the review.

c¢. to include the accountant's review report in any document con-
taining financial statements that indicates that such financial
statements have been reviewed by the entity's accountant unless
a different understanding is reached. (Ref: par. .A16)

.10 If the accountant is not satisfied about any of the matters set out in
paragraph .26 of section 60 or paragraph .09 of this section as preconditions for
accepting a review engagement, the accountant should discuss the matter with
management or those charged with governance. If changes cannot be made to
satisfy the accountant about those matters, the accountant should not accept
the proposed engagement.

Agreement on Engagement Terms

.11 The accountant should agree upon the terms of the engagement with
management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. The agreed-
upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an engagement letter
or other suitable form of written agreement between the parties and should
include the following: (Ref: par. .A17—-.A22)

a. The objectives of the engagement

b. The responsibilities of management set forth in paragraph .26¢ of
section 60 and paragraph .09 of this section
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c¢. The responsibilities of the accountant
d. The limitations of a review engagement

e. Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for
the preparation of the financial statements

f  The expected form and content of the accountant's review report
and a statement that there may be circumstances in which the
report may differ from its expected form and content

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.12 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement
should be signed by

a. the accountant or the accountant's firm and

b. management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.
(Ref: par. .A18)

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Communication With Management and Those Charged
With Governance

.13 The accountant should communicate with management or those
charged with governance, as appropriate, on a timely basis during the course of
the review engagement, all matters concerning the review engagement that, in
the accountant's professional judgment, are of significant importance to merit
the attention of management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.
(Ref: par. .A23-.A29)

Understanding of the Industry

.14 To perform the review engagement, the accountant should possess or
obtain an understanding of the industry in which the entity operates, includ-
ing the accounting principles and practices generally used in the industry, suf-
ficient to enable the accountant to review financial statements that are appro-
priate for an entity operating in that industry. (Ref: par. .A30)

Knowledge of the Entity

.15 The accountant should obtain knowledge about the entity, including
an understanding of

a. the entity's business and
b. the accounting principles and practices used by the entity

sufficient to identify areas in the financial statements where there is a greater
likelihood that material misstatements may arise and to be able to design pro-
cedures to address those areas. (Ref: par. .A31-.A32)

.16 In obtaining the understanding of the entity's accounting policies and
practices, the accountant should be alert to accounting policies and procedures
that, based on the accountant's knowledge of the industry, are unusual.

Designing and Performing Review Procedures

.17 The accountant should design and perform analytical procedures and
make inquiries and perform other procedures, as appropriate, to obtain limited
assurance as a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware of any ma-
terial modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order

95
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for the statements to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework based on the accountant's (Ref: par. .A33)

a. understanding of the industry,
b. knowledge of the entity, and

c. awareness of the risk that the accountant may unknowingly fail
to modify the accountant's review report on financial statements
that are materially misstated. (Ref: par. .A34)

.18 The accountant should focus the analytical procedures and inquiries in
those areas where the accountant believes there are increased risks of material
misstatements.

Analytical Procedures

.19 The accountant should apply analytical procedures to the financial
statements to identify and provide a basis for inquiry about the relationships
and individual items that appear to be unusual and that may indicate a ma-
terial misstatement. Such analytical procedures should include the following:
(Ref: par. .A35-.A37)

a. Comparing the financial statements with comparable informa-
tion for the prior period, giving consideration to knowledge about
changes in the entity's business and specific transactions

b. Considering plausible relationships among both financial and,
when relevant, nonfinancial information (Ref: par. .A38)

c¢. Comparing recorded amounts or ratios developed from recorded
amounts to expectations developed by the accountant through
identifying and using relationships that are reasonably expected
to exist, based on the accountant's understanding of the entity
and the industry in which the entity operates (Ref: par. .A39)

d. Comparing disaggregated revenue data, as applicable (Ref: par.
.A40)

.20 When designing and performing analytical procedures, the accountant
should (Ref: par. .A41)

a. determine the suitability of particular analytical procedures;

b.  consider the reliability of data from which the accountant's ex-
pectation of recorded amounts or ratios is developed, taking into
account the source, comparability, and nature and relevance of
information available;

c¢. develop an expectation of recorded amounts or ratios and evalu-
ate whether the expectation is sufficiently precise to provide the
accountant with limited assurance that a misstatement will be
identified that, either individually or when aggregated with other
misstatements, may cause the financial statements to be materi-
ally misstated; and

d. determine the amount of any difference of recorded amounts from
expected values that is acceptable without further investigation
as required by paragraph .21 and compare the recorded amounts,
or ratios developed from recorded amounts, with the expectations.

Investigating Results of Analytical Procedures

.21 If analytical procedures identify fluctuations or relationships that are
inconsistent with other relevant information or that differ from expected values
by a significant amount, the accountant should investigate such differences by
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inquiring of management and

performing other review procedures if considered necessary in the
circumstances. (Ref: par. .A42)

Inquiries of Members of Management Who Have Responsibility
for Financial and Accounting Matters

.22 The accountant should inquire of members of management who have
responsibility for financial and accounting matters concerning the financial
statements about (Ref: par. .A43)

a.

3~ >

©2017, AICPA

whether the financial statements have been prepared and fairly
presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework consistently applied.

unusual or complex situations that may have an effect on the fi-
nancial statements. (Ref: par. .A44)

significant transactions occurring or recognized during the pe-
riod, particularly those in the last several days of the period.

the status of uncorrected misstatements identified during the pre-
vious review (that is, whether adjustments had been recorded
subsequent to the periods covered by the prior review and, if so,
the amounts recorded and period in which such adjustments were
recorded).

matters about which questions have arisen in the course of apply-
ing the review procedures.

events subsequent to the date of the financial statements that
could have a material effect on the fair presentation of such fi-
nancial statements.

its knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity
involving
i. management,
ii. employees who have significant roles in internal control,
or
iii. others, when the fraud could have a material effect on the
financial statements. (Ref: par. .A45)

whether management is aware of allegations of fraud or sus-
pected fraud affecting the entity communicated by employees, for-
mer employees, regulators, or others.

whether management has disclosed to the accountant all known
instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with
laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements.

significant journal entries and other adjustments.
communications from regulatory agencies, if applicable.
related parties and significant new related party transactions.

any litigation, claims, and assessments that existed at the date of
the balance sheet being reported on and during the period from
the balance sheet date to the date of management's response to
the accountant's inquiry.

whether management believes that significant assumptions used
by it in making accounting estimates are reasonable.

AR-C §90.
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o. actions taken at meetings of stockholders, the board of directors,
committees of the board of directors, or comparable meetings that
may affect the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A46)

p. any other matters that the accountant may consider necessary.

.23 The accountant should consider the reasonableness and consistency of
management's responses in light of the results of other review procedures and
the accountant's knowledge of the entity's business. However, the accountant
is not required to corroborate management's responses with other evidence.

Reading the Financial Statements

.24 The accountant should read the financial statements and consider
whether any information has come to the accountant's attention to indicate
that such financial statements do not conform to the applicable financial re-
porting framework.

Using the Work of Other Accountants

.25 If other accountants have issued a report on the financial statements
of significant components, such as subsidiaries and investees, the accountant
should obtain and read reports from such other accountants.

Reconciling the Financial Statements to the Underlying
Accounting Records

.26 The accountant should obtain evidence that the financial statements
agree or reconcile with the accounting records. (Ref: par. .A47)

Evaluating Evidence Obtained From the Procedures Performed

.27 The accountant should accumulate misstatements, including inade-
quate disclosure, identified by the accountant in performing the review pro-
cedures or brought to the accountant's attention during the performance of the
review.

.28 The accountant should evaluate, individually and in the aggregate,
misstatements, including inadequate disclosure, accumulated in accordance
with paragraph .27 to determine whether material modification should be made
to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework. (Ref: par. .A6 and .A48-.A49)

.29 If, during the performance of review procedures, the accountant be-
comes aware that information coming to the accountant's attention is incorrect,
incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory, the accountant should

a. request that management consider the effect of those matters on
the financial statements and communicate the results of its con-
sideration to the accountant and

b.  consider the results communicated to the accountant by manage-
ment and whether such results indicate that the financial state-
ments may be materially misstated.

.30 If the accountant believes that the financial statements may be mate-
rially misstated, the accountant should perform additional procedures deemed
necessary to obtain limited assurance that there are no material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements in order for the statements to
be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
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.31 The accountant should evaluate whether sufficient appropriate review
evidence has been obtained from the procedures performed and, if not, the ac-
countant should perform other procedures judged by the accountant to be nec-
essary in the circumstances to be able to form a conclusion on the financial
statements. (Ref: par. .A50)

Written Representations

Written Representations as Review Evidence

.32 Written representations are necessary information that the accountant
requires in connection with a review of the entity's financial statements. Ac-
cordingly, similar to responses to inquiries, written representations are review
evidence. (Ref: par. .A51)

Management From Whom Written Representations Are Requested

.33 The accountant should request written representations from members
of management who have appropriate responsibilities for the financial state-
ments and knowledge of the matters concerned. (Ref: par. .A52—.A53)

Specific Written Representations

.34 For all financial statements presented and all periods covered by the
review, the accountant should request management to provide written repre-
sentations that are dated as of the date of the accountant's review report stating
that (Ref: par. .A55-.A61)

a. management has fulfilled its responsibility for the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework, as set out in
the terms of the engagement.

b. management acknowledges its responsibility for designing, im-
plementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements, includ-
ing its responsibility to prevent and detect fraud.

c¢.  management has provided the accountant with all relevant in-
formation and access, as agreed upon in the terms of the engage-
ment.

d. management has responded fully and truthfully to all of the ac-
countant's inquiries

e. alltransactions have been recorded and are reflected in the finan-
cial statements.

f management has disclosed to the accountant its knowledge of
fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving

i. management,

ii. employees who have significant roles in internal control,
or

iii. others, when the fraud could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

g.  management has disclosed to the accountant its knowledge of any
allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity's finan-
cial statements communicated by employees, former employees,
regulators, or others.
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h. management has disclosed to the accountant all known instances
of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and reg-
ulations whose effects should be considered when preparing fi-
nancial statements.

i. whether management believes that the effects of uncorrected mis-
statements are immaterial, individually and in the aggregate, to
the financial statements as a whole. A summary of such items
should be included in, or attached to, the written representation.

J. management has disclosed to the accountant all known actual or
possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements, and it has appropriately
accounted for and disclosed such litigation and claims in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

k. whether management believes that significant assumptions used
by it in making accounting estimates are reasonable.

l.  management has disclosed to the accountant the identity of the
entity's related parties and all of the related party relationships
and transactions of which it is aware, and it has appropriately
accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions.

m. all events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial state-
ments and for which the applicable financial reporting framework
requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

.35 If, in addition to the representations required by paragraph .34, the
accountant determines that it is necessary to obtain one or more written rep-
resentations to support other review evidence relevant to the financial state-
ments, the accountant should request such other written representations. (Ref:
par. .A62)

Form of Written Representations

.36 The written representations should be in the form of a representation
letter addressed to the accountant. (Ref: par. .A63—.A64)

Concerns About the Reliability of Written Representations and Requested
Written Representations Not Provided

.37 If] in relation to the written representations required by paragraphs
.34-35

management does not provide the written representations, or

b. the accountant concludes that there is cause to doubt manage-
ment's integrity such that the written representations provided
are not reliable

the accountant should discuss the matter with management and those charged
with governance, as appropriate. If management does not provide the required
representations or the accountant continues to doubt management's integrity
such that the written representations provided may not be reliable, the accoun-
tant should withdraw from the engagement.

Reporting on the Financial Statements

.38 The accountant's review report should be in writing. (Ref: par. .A65—
A67)
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Accountant’s Review Report
.39 The written review report should include (Ref: par. .A80)

a. atitle that includes the word independent to clearly indicate that
it is the report of an independent accountant. (Ref: par. .A68)

b. an addressee, as appropriate for the circumstances of the engage-
ment. (Ref: par. .A69)

c¢. anintroductory paragraph that (Ref: par. . A70-.A72)

i. identifies the entity whose financial statements have been
reviewed,

ii. statesthat the financial statements identified in the report
were reviewed,

iii. identifies the financial statements,

iv. specifies the date or period covered by each financial state-
ment,

v. includes a statement that a review includes primarily ap-
plying analytical procedures to management's (owner's) fi-
nancial data and making inquiries of company manage-
ment (owners), and

vi. includes a statement that a review is substantially less in
scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expres-
sion of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a
whole, and that, accordingly, the accountant does not ex-
press such an opinion.

d. asection with the heading "Management's Responsibility for the
Financial Statements" that includes an explanation that manage-
ment is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework; this responsibility includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control sufficient
to provide a reasonable basis for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of financial statements in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework. (Ref: par. .A73)

e. asection with the heading "Accountant's Responsibility" that in-
cludes the following statements:

i. The accountant's responsibility is to conduct the review en-
gagement in accordance with SSARSs promulgated by the
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
The accountant's review report should also explain that
those standards require that the accountant perform the
procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for re-
porting whether the accountant is aware of any material
modifications that should be made to the financial state-
ments for them to be in accordance with the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework. (Ref: par. .A74—.A76)

ii. The accountant believes that the review evidence the ac-
countant has obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for the accountant's conclusion.

f aconcluding section with an appropriate heading that includes a
statement about whether the accountant is aware of any material
modifications that should be made to the accompanying financial
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statements for them to be in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework and that identifies the country of origin
of those accounting principles, if applicable. (Ref: par. .A49)

g. the signature of the accountant or the accountant's firm.
h. the city and state where the accountant practices. (Ref: par. .A77)

i. the date of the review report, which should be dated no earlier
than the date on which the accountant completed procedures
sufficient to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting
whether the accountant is aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements for them to be
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
including evidence that

i. all the statements that the financial statements comprise,
including the related notes, have been prepared and

ii. management has asserted that they have taken responsi-
bility for those financial statements. (Ref: par. .A78—-.A79)

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Accountant’s Review Report on Financial Statements Prepared
in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework

.40 The accountant should modify the review report when the accountant
becomes aware that the financial statements do not include

a. adescription of the special purpose framework. (Ref: par. .A81)
b. asummary of significant accounting policies.

c¢. an adequate description about how the special purpose frame-
work differs from GAAP. The effects of these differences need not
be quantified. (Ref: par. .A82)

d. informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP when
the financial statements contain items that are the same as, or
similar to, those in financial statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP. (Ref: par. .A83)

.41 In the case of financial statements prepared in accordance with a
contractual-basis of accounting, the accountant should modify the review re-
port if the financial statements do not adequately describe any significant in-
terpretations of the contract on which the financial statements are based.

.42 The accountant's review report on financial statements prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework should

a. make reference to management's responsibility for determining
that the applicable financial reporting framework is acceptable
in the circumstances when management has a choice of financial
reporting frameworks in the preparation of such financial state-
ments.

b. describe the purpose for which the financial statements are pre-
pared or refer to a note in the financial statements that contains
that information when the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with a regulatory- or contractual-basis of accounting.
(Ref: par. .A84)

.43 The accountant's review report on financial statements prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework should include an emphasis-of-
matter paragraph, under an appropriate heading, that
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a. indicates that the financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with the applicable special purpose framework,

b. refers to the note to the financial statements that describes the
framework, and

c. states that the special purpose framework is a basis of accounting
other than GAAP.

.44 The accountant's review report on special purpose financial statements
should include, in accordance with paragraph .54, an other-matter paragraph,
under an appropriate heading, that, in accordance with paragraphs .61-.62,
restricts the use of the accountant's review report when the special purpose
financial statements are prepared in accordance with (Ref: par. .A85)

a. acontractual-basis of accounting,
b. aregulatory-basis of accounting, or

c. an other-basis of accounting when required pursuant to para-
graph .61a-b.

Comparative Financial Statements

.45 Comparative financial statements may be required by the applicable
financial reporting framework, or management may elect to provide such in-
formation. When comparative financial statements are presented, the accoun-
tant's report should refer to each period for which financial statements are pre-
sented. (Ref: par. .A86—-.A87)

Updating the Report

.46 When reporting on all periods presented, a continuing accountant
should update the report on one or more prior periods presented on a compara-
tive basis with those of the current period. The accountant's report on compar-
ative financial statements should not be dated earlier than the date that the
accountant completed procedures sufficient to obtain limited assurance as a ba-
sis for reporting whether the accountant is aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework with respect to the current
period. (Ref: par. .A88)

.47 When issuing an updated report, the continuing accountant should
consider information that the accountant has become aware of during the re-
view of the current period financial statements.

48 If, during the current engagement, circumstances or events come to
the accountant's attention that may affect the prior-period financial statements
presented, the accountant should consider the effects on the review report.

Changed Reference to a Departure From the Applicable Financial
Reporting Framework
.49 When the accountant's report on the financial statements of the prior
period contains a changed reference to a departure from the applicable financial
reporting framework, the accountant's review report should include an other-
matter paragraph indicating (Ref: par. .A89)
a. the date of the accountant's previous review report.

b. the circumstances or events that caused the reference to be
changed.

c¢. when applicable, that the financial statements of the prior period
have been changed.
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Reporting When One Period Is Audited

.50 When the prior period financial statements were audited and the au-
ditor's report on the prior period financial statements is not reissued, the re-
view report on the current period financial statements should include an other-
matter paragraph indicating

a. that the financial statements of the prior period were previously
audited,;

b. the date of the auditor's report on the prior period financial state-
ments;

c. thetype of opinion issued on the prior period financial statements;

d. if the opinion was modified, the substantive reasons for the mod-
ification; and

e. that no auditing procedures were performed after the date of the
previous report.

Communicating to Management and Others Regarding Fraud
or Noncompliance With Laws and Regulations

.51 If the accountant becomes aware that fraud (including misappropri-
ation of assets) may have occurred, the accountant should communicate the
matter as soon as practicable to the appropriate level of management (at a
level above those involved with the suspected fraud, if possible). If the accoun-
tant becomes aware of matters involving identified or suspected noncompliance
with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing
financial statements, the accountant should communicate the matters to man-
agement, other than when matters are clearly inconsequential. If the fraud or
noncompliance with laws or regulations involves senior management or results
in a material misstatement of the financial statements, the accountant should
communicate the matter directly to those charged with governance. If manage-
ment or, as appropriate, those charged with governance do not provide sufficient
information that supports that (Ref: par. .A90-.A92)

a. thefinancial statements are not materially misstated due to fraud
or

b.  the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations, and in the
accountant's professional judgment, the effect of the suspected
noncompliance may be material to the financial statements

the accountant should consider the need to obtain legal advice and take appro-
priate action, including potential withdrawal. (Ref: par. .A93)

Emphasis-of-Matter and Other-Matter Paragraphs
in the Accountant’s Review Report

Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs in the Accountant’s Review Report

.52 If the accountant considers it necessary to draw users' attention to a
matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements that,
in the accountant's professional judgment, is of such importance that it is fun-
damental to users' understanding of the financial statements, the accountant
should include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the accountant's review
report, provided that the accountant does not believe that the financial state-
ments may be materially misstated. Such a paragraph should refer only to
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information presented or disclosed in the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A94—
.A96)

.53 When the accountant includes an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the
accountant's review report, the accountant should

a. include it immediately after the accountant's conclusion para-
graph in the accountant's review report,

b. use the heading "Emphasis of a Matter" or other appropriate
heading, (Ref: par. .A97)

c¢. include in the paragraph a clear reference to the matter being
emphasized and to where relevant disclosures that fully describe
the matter can be found in the financial statements, and

d. indicate that the accountant's conclusion is not modified with re-
spect to the matter emphasized. (Ref: par. .A98)

Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Accountant’s Review Report

.54 Ifthe accountant considers it necessary to communicate a matter other
than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in
the accountant's professional judgment, is relevant to the users' understand-
ing of the review, the accountant's responsibilities, or the accountant's review
report, the accountant should do so in a paragraph in the accountant's review
report with the heading "Other Matter" or other appropriate heading. The ac-
countant should include this paragraph immediately after the accountant's con-
clusion paragraph and any emphasis-of-matter paragraph. (Ref: .A94,.A97, and
.A99-.A101)

Communication With Management

.55 If the accountant expects to include an emphasis-of-matter or other-
matter paragraph in the accountant's review report, the accountant should
communicate with management regarding this expectation and the proposed
wording of this paragraph. (Ref: par. .A102—.A103)

Known Departures From the Applicable Financial
Reporting Framework

.56 When the accountant becomes aware of a departure from the appli-
cable financial reporting framework (including inadequate disclosure) that is
material to the financial statements and if the financial statements are not
revised, the accountant should consider whether modification of the standard
report is adequate to disclose the departure.

.57 If the accountant concludes that modification of the standard report
is adequate, the departure should be disclosed in a separate paragraph of the
report under the heading "Known Departures From the [identify the applica-
ble financial reporting framework]," including disclosure of the effects of the
departure on the financial statements if such effects have been determined by
management or are known to the accountant as the result of the accountant's
procedures. (Ref: par. .A104 and .A109)

.58 If the effects of the departure have not been determined by manage-
ment or are not known to the accountant as a result of the accountant's proce-
dures, the accountant is not required to determine the effects of a departure;
however, in such circumstances, the accountant should state in the report that
such determination has not been made.
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.59 If the accountant believes that modification of the standard report is
not adequate to indicate the deficiencies in the financial statements as a whole,
the accountant should withdraw from the review engagement. (Ref: par. .A105)

.60 The accountant should not modify the standard report to include a
statement that the financial statements are not in accordance with the appli-
cable financial reporting framework. (Ref: par. .A106—.A108)

Alert That Restricts the Use of the Accountant’s Review Report

.61 An accountant's review report should include an alert, in a separate
paragraph, that restricts its use when the subject matter of the accountant's
review report is based on (Ref: par. . A110-.A112)

a. measurement or disclosure criteria that are determined by the ac-
countant to be suitable only for a limited number of users who can
be presumed to have an adequate understanding of the criteria or

b. measurement or disclosure criteria that are available only to the
specified parties.

.62 The alert that restricts the use of the accountant's review report re-
quired by paragraph .61 should

a. state that the accountant's review report is intended solely for the
information and use of the specified parties.

b. identify the specified parties for whom use is intended.

c. statethat the accountant's review report is not intended to be, and
should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties.
(Ref: par. .A113)

Adding Other Specified Parties

.63 When, in accordance with paragraph .61, the accountant includes an
alert that restricts the use of the accountant's review report to certain specified
parties and the accountant is requested to add other parties as specified parties,
the accountant should determine whether to agree to add the other parties as
specified parties. (Ref: par. .A114)

.64 If the other parties are added after the release of the accountant's re-
view report, the accountant should either:

a. Amend the accountant's review report to add the other parties
and, in such circumstances, not change the original date of the
accountant's review report.

b. Provide a written acknowledgment to management and the other
parties that such parties have been added as specified parties and
state in the acknowledgment that no procedures were performed
subsequent to the original date of the accountant's review report.

The Accountant’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue
as a Going Concern

Consideration of Conditions or Events That Indicate That There Could Be an
Uncertainty About the Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

.65 The accountant should consider whether, during the performance of
review procedures, evidence or information came to the accountant's attention
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indicating that there could be an uncertainty about the entity's ability to con-
tinue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. A reasonable period of
time is the same period of time required of management to assess going concern
when specified by the applicable financial reporting framework. If the applica-
ble financial reporting framework does not specify a period of time for manage-
ment, a reasonable period is one year from the date of the financial statements
being reviewed (hereinafter referred to as a reasonable period of time). (Ref:
par. .A115)

Consideration of Financial Statement Effects

.66 If, after considering the evidence or information from paragraph .65,
the accountant believes that there is an uncertainty about the entity's ability
to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time, the accountant
should request that management consider the possible effects of the going con-
cern uncertainty on the financial statements, including the need for related
disclosure. (Ref: par. .A116)

.67 After management communicates to the accountant the results of its
consideration of the possible effects on the financial statements, the accountant
should consider the reasonableness of management's conclusions, including the
adequacy of the related disclosure.

Consideration of the Effects on the Accountant’s Review Report

.68 If the accountant determines that the entity's disclosures with respect
to the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of
time are inadequate, a departure from the applicable financial reporting frame-
work exists, and the accountant should follow the guidance in paragraphs .56—
.60. (Ref: par. .A117-.A119)

Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts

Subsequent Events

.69 When evidence or information that subsequent events that require ad-
justment of] or disclosure in, the financial statements comes to the accountant's
attention, the accountant should request that management consider whether
each such event is appropriately reflected in the financial statements in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework. (Ref: par. .A120)

.70 If the accountant determines that the subsequent event is not ade-
quately accounted for in the financial statements or disclosed in the notes, the
accountant should follow the guidance in paragraphs .56—.60.

Subsequently Discovered Facts That Become Known fo the Accountant
Before the Report Release Date

.71 The accountant is not required to perform any review procedures re-
garding the financial statements after the date of the accountant's review re-
port. However, if a subsequently discovered fact becomes known to the accoun-
tant before the report release date, the accountant should

a. discuss the matter with management and, when appropriate,
those charged with governance and

b. determine whether the financial statements need revision and, if
80, inquire how management intends to address the matter in the
financial statements.
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.72 If management revises the financial statements, the accountant should
perform the review procedures necessary in the circumstances on the revision.
The accountant also should either

a.

b.

date the accountant's review report as of a later date or

include an additional date in the accountant's review report on
the revised financial statements that is limited to the revision
(that is, dual-date the accountant's review report for that revi-
sion), thereby indicating that the accountant's review procedures
subsequent to the original date of the accountant's review report
are limited solely to the revision of the financial statements de-
scribed in the relevant note to the financial statements.

.73 If management does not revise the financial statements in circum-
stances when the accountant believes they need to be revised, the accountant
should modify the accountant's review report, as appropriate.

Subsequently Discovered Facts That Become Known to the Accountant After
the Report Release Date

.74 If a subsequently discovered fact becomes known to the accountant
after the report release date, the accountant should (Ref: par. A121-.A122)

a.

b.

discuss the matter with management and, when appropriate,
those charged with governance and
determine whether the financial statements need revision and, if

S0, inquire how management intends to address the matter in the
financial statements.

.75 If management revises the financial statements, the accountant should

a.

b.

apply the requirements of paragraph .72.

if the reviewed financial statements (before revision) have been
made available to third parties, assess whether the steps taken
by management are timely and appropriate to ensure that any-
one in receipt of those financial statements is informed of the sit-
uation, including that the reviewed financial statements are not
to be used. If management does not take the necessary steps, the
accountant should apply the requirements of paragraph .76. (Ref:
par. .A123)

if the accountant's conclusion on the revised financial statements
differs from the accountant's conclusion on the original financial
statements, disclose in an emphasis-of-matter paragraph, in ac-
cordance with paragraphs .52—.53

i. the date of the accountant's previous report,
ii. a description of the revisions, and
iii. the substantive reasons for the revisions.

.76 If management does not revise the financial statements in circum-
stances when the accountant believes they need to be revised, then

a.

AR-C §90.72

if the reviewed financial statements have not been made avail-
able to third parties, the accountant should notify management
and those charged with governance, unless all of those charged
with governance are involved in managing the entity, not to make
the reviewed financial statements available to third parties be-
fore the necessary revisions have been made and a new accoun-
tant's review report on the revised financial statements has been
provided. If the reviewed financial statements are, nevertheless,
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subsequently made available to third parties without the neces-
sary revisions, the accountant should apply the requirements of
paragraph .76b.

b. if the reviewed financial statements have been made available
to third parties, the accountant should assess whether the steps
taken by management are timely and appropriate to ensure that
anyone in receipt of the reviewed financial statements is informed
of the situation, including that the reviewed financial statements
are not to be used. If management does not take the necessary
steps, the accountant should apply the requirements of paragraph
.77. (Ref: par. .A121)

77 If management does not take the necessary steps to ensure that anyone
in receipt of the financial statements is informed of the situation, as provided
by paragraph .75b or paragraph .76b, the accountant should notify manage-
ment and those charged with governance, unless all of those charged with gov-
ernance are involved in managing the entity, that the accountant will seek to
prevent future use of the accountant's review report. If, despite such notifica-
tion, management or those charged with governance do not take the necessary
steps, the accountant should take appropriate action to seek to prevent use of
the accountant's review report. (Ref: par. . A124—.A127)

Reference to the Work of Other Accountants
in an Accountant’s Review Report

.78 If other accountants audited or reviewed the financial statements of
significant components, such as consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries
and investees, and the accountant of the reporting entity decides not to assume
responsibility for the audit or review performed by the other accountants, the
accountant of the reporting entity should make reference to the review or audit
of such other accountants in the accountant's review report. In that instance,
the accountant should clearly indicate in the accountant's review report that
the accountant used the work of other accountants and should include the mag-
nitude of the portion of the financial statements audited or reviewed by the
other accountants. (Ref: par. .A128-.A130)

.79 Regardless of whether the accountant of the reporting entity decides
to make reference to the review or audit of other accountants, the accountant
of the reporting entity should communicate with the other accountants and
ascertain

a. that the other accountants are aware that the financial state-
ments of the component that the other accountants have audited
or reviewed are to be included in the financial statements on
which the accountant of the reporting entity will report and that
the other accountants' report thereon will be relied upon (and,
where applicable, referred to) by the accountant of the reporting
entity.

b. that the other accountants are familiar with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework and with SSARSs or auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, as applicable,
and will conduct the review or audit in accordance therewith.

c. that a review will be made of matters affecting elimination of in-
tercompany transactions and accounts and, if appropriate in the
circumstances, the uniformity of accounting practices among the
components included in the financial statements.
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Supplementary Information That Accompanies Reviewed
Financial Statements and the Accountant’s Review Report
Thereon

.80 When supplementary information accompanies reviewed financial
statements and the accountant's review report thereon, the accountant should
clearly indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, the accountant is taking with
respect to such information in either

a. an other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review report on
the financial statements or

b. a separate report on the supplementary information

.81 When the accountant has subjected the supplementary information to
the review procedures applied in the accountant's review of the basic financial
statements, the other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review report on
the financial statements or the separate report on the supplementary informa-
tion should state that (Ref: par. .A132 and .A134)

a. the supplementary information is presented for purposes of ad-
ditional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements;

b. the supplementary information is the responsibility of manage-
ment and was derived from, and relates directly to, the under-
lying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements;

c¢. the supplementary information has been subjected to the review
procedures applied in the accountant's review of the basic finan-
cial statements and whether the accountant is aware of any ma-
terial modifications that should be made to the supplementary
information; and

d. the accountant has not audited the supplementary information
and does not express an opinion on such information.

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.82 When the accountant has not subjected the supplementary informa-
tion to the review procedures applied in the accountant's review of the basic
financial statements, the other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review
report on the financial statements or the separate report on the supplemen-
tary information should state that (Ref: par. . A133—.A134)

a. the supplementary information is presented for purposes of ad-
ditional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements;

b. the supplementary information is the responsibility of manage-
ment; and

c. the accountant has not audited or reviewed the supplementary
information and, accordingly, does not express an opinion, a con-
clusion, nor provide any assurance on such information.

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Required Supplementary Information

.83 Concerning the requirement in paragraph .80, with respect to required
supplementary information, the accountant should include an other-matter
paragraph in the accountant's review report on the financial statements. The
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other-matter paragraph should include language to explain the following cir-
cumstances, as applicable: (Ref: par. .A135)

a. The required supplementary information is included, and the ac-
countant performed a compilation engagement on the required
supplementary information.

b. The required supplementary information is included, and the ac-
countant reviewed the required supplementary information.

¢. The required supplementary information is included, and the ac-
countant did not perform a compilation, review, or audit on the
required supplementary information.

d. The required supplementary information is omitted.

e. Some required supplementary information is missing, and some
is presented in accordance with the prescribed guidelines (Ref:
par. .A136)

f The accountant has identified departures from the prescribed
guidelines.

g The accountant has unresolved doubts about whether the re-
quired supplementary information is presented in accordance
with prescribed guidelines.

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.84 If the entity has presented all or some of the required supplementary
information and the accountant did not perform a compilation or review on the
required supplementary information, the other-matter paragraph referred to
in paragraph .80 should include the following elements: (Ref: par. .A137)

a. A statement that [identify the applicable financial reporting
framework (for example, accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America)] require that the [identify the re-
quired supplementary information] be presented to supplement
the basic financial statements

b. A statement that such information, although not a part of the ba-
sic financial statements, is required by [identify designated ac-
counting standards-setter], who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial state-
ments in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical con-
text

c. A statement that the accountant did not perform a compilation,
review, or audit on the required supplementary information and
does not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the in-
formation

d. If some of the required supplementary information is omitted

i. a statement that management has omitted [description
of the missing required supplementary information] that
[identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for
example, accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America)] require to be presented to sup-
plement the basic financial statements

ii. a statement that such missing information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by [iden-
tify designated accounting standards-setter], who consid-
ers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for

©2017, AICPA AR-C §90.84



112 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context

e. If the measurement or presentation of the required supplemen-
tary information departs materially from the prescribed guide-
lines, a statement that material departures from prescribed
guidelines exist [describe the material departures from the appli-
cable financial reporting framework]

f If the accountant has unresolved doubts about whether the re-
quired supplementary information is measured or presented in
accordance with prescribed guidelines, a statement that the ac-
countant has doubts about whether material modifications should
be made to the required supplementary information for it to be
presented in accordance with guidelines established by [identify
designated accounting standards-setter]

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.85 If all the required supplementary information is omitted, the other-
matter paragraph should include the following elements:

a. A statement that management has omitted [description of the
missing required supplementary information] that [identify the
applicable financial reporting framework (for example, account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America)]
require to be presented to supplement the basic financial state-
ments

b. A statement that such missing information, although not a part
of the basic financial statements, is required by [identify desig-
nated accounting standards-setter], who considers it to be an es-
sential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context

Change in Engagement From Audit to Review

.86 If the accountant, who was engaged to perform an audit engagement
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, has been requested
to change the engagement to a review engagement, the accountant should con-
sider the following before deciding whether to agree to the change: (Ref: par.
.A138-.A139)

a. The reason given for the request, particularly the implications
of a restriction on the scope of the audit engagement, whether
imposed by management or by circumstances (Ref: par. .A140)

b. The additional audit effort required to complete the audit engage-
ment

c¢. The estimated additional cost to complete the audit engagement

.87 In all circumstances, if the audit procedures are substantially complete
or the cost to complete such procedures is relatively insignificant, the accoun-
tant should consider the propriety of accepting a change in the engagement.

.88 If the accountant concludes, based upon the accountant's professional
judgment, that reasonable justification exists to change the engagement, and if
the accountant complies with the standards applicable to a review engagement,
the accountant should issue an appropriate review report.
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.89 The report should not include reference to

a. the original engagement,
b. any audit procedures that may have been performed, or
c.  scope limitations that resulted in the changed engagement.

.90 When the accountant has been engaged to audit an entity's financial
statements and management refuses to allow the accountant to correspond
with the entity's legal counsel, the accountant, except in rare circumstances, is
precluded from accepting an engagement to review those financial statements.

Review Documentation

.91 The accountant should prepare review documentation that is sufficient
to enable an experienced accountant, having no previous connection to the re-
view, to understand (Ref: par. .A141-.A145)

a. thenature, timing, and extent of the review procedures performed
to comply with SSARSSs;

b.  the results of the review procedures performed and the review
evidence obtained; and

c. significant findings or issues arising during the review, the con-
clusions reached thereon, and significant professional judgments
made in reaching those conclusions.

.92 In addition to the requirements in paragraph .91, the review documen-
tation should include the following:

a. The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documen-
tation with management, as described in paragraphs .11-.12 (Ref:
par. .A20 and .A22)

b. Communications to management and others regarding fraud or
noncompliance with laws and regulations as required by para-
graph .51

¢. Communications with management regarding the accountant's
expectation to include an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter
paragraph in the accountant's review report as required by para-
graph .55

d. Communications with other accountants that have audited or re-

viewed the financial statements of significant components as re-
quired by paragraph .79

®

The representation letter

f A copy of the reviewed financial statements and the accountant's
review report thereon

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope and Applicability of This Section (Ref: par. .01)

.Al Ifthe accountant is engaged to perform a review of historical financial
information other than financial statements, references in this section to finan-
cial statements are to be taken as a reference to such other historical financial
information. [Paragraph added, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

A2 Examples of other historical financial information that an accountant
may be engaged to review include, but are not limited to, the following:
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® Specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement,
such as schedules of rentals, royalties, profit participation, or pro-
vision for income taxes

® Supplementary information
® Required supplementary information

® TFinancial information contained in a tax return
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A3 The accountant may review a single financial statement, such as a bal-
ance sheet, and not other related financial statements, such as the statements
of income, retained earnings, and cash flows, if the scope of the accountant's
inquiry and analytical procedures have not been restricted. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Objective (Ref: par. .04 and .28)

A4 A review differs significantly from an audit of financial statements in
which the auditor obtains reasonable assurance, which is a high, but not abso-
lute level of assurance, that the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. A review does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of the
entity's internal control; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records by ob-
taining sufficient appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observation,
confirmation, or the examination of source documents; or other procedures ordi-
narily performed in an audit. Accordingly, in a review, the accountant does not
obtain assurance that he or she will become aware of all significant matters
that would be disclosed in an audit. Therefore, a review is designed to obtain
only limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware
of any material modifications that should be made to the financial statements
in order for the statements to be in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

Materiality

A5 The accountant's consideration of materiality is made in the context of
the applicable financial reporting framework. Some financial reporting frame-
works discuss the concept of materiality in the context of the preparation and
presentation of financial statements. Although financial reporting frameworks
may discuss materiality in different terms, they generally explain that

® misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be mate-
rial if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements;

® judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding cir-
cumstances and are affected by the size or nature of a misstate-
ment or a combination of both; and

® judgments about matters that are material to users of the finan-
cial statements are based on a consideration of the common finan-
cial information needs of users as a group. The possible effect of
misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary
widely, is not considered.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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A6 If present in the applicable financial reporting framework, a discus-
sion of the concept of materiality provides a frame of reference to the accoun-
tant in determining, as required by paragraph .28, whether there are any ma-
terial modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for the statements to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework. If the applicable financial reporting framework does not include a
discussion of the concept of materiality, the characteristics referred to in para-
graph .A5 provide the accountant with such a frame of reference. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A7 The accountant's determination of materiality is a matter of profes-
sional judgment and is affected by the accountant's perception of the needs of
the intended users of the financial statements. In this context, it is reasonable
for the accountant to assume that users

® have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities
and accounting and a willingness to study the information in the
financial statements with reasonable diligence;

® understand that financial statements are prepared, presented,
and reviewed to levels of materiality;

® recognize the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of
amounts based on the use of estimates, judgment, and the con-
sideration of future events; and

® make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the informa-
tion in the financial statements.

Further, unless the review engagement is undertaken for financial statements
that are intended to meet the particular needs of specific users, the possible
effect of misstatements on specific users, whose information needs may vary
widely, is not ordinarily considered. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A8 The accountant's judgment about what is material in relation to the
financial statements as a whole is the same regardless of the level of assur-
ance obtained by the accountant as a basis for expressing a conclusion on the
financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Revising Materiality

A9 The accountant's determination of materiality for the financial state-
ments as a whole may need to be revised during the engagement as a result
of

® a change in the circumstances that occurred during the review
(for example, a decision to dispose of a major part of the entity's
business).

® new information, or a change in the accountant's understanding
of the entity and its environment as a result of performing review
procedures (for example, if during the review it appears actual
financial results are likely to be substantially different from an-
ticipated period-end financial results that were used initially to
consider materiality for the financial statements as a whole).

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Definitions (Ref: par. .05)

.A10 Certain regulators, including state and local government legislators,
regulatory agencies, or departments, require financial statements to be pre-
pared in accordance with a financial reporting framework that is based on
GAAP but does not comply with all of the requirements of GAAP. Such frame-
works are regulatory-bases of accounting, as defined in paragraph .05. In some
circumstances, however, the cash- or tax-basis of accounting may be permitted
by aregulator. For purposes of this section, the cash-and tax-bases of accounting
are not regulatory-bases of accounting. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.Al1 Supplementary information includes additional details or explana-
tions of items in or related to the basic financial statements, consolidating infor-
mation, historical summaries of items extracted from the basic financial state-
ments, statistical data, and other material, some of which may be from sources
outside the accounting system or outside the entity. [Paragraph added, effective
October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.Al12 Supplementary information may be prepared in accordance with an
applicable financial reporting framework, by regulatory or contractual require-
ments, in accordance with management's criteria, or in accordance with other
requirements. [Paragraph added, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Independence (Ref: par. .07)

.A13 The AICPA Code of Professional Conduct provides guidance with re-
spect to independence. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.Al14 Nothing prohibits an accountant who is unable to complete a review
engagement due to a determination that the accountant's independence is im-
paired from performing a compilation engagement on those financial state-
ments. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and
Review Engagements (Ref: par. .09)

Al15 A review in accordance with SSARSs is conducted on the premise
that management has acknowledged and understands that it has the responsi-
bility set out in paragraph .26¢ of section 60. The preparation of financial state-
ments, in whole or in part, is a nonattest service subject to the provisions of the
"Nonattest Services" subtopic of the "Independence Rule" (ET sec. 1.295) of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. To avoid misunderstanding, agreement
is reached with management that it acknowledges and understands that it has
such responsibilities as part of agreeing and documenting the terms of the re-
view engagement as required by paragraphs .11-.12. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A16 Documents containing financial statements that may include an in-
dication that such financial statements have been reviewed by the entity's
accountant includes documents submitted to bonding companies. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Agreement on Engagement Terms (Ref: par. .11-.12 and .92)

.A17 Both management and the accountant have an interest in document-
ing the agreed-upon terms of the review engagement before the commencement
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of the review engagement to help avoid misunderstandings with respect to the
review engagement. For example, it reduces the risk that management may in-
appropriately rely on or expect the accountant to protect management against
certain risks or perform certain functions, including those that are manage-
ment's responsibility. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A18 The roles of management and those charged with governance in
agreeing upon the terms of the review engagement for the entity depend on
the governance structure of the entity and relevant law or regulation. Depend-
ing on the entity's structure, the agreement may be with management, those
charged with governance, or both. When the agreement on the terms of engage-
ment is only with those charged with governance, nonetheless, in accordance
with paragraph .26¢ of section 60, the accountant is required to obtain manage-
ment's agreement that it acknowledges and understands its responsibilities.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A19 When a third party has contracted for a review of the entity's finan-
cial statements, agreeing the terms of the review with management of the en-
tity is necessary in order to establish that the preconditions for a review are
present. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A20 The understanding with management regarding the services to be
performed for review engagements is required by paragraph .11 to be in a doc-
umented form, and, accordingly, an oral understanding is insufficient. An en-
gagement letter is the most common and usually the most convenient method
for documenting the understanding with management regarding the services to
be performed for review engagements. [Paragraph renumbered and amended,
effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A21 Although the accountant may prepare the financial statements, in
whole or in part, the financial statements are representations of management,
and the fairness of their presentation in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework is management's responsibility. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A22 Tllustrations of engagement letters for a review of financial state-
ments are presented in exhibit A, "Illustrative Engagement Letters." [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Communication With Management and Those Charged With
Governance (Ref: par. .13)

.A23 In areview engagement, the accountant's communications with man-
agement and those charged with governance take the form of

a. inquiries the accountant makes in the course of performing the
procedures for the review and

b. other communications, in the context of having effective two-way
communication to understand matters arising and to develop a
constructive working relationship for the engagement.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
.A24 The appropriate timing for communications will vary with the cir-
cumstances of the engagement. Relevant factors include the significance and
nature of the matter and any action expected to be taken by management or
those changed with governance. For example, it may be appropriate to com-
municate a significant difficulty encountered during the review as soon as
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practicable if management or those charged with governance are able to as-
sist the accountant to overcome the difficulty. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A25 Law or regulation may restrict the accountant's communication of
certain matters with those charged with governance. For example, law or reg-
ulation may specifically prohibit a communication, or other action, that might
prejudice an investigation by an appropriate authority into an actual, or sus-
pected, illegal act. In some circumstances, potential conflicts between the ac-
countant's obligations of confidentiality and obligations to communicate may
be complex. In such cases, the accountant may consider obtaining legal advice.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Communicating Matters Concerning the Review

.A26 Matters to be communicated to management or those charged with
governance, as appropriate, in accordance with this section may include the
following:

® The accountant's responsibilities in the review engagement, as in-
cluded in the engagement letter or other suitable form of written
agreement.

® Significant findings from the review, for example

— the accountant's views about significant qualitative as-
pects of the entity's accounting practices, including ac-
counting policies, accounting estimates, and financial
statement disclosures.

— significant findings from the performance of procedures,
including situations when the accountant considered per-
formance of additional procedures necessary in accordance
with this section. The accountant may need to confirm
that those charged with governance have the same under-
standing of the facts and circumstances relevant to specific
transactions or events.

— Matters arising that may lead to modification of the ac-
countant's review report.

— Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the re-
view, for example, unavailability of expected information,
unexpected inability to obtain evidence that the accoun-
tant considers necessary for the review, or restrictions im-
posed on the accountant by management. In some cir-
cumstances, such difficulties may lead to the accountant's
withdrawal from the engagement.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A27 In some entities, different persons are responsible for the manage-
ment and governance of an entity. In these circumstances, management may
have the responsibility to communicate matters of governance interest to those
charged with governance. Communication by management with those charged
with governance of matters that the accountant is required to communicate
does not relieve the accountant of the responsibility to also communicate with
those charged with governance. However, communication of these matters by
management may affect the form or timing of the accountant's communication
with those charged with governance. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Communication With Third Parties
.A28 The accountant may be required by law or regulation to, for example

® notify a regulatory or enforcement body of certain matters com-
municated with those charged with governance.

® submit copies of certain reports prepared for those charged with
governance to relevant regulatory or funding bodies or, in some
cases, make such reports publicly available.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A29 Unless required by law or regulation to provide a third party with a
copy of the accountant's written communications with those charged with gov-
ernance, the accountant may need the prior consent of management or those
charged with governance before doing so. [Paragraph renumbered by the is-
suance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Understanding of the Industry (Ref: par. .14)

.A30 The requirement that the accountant possess a level of knowledge of
the industry in which the entity operates does not prevent the accountant from
accepting a review engagement for an entity in an industry with which the ac-
countant has no previous experience. It does, however, place upon the accoun-
tant a responsibility to obtain the required level of knowledge. The accountant
may do so, for example, by consulting AICPA guides, industry publications, fi-
nancial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks and periodicals,
appropriate continuing professional education, or individuals knowledgeable
about the industry. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Knowledge of the Entity (Ref: par. .15)

.A31 The accountant may obtain knowledge of the entity through inquiry
of the entity's personnel, the review of documents prepared by the entity, or
experience with the entity or the entity's industry. Such knowledge includes
the following:

®  An understanding of the entity's business

®  An understanding of the accounting principles and practices used
by the entity in measuring, recognizing, recording, and disclosing
all significant accounts and disclosures in the financial statements

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A32 The accountant's understanding of the entity's business encompasses
a general understanding of the entity's organization; its operating characteris-
tics; and the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Designing and Performing Review Procedures (Ref: par. .17)

.A33 Review evidence obtained through the performance of analytical pro-
cedures and inquiry will ordinarily provide the accountant with a reasonable
basis for obtaining limited assurance. However, in addition to analytical pro-
cedures and inquiries, in certain circumstances and based on the accountant's
professional judgment, the accountant may perform procedures ordinarily per-
formed in an audit. In such instances, the engagement remains a review, and
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the accountant is not required to perform an audit of the financial statements.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A34 The results of the accountant's analytical procedures and inquiries
may modify the accountant's risk awareness. For example, the response to an
inquiry that a related party transaction is not disclosed may revise the ac-
countant's awareness of risk relative to related party transactions. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Analytical Procedures (Ref: par. .19-.20)

.A35 Examples of analytical procedures that an accountant may consider
performing when conducting a review of financial statements are contained in
appendix A, "Analytical Procedures the Accountant May Consider Performing
When Conducting a Review of Financial Statements." [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A36 Analytical procedures include the consideration of comparisons of the
entity's financial information with, for example:

® Comparable information for prior periods

® Anticipated results of the entity, such as budgets or forecasts, or
expectations of the accountant, such as an estimation of depreci-
ation

®  Similar industry information, such as a comparison of the entity's
ratio of sales to accounts receivable and gross margin percentages
with industry averages or other entities of comparable size in the
same industry

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A37 Analytical procedures also include consideration of relationships, for
example:

® Among elements of financial information, such as gross margin
percentages, that would be expected to conform to a predictable
pattern based on recent history of the entity and industry

® Between financial information and relevant nonfinancial informa-
tion, such as payroll costs to number of employees

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A38 When considering plausible relationships, the accountant may wish
to consider information developed and used by the entity (for example, analy-
ses prepared for management or those charged with governance). [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A39 Expectations developed by the accountant in performing analytical
procedures in connection with a review of financial statements may be less pre-
cise than those developed in an audit. Also, in a review, the accountant is not
required to corroborate management's responses with other evidence. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A40 To compare disaggregated revenue data, the accountant may com-
pare, for example, revenue reported by month and product line or operating
segment during the current period with that of comparable prior periods. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A41 Various methods may be used to perform analytical procedures.
These methods range from performing simple comparisons to performing
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complex analyses. Analytical procedures may be performed at the financial
statement level or at the detailed account level. The nature, timing, and ex-
tent of analytical procedures are a matter of professional judgment. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Investigating Results of Analytical Procedures (Ref: par. .21b)

.A42 Although the accountant is not required to corroborate manage-
ment's responses with other evidence, the need to perform other review proce-
dures may arise when, for example, management is unable to provide an expla-
nation, or the explanation is not considered adequate. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Inquiries of Members of Management Who Have Responsibility
for Financial and Accounting Matters (Ref: par. .22)

.A43 In addition to members of management who have responsibility for
financial and accounting matters, the accountant may determine to direct in-
quiries to others within the entity and those charged with governance, if ap-
propriate. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A44 Examples of unusual or complex situations about which the accoun-
tant may inquire of management are contained in appendix B, "Unusual or
Complex Situations to Be Considered by the Accountant When Performing In-
quiry Procedures in a Review of Financial Statements." [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A45 Management may obtain knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud
affecting the entity involving management or others when the fraud could
have a material effect on the financial statements through, among other
things, communications received from employees, former employees, or oth-
ers. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A46 The accountant may obtain and read minutes from meetings of stock-
holders, the board of directors, committees of the board of directors, or compa-
rable meetings that may affect the financial statements as an effective and
efficient procedure to meet the requirement in paragraph .220 to inquire of
members of management who have responsibility for financial and account-
ing matters concerning the financial statements about actions taken at such
meetings. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Reconciling the Financial Statements to the Underlying
Accounting Records (Ref: par. .26)

.A47 To obtain evidence that the financial statements agree or reconcile
with the accounting records, the accountant may compare the financial state-
ments to

® the accounting records, such as the general ledger;
® a consolidating schedule derived from the accounting records; or
® other supporting data in the entity's records.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Evaluating Evidence Obtained From the Procedures Performed
(Ref: par. .28, .31, and .39f)

.A48 Considerations that may affect the evaluation of whether uncor-
rected misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, are material include
the following:

The nature, cause (if known), and amount of the misstatements
Whether the misstatements originated in the preceding year
The potential effect of the misstatements on future periods

The appropriateness of offsetting a misstatement of an estimated
amount with a misstatement of an item capable of precise mea-
surement

® Recognition that an accumulation of immaterial misstatements in
the balance sheet could contribute to material misstatements in
future periods

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A49 The accountant's reporting responsibilities when the accountant con-
cludes that the financial statements are materially misstated are addressed
in paragraphs .56—.60 with respect to known departures from the applica-
ble financial reporting framework. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A50 In some circumstances, the accountant may not have obtained the
evidence that the accountant had expected to obtain through the design of pri-
marily inquiry and analytical procedures and procedures addressing specific
circumstances. In these circumstances, the accountant considers that the evi-
dence obtained from the procedures performed is not sufficient and appropriate
to be able to form a conclusion on the financial statements. The accountant may

® extend the work performed or

® perform other procedures judged by the practitioner to be neces-
sary in the circumstances.

When neither of these is practicable in the circumstances, the accountant will
not be able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to be able to form a conclu-
sion and is required by this section to determine the effect on the accountant's
ability to complete the engagement. This situation may arise even though the
accountant has not become aware of a matter(s) that causes the accountant
to believe the financial statements may be materially misstated. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Written Representations

Written Representations as Review Evidence (Ref: par. .32)

.A51 Written representations are an important source of review evidence.
If management modifies or does not provide the requested written representa-
tions, it may alert the accountant to the possibility that one or more significant
issues may exist. Further, a request for written, rather than oral, representa-
tions, in many cases, may prompt management to consider such matters more
rigorously, thereby enhancing the quality of the representations. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Management From Whom Written Representations Are Requested
(Ref: par. .33)

.A52 Written representations are requested from those with overall re-
sponsibility for financial and operating matters whom the accountant believes
are responsible for, and knowledgeable about, directly or through others in the
organization, the matters covered by the representations, including the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the financial statements. Those individuals may
vary depending on the governance structure of the entity; however, manage-
ment (rather than those charged with governance) is often the responsible
party. Written representations may, therefore, be requested from the entity's
CEO and CFO or other equivalent persons in entities that do not use such ti-
tles. However, in some circumstances, other parties, such as those charged with
governance, also are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.A53 Due to its responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements and its responsibility for the conduct of the entity's
business, management would be expected to have sufficient knowledge of the
process followed by the entity in preparing the financial statements on which
to base the written representations. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A54 In some cases, management may include in the written representa-
tions qualifying language to the effect that representations are made to the best
of its knowledge and belief. It is reasonable for the accountant to accept such
wording if, in the accountant's judgment, the representations are being made by
those with appropriate responsibilities and knowledge of the matters included
in the representations. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

Specific Written Representations (Ref: par. .34-.35)

.A55 Review evidence obtained during the review that management has
acknowledged the responsibilities referred to in paragraph .34a-b is not suffi-
cient without obtaining representation from management that it believes that
it has fulfilled those responsibilities. This is because the accountant is not able
to judge solely on other review evidence whether management has prepared
and fairly presented the financial statements and provided information to the
accountant on the basis of the agreed acknowledgment and understanding of
its responsibilities. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

.A56 The written representations relating to fraud required by paragraph
.34f-g are important for the accountant to obtain, regardless of the size of the
entity, because of the nature of fraud and the difficulties encountered by accoun-
tants in detecting material misstatements in the financial statements resulting
from fraud. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A57 Because the preparation of financial statements requires manage-
ment to adjust the financial statements to correct material misstatements, the
accountant is required to request that management provide a written represen-
tation about uncorrected misstatements. In some circumstances, management
may not believe that certain uncorrected misstatements are misstatements.
For that reason, management may want to add to their written representation
words such as "We do not agree that items... and... constitute misstatements
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because [description of reasons]." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of

SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A58 Circumstances in which it may be appropriate to obtain written rep-
resentations about related parties from those charged with governance in ad-
dition to management include the following:

® When they have approved specific related party transactions that
— materially affect the financial statements or
— involve management

®  When they have made specific oral representations to the accoun-
tant on details of certain related party transactions

® When they have financial or other interests in the related parties
or the related party transactions

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A59 Because written representations are necessary review evidence, the
accountant has not obtained limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether
the accountant is aware of any material modifications that should be made to
the financial statements in order for the statements to be in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework and the accountant's review report
cannot be dated before the date of the written representations. Furthermore,
because the accountant is concerned with events occurring up to the date of
the accountant's review report that may require adjustment to, or disclosure
in, the financial statements, the written representations are dated as of the
date of the accountant's review report on the financial statements. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A60 The written representations cover all periods referred to in the ac-
countant's review report because management needs to reaffirm that the writ-
ten representations it previously made with respect to the prior periods remain
appropriate. The accountant and management may agree to a form of written
representation that updates written representations relating to the prior pe-
riods by addressing whether there are any changes to such written represen-
tations and, if so, what they are. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A61 Situations may arise in which current management was not present
during all periods referred to in the accountant's review report. Such persons
may assert that they are not in a position to provide some or all of the writ-
ten representations because they were not in place during the period. This
fact, however, does not diminish such persons' responsibilities for the financial
statements as a whole. Accordingly, the requirement for the accountant to re-
quest from them written representations that cover the whole of the relevant
period(s) still applies. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A62 The accountant may request additional representations regarding
matters specific to the entity's business or industry. In addition, the accountant
is not precluded from obtaining representations regarding services performed
in addition to the review engagement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Form of Written Representations (Ref: par. .36)

.A63 Occasionally, circumstances may prevent management from signing
the representation letter and returning it to the accountant on the date of the
accountant's review report. In those circumstances, the accountant may accept
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management's oral confirmation, on or before the date of the accountant's re-
view report, that management has reviewed the final representation letter and
will sign the representation letter without exception as of the date of the ac-
countant's review report. Possession of the signed management representation
letter prior to releasing the accountant's review report is necessary because
paragraph .36 requires that the representations be in the form of a written
letter from management. Furthermore, when there are delays in releasing the
report, a fact may become known to the accountant that, had it been known to
the accountant at the date of the accountant's review report, might affect the
accountant's review report and result in the need for updated representations.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A64 Exhibit B, "Illustrative Representation Letter," provides an illustra-
tive example of a representation letter.

Reporting on the Financial Statements (Ref: par. .38)

.A65 A written report encompasses reports issued in hard copy format and
those using an electronic medium. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A66 Financial statements that the accountant has reviewed may become
unattached from the accountant's review report. To minimize the possibility
that a user of the reviewed financial statements may infer, through the ac-
countant's association with the reviewed financial statements, an unintended
level of reliance on the reviewed financial statements, the accountant may con-
sider including a reference on each page of the reviewed financial statements to
the accountant's review report. An example of a reference to the accountant's
review report included on each page of the reviewed financial statements is
"See independent accountant's review report." [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A67 When the accountant is unable to perform the inquiry, analytical pro-
cedures, and other review procedures the accountant considers necessary to ob-
tain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware
of any material modifications that should be made to the financial statements
in order for the statements to be in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework, or management does not provide the accountant with
a representation letter, the review will be incomplete. A review that is incom-
plete does not provide an adequate basis for issuing a review report. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Accountant’s Review Report (Ref: par. .39)

Title

.A68 An appropriate title would be "Independent Accountant's Review Re-
port." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Addressee

.A69 The accountant's review report is normally addressed to those for
whom the report is prepared. The report may be addressed to the entity whose
financial statements are being reviewed or to those charged with governance.
A report on financial statements of an unincorporated entity may be addressed
as circumstances dictate (for example, to the partners, general partner, or pro-
prietor). Occasionally, an accountant may be retained to review the financial
statements of an entity that is not a client; in such a case, the report may be
addressed to the entity and not to those charged with governance of the entity
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whose financial statements are being reviewed. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Introductory Paragraph

.A70 The introductory paragraph states, for example, that the accountant
has "reviewed the accompanying financial statements of ABC Company, which
comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20X1, and the related state-
ments of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements." If the financial
statements include a separate statement of changes in stockholders' equity ac-
counts or a separate statement of comprehensive income, paragraph .39¢(iii)
requires such statements to be identified in the introductory paragraph of the
report as a statement to which the financial statements are comprised. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A71 When the accountant is aware that the reviewed financial statements
will be included in a document that contains other information, such as an an-
nual report, the accountant may consider, if the form of presentation allows,
identifying the page numbers on which the reviewed financial statements are
presented. This helps users identify the financial statements to which the ac-
countant's review report relates. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of

SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A72 The identification of the title for each statement that the financial
statements comprise may be achieved by referencing the table of contents.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Management's Responsibility

.A73 Management, and when appropriate, those charged with governance,
accept responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework, including their fair
presentation. Management also accepts responsibility for the design, imple-
mentation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The description of management's respon-
sibilities in the accountant's review report includes reference to both respon-
sibilities because it helps explain to users the premise on which a review is
conducted. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Accountant's Responsibility

.A74 The accountant's review report states that the accountant's respon-
sibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with SSARSs pro-
mulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA in
order to contrast it to management's responsibility for the financial statements.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A75 The reference to the standards used conveys to users of the accoun-
tant's review report that the review engagement has been conducted in accor-
dance with established standards. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A76 The accountant is not permitted to represent compliance with
SSARSSs in the accountant's review report unless the accountant has complied
with the relevant requirements within the body of SSARSs. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Accountant's Address

AT77 The city and state where the accountant practices may be indi-
cated on letterhead that contains the issuing office's city and state. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Date of the Accountant's Review Report

.A78 The date of the accountant's review report informs users of the ac-
countant's review report that the accountant has considered the effect of events
and transactions of which the accountant became aware and that occurred up
to that date. The accountant's responsibility for events and transactions after
the date of the accountant's review report is addressed in paragraphs .71-.77.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A79 Because the accountant's conclusion is provided on the financial
statements, and the financial statements are the responsibility of management,
the accountant is not in a position to conclude that the accountant has obtained
limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware of
any material modifications that should be made to the financial statements for
them to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework
until evidence is obtained that all the statements that the financial statements
comprise, including the related notes, have been prepared, and management
has accepted responsibility for them. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A80 Exhibit C, "Illustrations of Accountant's Review Reports on Financial
Statements," contains illustrations of accountant's review reports on financial
statements incorporating the elements required by paragraph .39. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Accountant’s Review Report on Financial Statements Prepared
in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework
(Ref: par. .09, .40, .42, and .44)

.A81 The description of the special purpose framework may be included in
the financial statement titles, in the notes to the financial statements, or oth-
erwise on the face of the financial statements. Although terms such as balance
sheet, statement of financial position, statement of income, statement of opera-
tions, and statement of cash flows or similar unmodified titles, are generally
understood to be applicable only to financial statements that are intended to
present financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in accordance with
GAAP, such titles, with appropriate modification, may be used in connection
with financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work. Suitable financial statement titles for financial statements prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework include, but are not limited to

® a modified cash-basis financial statement that might be titled
— "Income Statement—Modified Cash-Basis," or
— "Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements."

® financial statements prepared in accordance with the tax-basis of
accounting that might be titled

— "Balance Sheet—Tax-Basis,"
— "Statement of Assets, Liabilities, and Equity—Tax-Basis,"
— "Statement of Operations—Tax-Basis," or

— "Statement of Revenue and Expenses—Tax-Basis."
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® a financial statement prepared in accordance with a regulatory-
basis of accounting that might be titled "Statement of Income—
Regulatory-Basis."

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A82 The description of how the special purpose framework differs from
GAAP ordinarily includes only the material differences between GAAP and the
special purpose framework. For example, if several items are accounted for dif-
ferently in accordance with the special purpose framework than they would be
in accordance with GAAP, but only the differences in how depreciation is calcu-
lated are material, a brief description of the depreciation differences is all that
would be necessary, and the remaining differences need not be described. The
differences need not be quantified. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A83 Financial statements prepared when applying a special purpose
framework are not considered appropriate in form unless the financial state-
ments include informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP if the
financial statements contain items that are the same as, or similar to, those in
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A84 When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a
regulatory- or contractual-basis of accounting or an other-basis of accounting
that requires an alert that restricts the use of the accountant's review report
pursuant to paragraph .61a-b, the accountant is required by paragraph .42 to
describe the purpose for which the financial statements are prepared or refer
to a note in the financial statements that contains that information. This is
necessary to avoid misunderstandings when the financial statements are used
for purposes other than those for which they were intended. The note to the
financial statements may also describe any significant interpretations of the
contract on which the financial statements are based. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A85 When use of the accountant's review report is restricted, the intended
users are the specified parties. The restriction on use of the accountant's review
report is necessary due to the nature of the report and the potential for the re-
port to be misunderstood when taken out of the context in which it was intended
to be used. For example, special purpose financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with a contractual-basis of accounting are developed for and directed
only to the parties to the contract or agreement. Paragraphs .63—.64 address
the addition of other parties as specified parties. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Comparative Financial Statements (Ref: par. .45)

.A86 The level of information included for the prior periods in comparative
financial statements is comparable with that of financial statements of the cur-
rent period. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A87 If one firm of accountants merges with another firm, and the new
firm becomes the accountant of a client of one of the two former firms, the new
firm may accept responsibility and issue a review report on the financial state-
ments for the prior period(s) as well as for those of the current period. The new
firm may indicate in the accountant's review report or as part of the signature
that a merger took place and may name the firm with whom it was merged.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Updating the Report (Ref: par. .46)

.A88 An updated report is issued in conjunction with the continuing
accountant's report on the current period financial statements. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Changed Reference to a Departure From the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework (Ref: par. .49)

.A89 A changed reference includes the removal of a prior reference or the
inclusion of a new reference. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

Communicating to Management and Others Regarding Fraud or
Noncompliance With Laws and Regulations (Ref: par. .51)

A90 The communication of matters involving identified or suspected non-
compliance may describe the act of identified or suspected noncompliance, the
circumstances of its occurrence, and the effect on the financial statements.
The accountant may reach agreement in advance with management and those
charged with governance, if applicable, on the nature and amount of matters
that would be considered not material and, thus, need not be communicated.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A91 The disclosure of any evidence or information that comes to the ac-
countant's attention during the performance of review procedures that fraud
or noncompliance with laws or regulations may have occurred to parties other
than the entity's senior management (or those charged with governance, if ap-
plicable) ordinarily is not part of the accountant's responsibility and, ordinarily,
would be precluded by the accountant's ethical or legal obligations of confiden-
tiality. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A92 A duty to disclose to parties outside of the entity may exist in the
following circumstances:

® To comply with certain legal and regulatory requirements

® To a successor accountant when management has given permis-
sion for communication between the predecessor accountant and
the successor accountant

® In response to a subpoena

In such circumstances, the accountant may consider it appropriate to consult
with legal counsel. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

.A93 The accountant may consider whether withdrawal from the engage-
ment is necessary when

® management or those charged with governance do not take the
remedial action that the accountant considers necessary in the
circumstances or

® matters regarding fraud or noncompliance with laws or regula-
tions involve an owner of the business.

When deciding whether withdrawal from the engagement is necessary, the ac-
countant may consider seeking legal advice. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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Emphasis-of-Matter and Other-Matter Paragraphs in the
Accountant’s Review Report (Ref: par. .52 and .54)

.A94 The accountant is required to include an emphasis-of-matter or
other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review report relating to the fol-
lowing matters:

® In accordance with paragraphs .43-.44 with respect to financial
statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work

® In accordance with paragraph .49 with respect to a changed refer-
ence to a departure from the applicable financial reporting frame-
work when reporting on comparative financial statements

® In accordance with paragraph .50 with respect to reporting on
comparative financial statements when the prior period is audited

® In accordance with paragraph .57 with respect to reporting a
known departure from the applicable financial reporting frame-
work that is material to the financial statements

® In accordance with paragraph .75¢ with respect to reporting when
management revises financial statements for a subsequently dis-
covered fact that became known to the accountant after the report
release date and the accountant's review report on the revised fi-
nancial statements differs from the accountant's review report on
the original financial statements

® In accordance with paragraph .80 with respect to supplementary
information that accompanies reviewed financial statements and
the accountant's review report thereon

® Inaccordance with paragraph .83 with respect to required supple-
mentary information

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs in the Accountant’s Review Report
(Ref: par. .52-.54)

A95 In addition to the required emphasis-of-matter paragraphs listed in
paragraph .A91, the following are examples of circumstances when the accoun-
tant may consider it necessary to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph:

®  Anuncertainty regarding the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time

®  An uncertainty relating to the future outcome of unusually impor-
tant litigation or regulatory action

® A major catastrophe that has had, or continues to have, a signifi-
cant effect on the entity's financial position

® Significant transactions with related parties

®  Unusually important subsequent events
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A96 Paragraph .52 requires that an emphasis-of-matter paragraph refer
only to matters appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial state-
ments. To include information in an emphasis-of-matter paragraph about a
matter beyond what is presented or disclosed in the financial statements may
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raise questions about the appropriateness of such presentation or disclosure.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A97 Another heading may be considered appropriate if it adequately de-
scribes the nature of the matter being disclosed or communicated. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A98 The inclusion of an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the accoun-
tant's review report does not affect the accountant's conclusion. An emphasis-
of-matter paragraph is not a substitute for disclosures in the financial state-
ments that the applicable financial reporting framework requires management
to make. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Accountant’s Review Report (Ref: par. .54)

.A99 If not properly presented or disclosed in the financial statements, a
matter cannot be included in an emphasis-of-matter paragraph. However, if the
matter is relevant to users' understanding of the review, the accountant's re-
sponsibilities, or the accountant's review report, the matter can be disclosed in
an other-matter paragraph. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.A100 An entity may prepare one set of financial statements in accordance
with a general purpose framework (for example, accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America) and another set of financial state-
ments in accordance with another general purpose framework (for example, In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board) and may engage the accountant to review both
sets of financial statements. If the accountant has determined that the frame-
works are acceptable in the respective circumstances, the accountant may in-
clude an other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review report referring to
the fact that another set of financial statements has been prepared by the same
entity in accordance with another general purpose framework and that the ac-
countant has issued a review report on those financial statements. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A101 The content of an other-matter paragraph reflects clearly that such
other matter is not required to be presented and disclosed in the financial state-
ments. An other-matter paragraph does not include information that the ac-
countant is prohibited from providing by law, regulation, or other professional
standards (for example, ethical standards relating to the confidentiality of in-
formation). An other-matter paragraph does not include information that is re-
quired to be provided by management. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Communication With Management (Ref: par. .55)

.A102 The accountant's communication with management, as described in
paragraph .55, enables management to be made aware of the nature of any spe-
cific matters that the accountant intends to highlight in the accountant's review
report and provides them with an opportunity to obtain further clarification
from the accountant, when necessary. When the inclusion of an other-matter
paragraph on a particular matter in the accountant's review report recurs on
each successive engagement, the accountant may determine that it is unnec-
essary to repeat the communication on each engagement. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A103 In addition to management, the accountant may also consider it ap-
propriate to communicate with those charged with governance regarding the
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expectation of including an other-matter paragraph in the accountant's review
report and the proposed wording of this paragraph. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Known Departures From the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework (Ref: par. .57 and .59-.60)

.A104 Examples of headings that an accountant may use to disclose de-
partures from an applicable financial reporting framework in the accountant's
review report include the following:

® Known Departures From Accounting Principles Generally Ac-
cepted in the United States of America

® Known Departures From International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as Promulgated by the International Accounting Standards
Board

® Known Departures From the Cash-Basis of Accounting
® Known Departures From the Tax-Basis of Accounting

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A105 Prior to withdrawing from a review engagement in those circum-
stances when the accountant believes that modification of the standard re-
port is not adequate to indicate the deficiencies in the financial statements as
a whole, the accountant may wish to consult with legal counsel. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A106 Including a statement that the financial statements are not in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework would be tantamount
to expressing an adverse opinion on the financial statements. Such an opin-
ion can be expressed only in the context of an audit engagement. Furthermore,
such a statement in an accountant's review report may confuse users because it
would contradict the statement required in paragraph .39f about whether the
accountant is aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
financial statements for them to be in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A107 Depending on the accountant's assessment of the possible dollar
magnitude of the effect of the departures, the significance of the affected items
to the entity, the pervasiveness and overall impact of the misstatements, and
whether disclosure has been made of the effect of the departures, the accoun-
tant may, in accordance with paragraphs .52—.55, include a separate paragraph
in the accountant's review report stating the limitations of the financial state-
ments. The following is an illustration of such a separate paragraph with re-
spect to an accountant's review report on financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America:

Limitations of the financial statements

Because the significance and pervasiveness of the matters described in the
Known Departures From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the
United States of America paragraphs makes it difficult to assess their im-
pact on the financial statements, users of the accompanying financial state-
ments should recognize that they might reach different conclusions about the
company's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows if they had
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access to revised financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A108 Inclusion of a separate paragraph, such as that illustrated in para-
graph .A104 in the accountant's review report is not a substitute for disclosure
of the specific departures or the effects of such departures if such effects have
been determined by management or are known as a result of the accountant's
procedures. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

A109 Exhibit C, "Illustrations of Accountant's Review Reports on Finan-
cial Statements," contains an illustrative example of an accountant's review
report that discloses a departure from the applicable financial reporting frame-
work.! [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

Alert That Restricts the Use of the Accountant’s Review Report
(Ref: par. .61)

.A110 The need for an alert that restricts the use of the accountant's re-
view report arises from the potential for the accountant's review report to be
misunderstood if taken out of the context in which the accountant's review re-
port is intended to be used. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS
No. 23, October 2016.]

.Al111 Accountant's review reports on financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with a general purpose framework ordinarily do not include an alert
that restricts their use. A general purpose framework is a financial reporting
framework designed to meet the common financial information needs of a wide
range of users. However, nothing in SSARSs precludes an accountant from in-
cluding an alert in any accountant's review report. For example, financial state-
ments prepared specifically for use in an acquisition may be prepared in accor-
dance with a general purpose framework because the parties involved in the
transaction have agreed that such general purpose financial statements are ap-
propriate for their purposes. Nevertheless, when the terms of the engagement
to review those financial statements require the accountant to supply the ac-
countant's review report only to specified parties, the accountant may consider
it necessary in the circumstances to include an other-matter paragraph in the
accountant's review report that restricts the use of the accountant's review re-
port. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Distribution of the Accountant’s Review Report (Ref: par. .61)

.A112 An accountant is not responsible for controlling, and cannot control,
distribution of the accountant's review report after its release. The alert that
restricts the use of the accountant's review report is designed to avoid misun-
derstandings related to the use of the accountant's review report, particularly
if the accountant's review report is taken out of the context in which the ac-
countant's review report is intended to be used. An accountant may consider
informing the entity or other specified parties that the accountant's review re-
port is not intended for distribution to parties other than those specified in

1 Tlustration 5, "An Accountant's Review Report on Comparative Financial Statements Disclos-
ing a Departure From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America," of
exhibit C, "Illustrations of Accountant's Review Reports on Financial Statements."
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the accountant's review report. The accountant may, in connection with estab-
lishing the terms of the engagement, reach an understanding with the entity
that the intended use of the accountant's review report will be restricted and
may obtain the entity's agreement that the entity and specified parties will not
distribute such accountant's review report to parties other than those identi-
fied therein. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

lllustrative Alert Language (Ref: par. .62)

.A113 The alert that restricts the use of the accountant's review report
may list the specified parties or refer to the specified parties listed elsewhere in
the accountant's review report. The following illustrates language that includes
the elements required by paragraph .62:

This report is intended solely for the information and use of [list or refer to the
specified parties] and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Adding Other Specified Parties (Ref: par. .63)

.A114 When the accountant is requested to add other parties as specified
parties, the accountant may agree to add other parties as specified parties based
on the accountant's consideration of factors such as the identity of the other par-
ties and the intended use of the accountant's review report. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

The Accountant’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue
as a Going Concern

Consideration of Conditions or Events That Indicate That There Could Be an
Uncertainty About the Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern
(Ref: par. .65)

.A115 In performing review procedures, the accountant may identify in-
formation about certain conditions or events that, when considered in the ag-
gregate, indicate there could be an uncertainty about the entity's ability to con-
tinue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. The significance of
such conditions and events will depend on the circumstances, and some may
have significance only when viewed in conjunction with others. The following
are examples of such conditions and events:

®  Negative trends. For example, recurring operating losses, working
capital deficiencies, negative cash flows from operating activities,
adverse key financial ratios

®  Other indications of possible financial difficulties. For example,
default on loan or similar agreements, arrearages in dividends,
denial of usual trade credit from suppliers, restructuring of debt,
noncompliance with statutory capital requirements, need to seek
new sources or methods of financing or to dispose of substantial
assets

® [Internal matters. For example, work stoppages or other labor dif-
ficulties, substantial dependence on the success of a particular
project, uneconomic long-term commitments, need to significantly
revise operations
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®  External matters that have occurred. For example, legal proceed-
ings, legislation, or similar matters that might jeopardize an en-
tity's ability to operate; loss of a key franchise, license, or patent;
loss of a principal customer or supplier; uninsured or underin-
sured catastrophe, such as a drought, earthquake, or flood

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
Consideration of Financial Statement Effects (Ref: par. .66)

.A116 In considering the adequacy of disclosure, some of the information
that might be disclosed includes the following:

® Principal conditions and events giving rise to the assessment of
an uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time

® The possible effects of such conditions and events

® Management's evaluation of the significance of those conditions
and events and any mitigating factors

® Possible discontinuance of operations

® Management's plans (including relevant prospective financial in-
formation)

® Information about the recoverability or classification of recorded
asset amounts or the amounts or classification of liabilities

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Consideration of the Effects on the Accountant’s Review Report
(Ref: par. .68)

A117 If, after considering the evidence or information from paragraph .65
and management's consideration of the possible effects of the going concern un-
certainty on the financial statements from paragraph .66, the accountant con-
cludes that management has adequately disclosed the issue, the accountant
may include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the accountant's review re-
port pursuant to paragraphs .52—.53 and .54. The accountant is not required
to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph with respect to a going concern
uncertainty. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A118 The following is an illustration of an emphasis-of-matter paragraph
the accountant may include in the accountant's review report when the ac-
countant concludes that management has adequately disclosed an uncertainty
about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable pe-
riod of time and determines to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph with
respect to the going concern uncertainty:

Emphasis of Matter

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the
Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note X to the finan-
cial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and
has a net capital deficiency that raises an uncertainty about its ability to con-
tinue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are
also described in Note X. The financial statements do not include any adjust-
ments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our conclusion
is not modified with respect to this matter.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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.A119 Examples of inappropriate wording in an emphasis-of-matter para-
graph when the accountant concludes that management has adequately dis-
closed an uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going con-
cern for a reasonable period of time and determines to include an emphasis-
of-matter paragraph with respect to the going concern uncertainty include the
following:

® [If the company continues to suffer recurring losses from opera-
tions and continues to have a net capital deficiency, there may be
an uncertainty about its ability to continue as a going concern.

® The company has been unable to renegotiate its expiring credit
agreements. Unless the company is able to obtain financial sup-
port, there is an uncertainty about its ability to continue as a going
concern.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts

Subsequent Events (Ref: par. .69)

.A120 Evidence or information that subsequent events that require ad-
justment of, or disclosure in, the financial statements may come to the accoun-
tant's attention in the following ways:

®  During the performance of review procedures

® Subsequent to the date of the accountant's review report but prior
to the release of the report

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Subsequently Discovered Facts That Became Known to the Accountant After
the Report Release Date (Ref: par. .74-.77)

.A121 New information may come to the accountant's attention that, had
such information been known to the accountant at the date of the accountant's
review report, may have caused the accountant to revise the accountant's re-
view report. When such information becomes known to the accountant after the
report release date, the requirements in paragraphs .74—.77 apply, even if the
accountant has withdrawn or been discharged. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A122 Because of the variety of conditions that might be encountered, the
specific procedures or actions to be taken in a particular case may vary some-
what in light of the circumstances. For example, when determining whether the
financial statements need revision, as required by paragraph .74b, the accoun-
tant may consider, in addition to the requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework, whether the accountant believes persons are currently
using, or are likely to use, the financial statements and who would attach impor-
tance to the subsequently discovered facts. Consideration may be given, among
other things, to the issuance of reviewed or audited financial statements for a
subsequent period, the time elapsed since the financial statements were issued
and the date of the accountant's review report released, and any legal implica-
tions. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A123 The steps taken by management to ensure that anyone in receipt of
the reviewed financial statements is informed of the situation, including that
the reviewed financial statements are not to be used, depend on the circum-
stances. Management's steps may include the following:
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® Notify anyone who is known to be using, or who is likely to use, the
financial statements and the accountant's review report that they
are not to be used and that revised financial statements, together
with a new accountant's review report, will be issued. This may be
necessary when the issuance of revised financial statements and
a new accountant's review report is not imminent.

® Issue, as soon as practicable, revised financial statements with
appropriate disclosure of the matter.

® Issue the subsequent period's financial statements with appropri-
ate disclosure of the matter. This may be appropriate when is-
suance of the subsequent period's reviewed or audited financial
statements is imminent.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A124 Ifmanagement made the reviewed financial statements available to
third parties despite the accountant's notification not to do so, or if the accoun-
tant believes that management or those charged with governance have failed to
take the necessary steps to prevent use of the accountant's review report on the
previously issued reviewed financial statements despite the accountant's prior
notification that the accountant will take action to seek to prevent such use, the
accountant's course of action depends upon the accountant's legal and ethical
rights and obligations. Consequently, the accountant may consider it appropri-
ate to seek legal advice. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A125 The actions that the accountant may take to seek to prevent use of
the accountant's review report may depend upon the degree of certainty of the
accountant's knowledge that persons or entities exist who are currently using,
or who will use, the reviewed financial statements, and who would attach im-
portance to the information, and the accountant's ability as a practical matter
to communicate with them. In addition to seeking legal advice, the accountant
may consider taking the following steps to the extent applicable:

® Notify management and those charged with governance that the
accountant's review report is not to be used.

® Notify regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over the entity that
the accountant's review report is not to be used, including a re-
quest that the agency take whatever steps it may deem appropri-
ate to accomplish the necessary disclosure.

® Notify anyone known to the accountant to be using the financial
statements that the accountant's review report is not to be used. In
some instances, it will not be practicable for the accountant to give
appropriate individual notification to stockholders or investors at
large whose identities are unknown to the accountant; notifica-
tion to a regulatory agency having jurisdiction over the entity will
usually be the only practical means for the accountant to provide
appropriate disclosure, together with a request that the agency
take whatever steps it may deem appropriate to accomplish the
necessary disclosure.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A126 Depending on the circumstances, if the accountant is able to deter-
mine that the financial statements need revision, the accountant's notification
to anyone in receipt of the reviewed financial statements may, if permitted by
law, regulation, and relevant ethical requirements
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® include a description of the nature of the matter and of its effect
on the financial statements, avoiding comments concerning the
conduct or motives of any person.

® describe the effect that the matter would have had on the accoun-
tant's review report if it had been known to the accountant at the
date of the report and had not been reflected in the financial state-
ments.

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A127 If the accountant was not able to determine whether the financial
statements need revision, the notification to anyone in receipt of the reviewed
financial statements may indicate that information became known to the ac-
countant and that, if the information is true, the accountant believes that the
accountant's review report is not to be used. The specific matter may not be
permitted by law, regulation, and ethical requirement to be detailed in the no-
tification.

Reference to the Work of Other Accountants in an Accountant’s
Review Report (Ref: par. .78)

.A128 The accountant of the reporting entity may make reference to any
or all other accountants who audited or reviewed significant components. For
example, if a significant component is audited or reviewed by an other accoun-
tant and a second significant component is audited or reviewed by a different
other accountant, the accountant of the reporting entity may decide to make
reference to one of the other accountants, both of the other accountants, or nei-
ther. The decision is solely at the discretion and judgment of the accountant of
the reporting entity. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

.A129 The disclosure of the magnitude of the portion of the financial state-
ments audited or reviewed by other accountants may be achieved by stating
the dollar amounts or percentages of total assets, total revenues, other appro-
priate criteria, or a combination of these, whichever most clearly describes the
portion of the financial statements audited or reviewed by other accountants.
When two or more other accountants participate in the audit or review, the
dollar amounts or the percentages covered by the other accountants may be
stated in the aggregate. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

.A130 Exhibit C contains an example of appropriate reporting in the ac-
countant's review report when reference is made to the audit or review of sig-
nificant components, such as consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries and
investees, by other accountants.? [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Supplementary Information That Accompanies Reviewed
Financial Statements (Ref: par. .80-.82)

[.A131] [Paragraph renumbered and deleted by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016.]

2 Tllustration 6, "An Accountant's Review Report on Comparative Consolidated Financial State-
ments in Which the Accountant Makes Reference to the Work of Other Accountants Who Were En-
gaged to Review the Financial Statements of a Significant Component," of exhibit C.
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.A132 The following is an example of how an accountant may word an
other-matter paragraph addressing supplementary information when the sup-
plementary information has been subjected to the review procedures applied
in the accountant's review of the basic financial statements:

Other Matter

The accompanying [identify the supplementary information] is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was de-
rived from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements. The supplementary information has
been subjected to the review procedures applied in my (our) review of the ba-
sic financial statements. I am (We are) not aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the supplementary information. I (We) have not au-
dited the supplementary information and do not express an opinion on such
information.

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS
No. 23.]

.A133 The following is an example of how an accountant may word an
other-matter paragraph addressing supplementary information when the sup-
plementary information has not been subjected to the review procedures ap-
plied in the review of the basic financial statements:

Other Matter

The accompanying [identify the supplementary information] is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management. I (We) have
not audited or reviewed such information and I (we) do not express an opinion,
a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on it.

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS
No. 23]

.A134 Supplementary information may become unattached from the ac-
countant's review report. To minimize the possibility that a user of the sup-
plementary information may infer, through the accountant's association with
such information, an unintended level of reliance on it, the accountant may
consider including a reference to the accountant's review report on each page
of the supplementary information. An example of a reference to the accoun-
tant's review report included on each page of the supplementary information
is "See independent accountant's review report." [Paragraph renumbered and
amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

Required Supplementary Information (Ref: par. .83-.84)

.A135 Examples of required supplementary information that may accom-
pany reviewed financial statements include the following:

®  With respect to common interest realty associations, estimates of
current or future costs of major repairs and replacements of com-
mon property that will be required in the future as required by
FASB Accounting Standards Codification 972-235-50-3

® Management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison
statements as required by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Finan-
cial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—
for State and Local Governments

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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.A136 Prescribed guidelines are the authoritative guidelines established
by the designated accounting standard-setter for the methods of measure-
ment and presentation of the required supplementary information. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A137 Because the required supplementary information accompanies the
basic financial statements, the accountant's review report on the financial
statements includes a discussion of the responsibility taken by the accountant
on that information. However, if the required supplementary information is
omitted by the entity, the accountant does not have a responsibility to present
that information. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016.]

Change in Engagement From Audit to Review (Ref: par. .86)

.A138 A request to change the engagement may result from a change in
circumstances affecting the entity's requirement for an audit engagement; a
misunderstanding regarding the nature of an audit or review engagement; or
a restriction on the scope of the audit engagement, whether imposed by man-
agement or caused by circumstances. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

A139 A change in circumstances that affects the entity's requirement for
an audit engagement or a misunderstanding concerning the nature of an audit
or review engagement would ordinarily be considered a reasonable basis for re-
questing a change in the engagement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A140 The implications of a restriction on the scope of the audit engage-
ment include the possibility that information affected by the scope restriction
may be incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Review Documentation (Ref: par. .91)

.A141 Review documentation may be recorded on paper or on electronic or
other media. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A142 The accountant need not include in review documentation super-
seded drafts of working papers and financial statements, notes that reflect in-
complete or preliminary thinking, previous copies of documents corrected for
typographical or other errors, and duplicates of documents. [Paragraph renum-
bered, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A143 The accountant is not precluded from supporting the review report
by other means in addition to the review documentation. Such other means
might include written documentation contained in other engagement files (for
example, compilation or nonattest services) or quality control files (for exam-
ple, consultation files) and, in limited situations, oral explanations. On their
own, oral explanations by the accountant do not represent adequate support
for the work the accountant performed or conclusions reached, but they may
be used to explain or clarify information contained in the review documen-
tation. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October
2016.]

.A144 In the case of a review in which the engagement partner performs
all the review work, the engagement partner is still required to comply with the
overriding requirement in paragraph .91 to prepare review documentation that
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can be understood by an experienced accountant because the review documen-
tation may be subject to review by external parties. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A145 Findings or issues that, in the accountant's professional judgment,
are significant may include the results of review procedures that indicate that
the financial statements could be materially misstated, including actions taken
to address such findings and the basis for the final conclusions. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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.A146

Appendix A— Analytical Procedures the Accountant
May Consider Performing When Conducting a Review
of Financial Statements (Ref: par. .A32)

Analytical procedures are designed to identify relationships and individual
items that appear to be unusual and that may reflect a material misstatement
of the financial statements. Examples of analytical procedures that an accoun-
tant may consider performing in a review of financial statements include the
following:

® Comparing current financial statements with the financial state-
ments of the prior period.

® Comparing current financial statements with anticipated results,
such as budgets or forecasts (for example, comparing tax bal-
ances and the relationship between the provision for income taxes
and pretax income in the current financial statements with corre-
sponding information in [a] budgets, using expected rates, and [5]
financial statements for prior periods). Caution is necessary when
comparing and evaluating current financial statements with bud-
gets, forecasts, or other anticipated results because of the inherent
lack of precision in estimating the future and the susceptibility of
such information to manipulation and misstatement by manage-
ment to reflect desired results.

® Comparing current financial statements with relevant nonfinan-
cial information.

® (Comparing ratios and indicators for the current period with ex-
pectations based on prior periods (for example, performing gross
profit analysis by product line and operating segment using el-
ements of the current financial statements and comparing the
results with corresponding information for prior periods). Exam-
ples of key ratios and indicators are the current ratio, receivable
turnover or days sales outstanding, inventory turnover, deprecia-
tion to average fixed assets, debt to equity, gross profit percentage,
net income percentage, and plant operating rates.

® Comparing ratios and indicators for the current period with those
of entities in the same industry.

® Comparing relationships among elements in the current finan-
cial statements with corresponding relationships in the financial
statements of prior periods (for example, expense by type as a per-
centage of sales, assets by type as a percentage of total assets, and
percentage of change in sales to percentage of change in receiv-
ables).

® Comparing disaggregated data. The following are examples of how
data may be disaggregated:

— By period (for example, financial statement items disag-
gregated into quarterly, monthly, or weekly amounts)

— By product line or operating segment

— By location (for example, subsidiary, division, or branch)
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Analytical procedures may include such statistical techniques as trend anal-
ysis or regression analysis and may be performed manually or with the use

of computer-assisted techniques. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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A147

Appendix B—Unusual or Complex Situations to Be
Considered by the Accountant When Performing
Inquiry Procedures in a Review of Financial Statements
(Ref: par. .A41)

The following are examples of situations about which the accountant may in-
quire of management:

Business combinations

New or complex revenue recognition methods
Impairment of assets

Disposal of a segment of a business

Use of derivative instruments and hedging activities

Sales and transfers that may call into question the classification
of investments in securities, including management's intent and
ability with respect to the remaining securities classified as held
to maturity

Adoption of new stock compensation plans or changes to existing
plans

Restructuring charges taken in the current and prior periods
Significant, unusual, or infrequently occurring transactions
Changes in litigation or contingencies

Changes in major contracts with customers or suppliers
Application of new accounting principles

Changes in accounting principles or the methods of applying them

Trends and developments affecting accounting estimates, such as
allowances for bad debts and excess or obsolete inventories, pro-
visions for warranties and employee benefits, and realization of
unearned income and deferred charges

Compliance with debt covenants

Changes in related parties or significant new related party trans-
actions

Material off-balance sheet transactions, special purpose entities,
and other equity investments

Unique terms for debt or capital stock that could affect classifica-
tion

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

AR-C §90.A147 ©2017, AICPA



Review of Financial Statements 145

.A148

Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letters
(Ref: par. .A19)

Illustration 1—An Engagement Letter for a Review Engagement
With Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Ac-
counting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

INlustration 2—An Engagement Letter for a Review Engagement
With Respect to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With
the Tax-Basis of Accounting

The illustrative engagement letters in this exhibit are intended as illustrations
that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined in Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. The engagement letter will
vary according to individual requirements and circumstances, and the illus-
trations are drafted to refer to a review engagement for a single reporting pe-
riod. The accountant may seek legal advice about whether a proposed letter is
suitable.

lllustration 1—An Engagement Letter for a Review Engagement With Respect to
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles
Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the financial
statements, including related notes, subject to the review engage-
ment.

® The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company: !

You 2 have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Com-
pany, which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the re-
lated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for
the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements and per-
form a review engagement with respect to those financial statements.® We are
pleased to confirm our acceptance and understanding of this engagement by
means of this letter.

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the review engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to
refer to the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A18.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant
would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement,
such as income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

a. prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America based
on information provided by you and

b. obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are
aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
financial statements in order for the statements to be in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We will conduct our engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting
and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with the AICPA's
Code of Professional Conduct, including ethical principles of integrity, objectiv-
ity, professional competence, and due care.

A review engagement includes primarily applying analytical procedures to your
financial data and making inquiries of company management. A review engage-
ment is substantially less in scope than an audit engagement, the objective of
which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a
whole. A review engagement does not contemplate obtaining an understanding
of the entity's internal control; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records
by obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observa-
tion, confirmation, or the examination of source documents; or other procedures
ordinarily performed in an audit engagement. Accordingly, we will not express
an opinion regarding the financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by error or fraud, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations. However, we will inform the appropriate level of management
of any material errors and any evidence or information that comes to our atten-
tion during the performance of our review procedures that indicates fraud may
have occurred. In addition, we will report to you any evidence or information
that comes to our attention during the performance of our review procedures
regarding noncompliance with laws and regulations that may have occurred,
unless they are clearly inconsequential.

Your Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that you acknowl-
edge and understand that our role is to prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we
are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for the statements to be in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. You have the
following overall responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking the
engagement in accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as the financial reporting framework to
be applied in the preparation of the financial statements

b. The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America and the inclusion of all informative
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disclosures that are appropriate for accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America

c¢. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

d. The prevention and detection of fraud

e. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities

f The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the engagement

g To provide us with

i. access to all information of which you are aware is rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-
cial statements, such as records, documentation, and other
matters

ii. additional information that we may request from you for
the purpose of the review engagement

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity of whom
we determine it necessary to make inquiries

h. To provide us, at the conclusion of the engagement, with a letter
that confirms certain representations made during the review

You are also responsible for all management decisions and responsibilities, and
for designating an individual with suitable skills, knowledge, and experience
to oversee our preparation of your financial statements. You are responsible
for evaluating the adequacy and results of services performed and accepting
responsibility for such services.

Our Report

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the accountant's
review report. Example follows.]

We will issue a written report upon completion of our review of ABC Company's
financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the board of directors of
ABC Company. We cannot provide assurance that an unmodified accountant's
review report will be issued. Circumstances may arise in which it is neces-
sary for us to report known departures from accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, add an emphasis-of-matter or other-
matter paragraph(s), or withdraw from the engagement. If, for any reason, we
are unable to complete the review of your financial statements, we will not issue
a report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

You agree to include our accountant's review report in any document containing
financial statements that indicates that such financial statements have been
reviewed by us and, prior to inclusion of the report, to ask our permission to do
S0.

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services. . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding limita-
tion of or other arrangements regarding the liability of the accountant or the en-
tity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from knowing
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misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may restrict
or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorney's fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to pre-
pare the financial statements described herein and to perform a review of those
same financial statements and our respective responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter ele-
ments.]

lllustration 2— An Engagement Letter for a Review Engagement With Respect to
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Accounting

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the financial
statements, including related notes, subject to the review engage-
ment.

® The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the
tax-basis of accounting.

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company: !

You 2 have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Com-
pany, which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities, and equity—tax-basis
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of operations and retained
earnings—tax-basis, and cash flows—tax-basis for the year then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements and to perform a review engagement
with respect to those financial statements.® We are pleased to confirm our ac-
ceptance and our understanding of this engagement by means of this letter.

Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the review engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to
refer to the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A18.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant
would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement,
such as income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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a. prepare financial statements in accordance with the tax-basis of
accounting based on information provided by you and

b. obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are
aware of any material modifications that should be made to the fi-
nancial statements in order for the statements to be in accordance
with the tax-basis of accounting.

We will conduct our review engagement in accordance with Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with the
AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct, including ethical principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence, and due care.

A review engagement includes primarily applying analytical procedures to your
financial data and making inquiries of company management. A review engage-
ment is substantially less in scope than an audit engagement, the objective of
which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a
whole. A review engagement does not contemplate obtaining an understanding
of the entity's internal control; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records
by obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observa-
tion, confirmation, or the examination of source documents; or other procedures
ordinarily performed in an audit engagement. Accordingly, we will not express
an opinion regarding the financial statements.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial
statement misstatements, including those caused by error or fraud, or to iden-
tify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or noncompliance with laws
and regulations. However, we will inform the appropriate level of management
of any material errors and any evidence or information that comes to our atten-
tion during the performance of our review procedures that indicates fraud may
have occurred. In addition, we will report to you any evidence or information
that comes to our attention during the performance of our review procedures
regarding noncompliance with laws and regulations that may have occurred,
unless they are clearly inconsequential.

Your Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that you acknowl-
edge and understand that our role is to prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with the tax-basis of accounting and to obtain limited assurance as a
basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the financial statements in order for the statements to be
in accordance with the tax-basis of accounting. You have the following overall
responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking the engagement in
accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of the tax-basis of accounting as the financial report-
ing framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial
statements

b. The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with the tax-basis of accounting and the inclusion of
all informative disclosures that are appropriate for the tax-basis
of accounting. This includes

i. a description of the tax-basis of accounting, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, and how the
tax-basis of accounting differs from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, the ef-
fects of which need not be qualified
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ii. informative disclosures similar to those required by ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America

c¢. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

d. The prevention and detection of fraud

e. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations
applicable to its activities

f The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, expla-
nations, and other information, including significant judgments,
you provide to us for the engagement

g.  To provide us with

i. access to all information of which you are aware is rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-
cial statements, such as records, documentation, and other
matters

ii. additional information that we may request from you for
the purpose of the review engagement

iii. unrestricted access to persons within the entity of whom
we determine it necessary to make inquiries

h. To provide us, at the conclusion of the engagement, with a letter
that confirms certain representations made during the review

You are also responsible for all management decisions and responsibilities and
for designating an individual with suitable skills, knowledge, and experience
to oversee our preparation of your financial statements. You are responsible for
evaluating the adequacy and results of the services performed and accepting
responsibility for such services.

Our Report

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the accountant's
review report. Example follows.]

We will issue a written report upon completion of our review of ABC Company's
financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the board of directors of
ABC Company. We cannot provide assurance that an unmodified accountant's
review report will be issued. Circumstances may arise in which it is neces-
sary of us to report known departures from the tax-basis of accounting, add
an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph(s), or withdraw from the en-
gagement. If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the review of your fi-
nancial statements, we will not issue a report on such statements as a result of
this engagement.

You agree to include our accountant's review report in any document containing
financial statements that indicates that such financial statements have been
reviewed by us and, prior to inclusion of the report, to ask our permission to do
s0.

Other Relevant Information

Our fees for these services. . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding limita-
tion of or other arrangements regarding the liability of the accountant or the en-
tity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from knowing
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misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may restrict
or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorney's fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our
own intentional wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to pre-
pare the financial statements described herein and to perform a review with
respect to those same financial statements and our respective responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter ele-
ments. Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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A149

Exhibit B—lllustrative Representation Letter
(Ref: par. .A61)

The following illustrative letter is intended as an illustration that may be used
to comply with the requirements of section 90. The representation letter will
vary according to individual requirements and circumstances.

It is assumed in this illustration that the applicable financial reporting frame-
work is accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amer-
ica, that no conditions or events exist that might be indicative of the entity's
inability to continue as a going concern, and that no exceptions exist to the
requested written representations. If circumstances differ from these assump-
tions, the representations would need to be modified to reflect the actual cir-
cumstances.

(Entity Letterhead)
(To Accountant)
(Date)

This representation letter is provided in connection with your review of the
financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheets as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income, changes
in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of obtaining limited assurance
as a basis for reporting whether you are aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements in order for the statements to
be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters
that are material. Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they in-
volve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in the light
of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a rea-
sonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by
the omission or misstatement.

We represent that [to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing
ourselves] las of (date of accountant's review report)]:

Financial Statements

® We acknowledge our responsibility and have fulfilled our respon-
sibilities for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America.

® We acknowledge our responsibility and have fulfilled our respon-
sibilities for the design, implementation, and maintenance of in-
ternal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

® We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementa-
tion, and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect
fraud.
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® Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting esti-
mates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

® Related party relationships and transactions have been appropri-
ately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the require-
ments of accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

®  Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the company is
contingently liable have been properly accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with the requirements of accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America.

® Significant estimates and material concentrations known to man-
agement that are required to be disclosed in accordance with
FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 275, Risks and
Uncertainties, have been properly accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. [Significant esti-
mates are estimates at the balance sheet date that could change
materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to volumes of
business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geo-
graphic areas for which events could occur that would significantly
disrupt normal finances within the next year.]

® All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and
for which accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires adjustment or disclosure have been
adjusted or disclosed.

® The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both in-
dividually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a
whole.

® The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims
have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Any other matters that the accountant may consider appropriate.]

Information Provided

® We have responded fully and truthfully to all inquiries made to us
by you during your review.

® We have provided you with

— access to all information, of which we are aware, that is
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements, such as records, documentation, and
other matters;

— minutes of meetings of stockholders, directors, and com-
mittees of directors or summaries of actions of recent meet-
ings for which minutes have not yet been prepared;

— additional information that you have requested from us
for the purpose of the review; and

— unrestricted access to persons within the entity from
whom you determined it necessary to obtain review evi-
dence.
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® All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and
are reflected in the financial statements.

® We have [no knowledge of any] [disclosed to you all information
that we are aware of regarding] fraud or suspected fraud that af-
fects the entity and involves

— management,

— employees who have significant roles in internal control,
or

— others when the fraud could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

® We have [no knowledge of anyl [disclosed to you all information
that we are aware of regarding] allegations of fraud, or suspected
fraud, affecting the entity's financial statements as a whole com-
municated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators,
or others.

® We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the car-
rying amounts or classification of assets and liabilities.

® We have disclosed to you all known instances of noncompliance or
suspected noncompliance with laws or regulations whose effects
should be considered when preparing financial statements.

®  We [have disclosed to you all known actual or possible] [are not
aware of any pending or threatened] litigation and claims whose
effects should be considered when preparing the financial state-
ments [and we have not consulted legal counsel concerning litiga-
tion or claims]

®  We have disclosed to you any other material liabilities or gain or
loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by
FASB ASC 450, Contingencies.

®  We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity's related parties
and all the related party relationships and transactions of which
we are aware.

® No material losses exist (such as from obsolete inventory or pur-
chase or sale commitments) that have not been properly accrued
or disclosed in the financial statements.

® The company has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and no
liens or encumbrances on such assets exist, nor has any asset been
pledged as collateral, except as disclosed to you and reported in the
financial statements.

® We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that
would have a material effect on the financial statements in the
event of noncompliance.

® We are in agreement with the adjusting journal entries that you
have recommended, and they have been posted to the company's
accounts (if applicable).

[Any other matters that the accountant may consider necessary.]

[Name of Chief Executive Officer and Title]
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[Name of Chief Financial Officer and Title]
Representation letters ordinarily are tailored to include additional appropriate
representations from management relating to matters specific to the entity's

business or industry.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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A150

Exhibit C—lllustrations of Accountant’s Review Reports
on Financial Statements (Ref: par. .A77, .A106, and
A127)

The illustrative accountant's review reports in this exhibit are intended as il-
lustrations that may be used to comply with the requirements of section 90.
The accountant's review report will vary according to individual requirements
and circumstances.

Illustration 1—An Accountant's Review Report on Comparative Fi-
nancial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Princi-
ples Generally Accepted in the United States of America When a Re-
view Has Been Performed for Both Periods

Illustration 2—An Accountant's Review Report on Single Year Finan-
cial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles
Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Illustration 3—An Accountant's Review Report on Single Year Finan-
cial Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Account-
ing

Illustration 4—An Accountant's Review Report on Interim Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Gen-
erally Accepted in the United States of America

Illustration 5—An Accountant's Review Report on Comparative Fi-
nancial Statements Disclosing a Departure From Accounting Princi-
ples Generally Accepted in the United States of America

Illustration 6—An Accountant's Review Report on Comparative Con-
solidated Financial Statements in Which the Accountant Makes Refer-
ence to the Work of Other Accountants Who Were Engaged to Review
the Financial Statements of a Significant Component

lllustration 1—An Accountant’s Review Report on Comparative Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in the United States of America When a Review Has Been Performed
for Both Periods

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of comparative financial statements.

® The financial statements are prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company,
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
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related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's
(owners') financial data and making inquiries of company management (own-
ers). A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which
is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole.
Accordingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promul-
gated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those
standards require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as
a basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis
for my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) reviews, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifica-
tions that should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's review report]

lllustration 2—An Accountant’s Review Report on Single Year Financial

Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in the United States of America

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of financial statements (single year).

® The financial statements are prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company,
which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A review
includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's (owners')
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financial data and making inquiries of company management (owners). A re-
view is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accord-
ingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those standards
require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis
for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. I (We)
believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis for
my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifica-
tions that should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's review report]

lllustration 3—An Accountant’s Review Report on Single Year Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance With the Tax-Basis of Accounting

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of financial statements (single year).

® The financial statements are of a partnership and prepared in ac-
cordance with the basis of accounting the partnership uses for in-
come tax purposes (that is, a special purpose framework).

® Management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Partner-
ship, which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities, and partners' capital—
tax-basis as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of revenue and
expenses—tax-basis, and partners' capital—tax-basis for the year then ended,
and the related notes to the financial statements. A review includes primarily
applying analytical procedures to management's (partners') financial data and
making inquiries of partnership management (partners). A review is substan-
tially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an
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opinion regarding the financial statement as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not
express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Partners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of these financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting
the partnership uses for income tax purposes; this includes determining that
the basis of accounting the partnership uses for income tax purposes is an ac-
ceptable basis for the preparation of financial statements in the circumstances.
Management (Partners) is (are) also responsible for the design, implementa-
tion, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those standards
require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis
for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with
the basis of accounting the partnership uses for income tax purposes. I (We)
believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis for
my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifica-
tions that should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with the basis of accounting the partnership uses
for income tax purposes.

Basis of Accounting

I (We) draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the
basis of accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the basis of accounting the partnership uses for income tax purposes, which is a
basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Our conclusion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriatel
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's review report]

lllustration 4—An Accountant’s Review Report on Interim Financial Statements
Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the
United States of America

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of interim financial statements for the pe-
riod ended September 30, 20XX, and for the three and nine months
then ended.

® The interim financial statements are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
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® The accountant appropriately performs the engagement in accor-
dance with SSARSs (that is, AU-C section 930, Interim Financial
Information [AICPA, Professional Standards], is not applicable).

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying interim financial statements of XYZ
Company, which comprise the balance sheet as of September 30, 20XX, and the
related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows
for the three and nine months then ended, and the related notes to the interim
financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical proce-
dures to management's (owners') financial data and making inquiries of com-
pany management (owners). A review is substantially less in scope than an
audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the in-
terim financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not express such
an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of these interim financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of interim financial statements that are
free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promul-
gated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those
standards require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance
as a basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifi-
cations that should be made to the interim financial statements for them to
be in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide
a reasonable basis for my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the accompanying interim financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's review report]

lllustration 5—An Accountant’s Review Report on Comparative Financial

Statements Disclosing a Departure From Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in the United States of America

Circumstances include the following:
® Review of a complete set of comparative financial statements.

® The financial statements contain a departure from accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company,
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's
(owners') financial data and making inquiries of company management (own-
ers). A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which
is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole.
Accordingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promul-
gated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those
standards require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as
a basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis
for my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) reviews, except for the issue noted in the Known Depar-
ture From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of
America paragraph, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order for them to
be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Known Departure From Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in
the United States of America

As disclosed in Note X to these financial statements, accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America require that inventory cost con-
sist of material, labor, and overhead. Management has informed me (us) that
the inventory of finished goods and work in process is stated in the accompa-
nying financial statements at material and labor cost only, and that the effects
of this departure from accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America on financial position, results of operations, and cash flows
have not been determined.

or

As disclosed in Note X to these financial statements, the company has adopted
[description of newly adopted method], whereas it previously used [description
of previous method]. Although the [description of newly adopted method] is in
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accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, the company does not appear to have reasonable justification for
making a change as required by FASB Accounting Standards Codification 250,
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's review report]

lllustration 6—An Accountant’s Review Report on Comparative Consolidated
Financial Statements in Which the Accountant Makes Reference to the Work of
Other Accountants Who Were Engaged to Review the Financial Statements of a
Significant Component

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of comparative consolidated financial
statements.

® The financial statements of B Company, a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, whose financial statements reflect total assets constitut-
ing 20 percent and 22 percent, respectively, of consolidated total
assets at December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and total revenues con-
stituting 18 percent and 20 percent, respectively, of consolidated
total revenues for the years then ended, were reviewed by other
accountants, and the accountant has decided to make reference to
the work of other accountants in the accountant's review report.

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying consolidated financial statements of
XYZ Company and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A review includes
primarily applying analytical procedures to management's (owners') financial
data and making inquiries of company management (owners). A review is sub-
stantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression
of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, I (we)
do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
We have not reviewed the financial statements of B Company, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, whose financial statements reflect total assets constituting 20 per-
cent and 22 percent, respectively, of consolidated total assets at December 31,
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20X2 and 20X1, and total revenues constituting 18 percent and 20 percent, re-
spectively, of consolidated total revenues for the years then ended. These state-
ments were reviewed by other accountants, whose report has been furnished to
me (us), and our conclusion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for B
Company, is based solely on the report of the other accountants.

SSARSSs require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a
basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the consolidated financial statements for them to be in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a
reasonable basis for my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) reviews, and the report of other accountants, I am (we are)
not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompa-
nying consolidated financial statements in order for them to be in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]

[Date of the accountant's review report]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]
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AR-C Section 9090

Review of Financial Statements:
Accounting and Review Services
Interpretation of Section 90

1. Considerations Related to Reviews Performed in Accordance With
International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (Revised),

Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements

.01 Question—Section 90, Review of Financial Statements, requires that
the written review report include a statement that the accountant's responsi-
bility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.! May a practitioner
also indicate that the review was conducted in accordance with ISRE 2400 (Re-
vised), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board?

.02 Interpretation—Yes. A practitioner may review the financial state-
ments of an entity in accordance with SSARSs and in accordance with another
set of review standards (for example, ISRE 2400 [Revised]). In circumstances in
which the accountant's review report states that the review was conducted in
accordance with SSARSs and another set of review standards, the practitioner
should comply with both sets of standards.

The following illustrates an independent accountant's review report in which
the review was conducted in accordance with both SSARSs and ISRE 2400
(Revised).

Circumstances include the following:

® Review of a complete set of general purpose consolidated
financial statements (comparative).

® Financial statements prepared in accordance with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Independent Accountant's Review Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company,
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A
review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management (own-
ers') financial data and making inquiries of company management (owners). A
review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accord-
ingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.

1 Paragraph .39e(i) of section 90, Review of Financial Statements.
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, im-
plementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promul-
gated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and
in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2400 (Re-
vised) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Those standards require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited as-
surance as a basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material
modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a
reasonable basis for my (our) conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) reviews, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifica-
tions that should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

[Signature of accounting firm, or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's review report]

The accountant should not refer to having conducted a review in accordance
with ISRE 2400 (Revised) in addition to SSARSSs, unless the review was con-
ducted in accordance with both sets of standards in their entirety.

[Issue Date: February 2016.]
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AR-C Section 120

Compilation of Pro Forma Financial
Information

(Supersedes SSARS No. 14)
Source: SSARS No. 22

Effective for compilation reports on pro forma financial information
dated on or after May 1, 2017.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section contains performance and reporting requirements and ap-
plication guidance for accountants engaged to perform a compilation engage-
ment on pro forma financial information. (Ref: par. .A1)

Effective Date

.02 This section is effective for compilation reports on pro forma financial
information dated on or after May 1, 2017.

Objective

.03 The objective of the accountant in a compilation of pro forma financial
information is to apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist
management in the presentation of pro forma financial information and report
in accordance with this section without undertaking to obtain or provide any
assurance on the pro forma financial information.

Definition
.04 For purposes of this section, the following term has the meaning at-
tributed as follows:

Pro forma financial information. A presentation that shows what the
significant effects on historical financial information might have been
had a consummated or proposed transaction (or event) occurred at an
earlier date. (Ref: par. .A2—.A5)

Requirements

General Principles for Compilations of Pro Forma
Financial Information

.05 In addition to complying with this section, an accountant is required
to comply with section 60, General Principles for Engagements Performed in
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Accordance With Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services,
adapted as necessary.

Independence

.06 In a compilation of pro forma financial information, the accountant
must determine whether the accountant is independent of the entity. (Ref:
par. .A6)

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships

.07 As a condition for accepting an engagement to perform a compilation
on pro forma financial information, in addition to the requirements in para-
graph .25 of section 60, adapted as necessary, the accountant should obtain the
agreement of management that it acknowledges and understands its responsi-
bility for the following: (Ref: par. .A7)

a. The preparation and fair presentation of pro forma financial in-
formation in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework (Ref: par. .A8)

b. To include the following in any document that contains the pro
forma financial information:

i. The complete financial statements of the entity for the
most recent year (or for the preceding year if financial
statements for the most recent year are not yet available)
or such financial statements are readily available (Ref: par.
.A9)

ii. If pro forma financial information is presented for an in-
terim period, either historical interim financial informa-
tion for that period (which may be in condensed form) or
that such interim information is readily available (Ref: par.
.A10)

iii. In the case of a business combination, the relevant his-
torical financial information for the significant constituent
parts of the combined entity

c¢. To ensure that the financial statements of the entity (or, in the
case of a business combination, of each significant constituent
part of the combined entity) on which the pro forma financial in-
formation is based have been subjected to a compilation, review,
or an audit engagement

d. To include the accountant's compilation or review report or the
auditor's report on the financial statements (or to have readily
available) in any document containing the pro forma financial in-
formation

e. To present a summary of significant assumptions with the pro
forma financial information

f To obtain the accountant's permission prior to including the ac-
countant's compilation report in any document containing the pro
forma financial information that indicates that the entity's ac-
countant has performed a compilation engagement on such pro
forma financial information

.08 If the accountant is not satisfied about any of the matters set out in
paragraph .25 of section 60 or paragraph .07 of this section as preconditions for

AR-C §120.06 ©2017, AICPA



Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information 169

accepting a compilation engagement with respect to pro forma financial infor-
mation, the accountant should discuss the matter with management. If changes
cannot be made to satisfy the accountant about those matters, the accountant
should not accept the proposed compilation engagement.

Agreement on Engagement Terms

.09 The accountant should agree upon the terms of the engagement with
management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. The agreed-
upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an engagement letter
or other suitable form of written agreement between the parties and should
include the following: (Ref: par. . A11-.A16)

a. The objectives of the engagement

b. The responsibilities of management set forth in paragraph .25¢ of
section 60 and paragraph .07 of this section

c¢. The responsibilities of the accountant

d. The limitations of the compilation engagement

e. Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for
the preparation of the pro forma financial information

f  The expected form and content of the accountant's compilation
report and a statement that there may be circumstances in which
the report may differ from its expected form and content

.10 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement
should be signed by

a. the accountant or the accountant's firm, and

b. management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.
(Ref: par. .A12)

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the
Entity’s Financial Reporting Framework

.11 The accountant should obtain an understanding of the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework and the significant accounting policies intended
to be used in the preparation of the pro forma financial information. If the en-
tity is a combined entity, the accountant should obtain an understanding of
the significant accounting policies adopted by management of each significant
constituent part of the combined entity that would have been required to have
been obtained by the accountant performing a compilation engagement with
respect to the financial statements of each entity for the most recent annual or
interim period for which the pro forma financial information is presented. (Ref:
par. .A17-.A18)

Compilation Procedures

.12 In performing a compilation of pro forma financial information, the
accountant should do the following:

a. Comply with the requirements set forth in paragraphs .13—.16 of
section 80, adapted as necessary. (Ref: par. .A19)
b. Obtain an understanding of the underlying transaction or event.

Ascertain that management has fulfilled its agreement pursuant
to paragraph .07b of this section to include the following in any
document that contains the pro forma financial information:
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i. The complete financial statements of the entity for the
most recent year (or for the preceding year if financial
statements for the most recent year are not yet available)
or such financial statements are readily available

ii. If pro forma financial information is presented for an in-
terim period, either historical interim financial informa-
tion for that period (which may be in condensed form) or
that such interim information is readily available

iii. In the case of a business combination, the relevant finan-
cial information for the significant constituent parts of the
combined entity

d. Ascertain that management has fulfilled its agreement pursuant
to paragraph .07c¢ of this section to ensure that the financial state-
ments of the entity (or, in the case of a business combination, of
each significant constituent part of the combined entity) on which
the pro forma financial information is based have been subjected
to a compilation, review, or an audit engagement.

e. Ascertain that management has fulfilled its agreement pursuant
to paragraph .07d of this section to include the accountant's com-
pilation or review report or the auditor's report on the financial
statements (or have readily available) in any document contain-
ing the pro forma financial information.

The Accountant’s Compilation Report on Pro Forma
Financial Information

.13 The accountant's compilation report should be in writing and comply
with the requirements set forth in paragraphs .17—.31 of section 80 (Ref: par.
A20-.A22)

.14 In addition to the report elements required by paragraph .17 of sec-
tion 80, an accountant's compilation report on pro forma financial information
should include the following:

a. A reference to the financial statements from which the historical
financial information is derived and a statement as to whether
such financial statements were subjected to an audit, a review, or
a compilation engagement

b. Areference to any modification of the audit, review, or compilation
report on the historical financial information

c¢. A description of the nature and limitations of pro forma financial
information

Documentation

.15 The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each
compilation of pro forma financial information in sufficient detail to provide a
clear understanding of the work performed, which, at a minimum, includes the
following: (Ref: par. .A23)

a. The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documen-
tation with management, as described in paragraphs .09—.10

b. The results of procedures performed in accordance with para-
graph .12
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c¢. A copy of the pro forma financial information
d. A copy of the accountant's compilation report

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01)

Al A compilation engagement on pro forma financial information may be
undertaken as a separate engagement or in conjunction with a compilation, a
review, or an audit of financial statements.

Definition (Ref: par. .04)

A2 Pro forma financial information is developed by applying pro forma
adjustments to historical financial information. Appropriate pro forma adjust-
ments are based on management's assumptions, give effect to all significant
effects directly attributable to the transaction (or event), and are stated on a
basis consistent with the financial reporting framework of the reporting entity
and its accounting policies under that framework.

.A3 Pro forma financial information is commonly used to show the effects
of a transaction (or event) such as the following:

® Business combination

® Change in capitalization

® Disposition of a significant portion of the business
°

Change in the form of business organization or status as an au-
tonomous entity

® Proposed sale of securities and the application of the proceeds

.A4 Adequately disclosed pro forma financial information is labeled as
such to distinguish it from other historical financial information. In addition,
adequately disclosed financial information

® describes the transaction (or event) that is reflected in the pro
forma financial information, the date on which the transaction (or
event) is assumed to occur, the financial reporting framework of
the financial statements, the source of the historical financial in-
formation on which it is based, the significant assumptions used
to develop the pro forma adjustments, and any significant uncer-
tainties about those assumptions.

® indicates that the pro forma financial information should be read
in conjunction with the related historical financial information
and that the pro forma financial information is not necessarily in-
dicative of the results (such as financial position, results of opera-
tions, and cash flows, as applicable) that would have been attained
had the transaction (or event) actually taken place earlier.

A5 Article 11 of Regulation S-X provides further guidance on the presen-
tation of pro forma financial information included in filings with the SEC.

Independence (Ref: par. .06)

.A6 The interpretations of the "Independence Rule", (ET sec. 1.200.001) of
the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct provide authoritative guidance on in-
dependence. It is in the public interest and, therefore, required by this section,
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that the accountant modify the accountant's compilation report when the ac-
countant is not independent of the entity whose pro forma financial information
is the subject of the compilation engagement. The AICPA Code of Professional
Conduct also defines independence as consisting of two elements, independence
of mind and independence in appearance. Independence enhances the accoun-
tant's ability to act with integrity and be objective. Independence implies an
impartiality that recognizes an obligation to be fair not only to the responsi-
ble party but also to users of the pro forma financial information who may rely
upon the accountant's compilation report. In the absence of an interpretation
of the "Independence Rule" that addresses a particular relationship or circum-
stance, a member should apply the "Conceptual Framework for Independence"
interpretation (ET sec. 1.210.010).

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships
(Ref: par. .07)

.A7 Financial statements and historical interim financial information are
deemed to be readily available if they are obtainable by a third-party user with-
out any further action by the entity. For example, historical interim financial
information on an entity's website may be considered readily available; how-
ever being available upon request is not considered readily available.

.A8 A compilation in accordance with SSARSs is conducted on the premise
that management has acknowledged and understands that it has the respon-
sibility set out in paragraph .25¢ of section 60. The preparation of pro forma
financial information, in whole or in part, is a nonattest service subject to the
provisions of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic (ET section 1.295) of the "Inde-
pendence Rule." To avoid misunderstanding, agreement is reached with man-
agement that it acknowledges and understands that it has such responsibilities
as part of agreeing and documenting the terms of the compilation engagement
as required by paragraphs .13—.15.

A9 For purposes of this standard, complete financial statements means
the financial statement or financial statements, including related notes if pre-
sented, that have been subjected to a compilation, a review, or an audit engage-
ment. For example, if a balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash
flows, and related notes were subjected to a compilation, a review, or an audit
engagement, all are presented. If only a single financial statement is subjected
to a compilation, a review, or an audit engagement or financial statements that
omit all or substantially all disclosures are subjected to a compilation engage-
ment, only that financial statement is (or those statements are) presented.

.A10 Interim historical financial information may be presented as a col-
umn in the pro forma financial information.

Agreement on Engagement Terms (Ref: par. .09-.10)

.Al1 Both management and the accountant have an interest in document-
ing the terms of the compilation engagement before the commencement of the
engagement to help avoid misunderstandings about the engagement. For ex-
ample, it reduces the risk that management may inappropriately rely on or
expect the accountant to protect management against certain risks or perform
certain functions, including those that are management's responsibility.

.A12 The roles of management and those charged with governance in
agreeing upon the terms of the compilation engagement for the entity depend
on the governance structure of the entity and relevant law or regulation. De-
pending on the entity's structure, the agreement may be with management,
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those charged with governance, or both. Nonetheless, when the agreement on
the terms of engagement is with only those charged with governance, in accor-
dance with paragraph .25¢ of section 60, the accountant is required to obtain
management's agreement that it acknowledges and understands its responsi-
bilities.

.A13 When a third party has contracted for a compilation of the entity's
pro forma financial information, agreeing on the terms of the compilation with
management of the entity is necessary in order to establish that the precondi-
tions for a compilation are present.

.Al14 The understanding with management regarding the services to be
performed for compilation engagements is required by paragraph .09 to be in
a documented form, and, accordingly, an oral understanding is insufficient. An
engagement letter is the most common and usually the most convenient method
for documenting the understanding with management regarding the services
to be performed for compilation engagements.

.A15 Although the accountant may prepare the pro forma financial infor-
mation, in whole or in part, the pro forma financial information is a represen-
tation of management, and the fairness of its presentation in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework is management's responsibility.

.A16 Exhibit A, "Illustrative Engagement Letter," provides an example of
an engagement letter for a compilation of pro forma financial information.

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s
Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .11)

.A17 The requirement that the accountant obtain an understanding of the
applicable financial reporting framework intended to be used in the preparation
of the pro forma financial information and the significant accounting policies
adopted by management does not prevent the accountant from accepting a com-
pilation engagement for an entity in an industry in which the accountant has
no previous experience. The accountant may obtain such understanding by, for
example, consulting AICPA guides, industry publications, financial statements
of other entities in the industry, textbooks and periodicals, appropriate contin-
uing professional education, or individuals who are knowledgeable about the
framework or the industry.

.A18 If another accountant has performed a compilation engagement on
the financial statements of a significant constituent part of the combined en-
tity, the need for the accountant to obtain an understanding of the significant
accounting policies adopted by management is not diminished.

Compilation Procedures (Ref: par. .12)

.A19 The requirement in paragraph .13 of section 80 that the accountant
read the financial statements in light of the accountant's understanding of the
applicable financial reporting framework and the significant accounting poli-
cies adopted by management and consider whether such financial statements
appear to be appropriate in form and free from obvious material misstatements
requires the accountant to also read the pro forma financial information and
consider the following:

®  Whether the underlying transaction (or event), the pro forma ad-
justments, the significant assumptions, and the significant uncer-
tainties, if any, about those assumptions have been appropriately
described
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®  Whether the source of the historical financial information on
which the pro forma financial information is based has been ap-
propriately identified

The Accountant’s Compilation Report on Pro Forma Financial
Information (Ref: par. .13)
.A20 The accountant's compilation report on pro forma financial informa-

tion may be added to the accountant's report on financial statements or it may
appear separately.

.A21 An uncertainty about whether the underlying transaction (or event)
will be consummated would not require a report modification.

A22 Exhibit B, "Illustrative Accountant's Compilation Report on Pro
Forma Financial Information," provides an example of an accountant's com-
pilation report on pro forma financial information.

Documentation (Ref: par. .15)

.A23 Documentation may include significant consultations or significant
professional judgments made throughout the engagement.
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A24

Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letter
(Ref: par. .A16)

The illustrative engagement letter in this exhibit is intended as an illustration
that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined in Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. The engagement letter will
vary according to individual requirements and circumstances. The accountant
may seek legal advice about whether a proposed letter is suitable.

Circumstances include the following:

® The accountant will prepare, as a nonattest service, the pro forma
financial information and perform a compilation on the pro forma
financial information the accountant prepared.

® The pro forma financial information is presented in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

® The accountant expects that his or her independence will not be
impaired.

To the appropriate representative of management of ABC Company:!

You? have requested that we prepare the pro forma financial information
of ABC Company (the Company) and perform a compilation engagement with
respect to that pro forma financial information. We are pleased to confirm our
acceptance and our understanding of this engagement by means of this letter.

Pro forma financial information is a presentation that shows what the sig-
nificant effects on historical financial information might have been had a con-
summated or proposed transaction (or event) occurred at an earlier date.

Our Responsibilities
The objective of our engagement is to

a. prepare the pro forma financial information in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, and

b. perform a compilation engagement on the pro forma financial in-
formation we prepared in which we will apply accounting and fi-
nancial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of
the pro forma financial information and report without undertak-
ing to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the pro forma financial in-
formation in order for it to be in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America.

We will conduct our engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting
and Review Services Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter will be those that are appropriate in
the circumstances of the compilation of pro forma financial information, including the relevant juris-
diction. It is important to refer to the appropriate persons.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant will
be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.
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Accountants (AICPA) and comply with the AICPA's Code of Professional Con-
duct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional com-
petence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of
the information you will provide to us for the engagement or otherwise gather
evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. Accordingly,
we will not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the pro forma fi-
nancial information.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any pro forma
financial information misstatements, including those caused by fraud or error,
or to identify or disclose any wrongdoing within the Company or noncompliance
with laws and regulations.

Management Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management
acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare the pro forma finan-
cial information in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America and perform a compilation engagement on the pro
forma financial information we prepared. Management has the following over-
all responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking the engagement
in accordance with SSARSs:

a. For the preparation and fair presentation of the pro forma finan-
cial information in accordance with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America and for the selection
of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America as the applicable financial reporting framework

b.  To include the following in any document that contains the pro
forma financial information:

i. The complete financial statements of the entity for the
most recent year (or for the preceding year if financial
statements for the most recent year are not yet available)
or such financial statements are readily available

ii. If pro forma financial information is presented for an in-
terim period, either historical interim financial informa-
tion for that period (which may be in condensed form) or
that such interim information is readily available

iii. In the case of a business combination, the relevant his-
torical financial information for the significant constituent
parts of the combined entity

c¢. To ensure that the financial statements of the entity (or, in the
case of a business combination, of each significant constituent
part of the combined entity) on which the pro forma financial in-
formation is based have been subjected to a compilation, review,
or an audit engagement.

d. Toinclude the accountant's compilation or review report or the au-
ditor's report on the financial statements (or make readily avail-
able) in any document containing the pro forma financial infor-
mation

e. To present a summary of significant assumptions with the pro
forma financial information

f To obtain the accountant's permission prior to including the ac-
countant's compilation report in any document containing the pro
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forma financial information that indicates that the entity's ac-
countant has performed a compilation engagement on such pro
forma financial information

g To prevent and detect fraud

h. To ensure that the Company complies with the laws and regula-
tions applicable to its activities

i. For the accuracy and completeness of the records, documents,
explanations, and other information, including significant judg-
ments, you provide to us for the engagement

J. To provide us with the following:

i. Assumptions that provide a reasonable basis for present-
ing the significant effects directly attributable to the un-
derlying transaction (or event)

ii. Documentation and other related information that is rele-
vant to the preparation and presentation of the pro forma
financial information

iii. Additional information that may be requested for the pur-
pose of the preparation of the pro forma financial informa-
tion

iv. Unrestricted access to persons within the Company of
whom we determine necessary to communicate

You are also responsible for all management decisions and responsibilities and
for designating an individual with suitable skills, knowledge, and expertise to
oversee our preparation of your pro forma financial information. You are re-
sponsible for evaluating the adequacy and results of the services performed
and accepting responsibility for such services.

Our Report

As part of our engagement, we will issue a report that will state that we did not
examine or review the pro forma financial information and that, accordingly,
we do not express an opinion nor provide any assurance on it. There may be
circumstances in which the report differs from the expected form and content.

We have no responsibility to update our report for events and circumstances
occurring after the date of such report.

If management intends to reproduce and publish the pro forma financial
information and our report thereon, they must be reproduced in their entirety,
and both the first and subsequent corrected drafts of the document containing
the pro forma financial information and any accompanying material must be
submitted to us for approval.

Other Relevant Information
Our fees for these services . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding lim-
itation of, or other arrangements regarding, the liability of the accountant or
the entity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability arising from
knowing misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may
restrict or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):

You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from
any liability or costs, including attorney's fees, resulting from management's
knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions against us by
third parties relying on the pro forma financial information described herein
except for our own intentional wrongdoing.]
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Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowl-
edgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to
prepare the pro forma financial information described herein and to perform
a compilation engagement with respect to that same pro forma financial infor-
mation, and our respective responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant's firm]
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]
[Name and title]

[Date]
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A25

Exhibit B—Illustrative Accountant’s Compilation
Report on Pro Forma Financial Information
(Ref: par. .A22)

Management is responsible for the accompanying pro forma condensed balance
sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X1, and the related pro forma
condensed statement of income for the year then ended (pro forma financial
information), based on the criteria in Note 1. The historical condensed finan-
cial statements are derived from the financial statements of XYZ Company, on
which I (we) performed a compilation engagement, and of ABC Company, on
which other accountants performed a compilation engagement. The pro forma
adjustments are based on management's assumptions described in Note 1. (We)
have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Account-
ing and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. I (we) did not examine or
review the pro forma financial information nor was (were) I (we) required to
perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the informa-
tion provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do not express an opinion, a
conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on the pro forma financial infor-
mation.

The objective of this pro forma financial information is to show what the
significant effects on the historical financial information might have been had
the underlying transaction (or event) occurred at an earlier date. However, the
pro forma condensed financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations or related effects on financial position that would have
been attained had the above mentioned transaction (or event) actually occurred
at such earlier date.

[Additional paragraph(s) may be added to emphasize certain matters relating
to the compilation engagement or the subject matter.]

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant's city and state]
[Date of the accountant's report]
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AR-C Appendix A

Schedule of Changes in Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review
Services’

Section | Paragraph Changes Date of Change
60 .01 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 .03 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 .04 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 .07 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 17 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 .26 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 A1-.A3 Superseded by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 A4 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 Al12 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 A21 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 A26 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 A33 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
60 .A38 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 .01 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 .10 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 14 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 .19 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 Al1-A2 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 A3 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
70 A9 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 .01 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 .10 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 .24-.25 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 .29-.30 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 Al1-A2 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 A3 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 A4 Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 Al4 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
80 A25 Superseded by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 .01 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016

(continued)

* This table lists changes resulting from Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services (SSARSs) issued subsequent to SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services: Clarification and Recodification, which was issued in October 2014.
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Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

Section | Paragraph Changes Date of Change
90 .05 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 11-12 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 .39g Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 .81-.83 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 Al Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 A11-.A12 | Added by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 A20 Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 A131 Superseded by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
90 .A132—-.A134 | Amended by SSARS No. 23. October 2016
120 Added by SSARS No. 22. September 2016

AR-C Appendix A ©2017, AICPA



AR-C Topical Index

AR-C TOPICAL INDEX

References are to AR-C section and paragraph numbers.

A

ACCOUNTANT, INDEPENDENT
- Review report ................ 90.39; 90.A68;
................ 90.A71; 90.A136; 90.A149
ACCOUNTING
- Principles—See Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPAs
- Standards for Accounting and Review

Services ..ot 60.01-.04; 60.A22
- Other preparation, compilation and review

publications. ..ol 60.A52

ANALYTICAL PROCEDURES

- Definition. ... 90.05
- Designing........... 90.17-.20; 90.A38-.A45
- lllustration ........oovveiiiiiii 90.A145
“Results ........ooooiiiiiiii 90.21; 90.A45
- Review report...........ooviiiiiiiiint, 90.39

APPLICABLE FINANCIAL REPORTING
FRAMEWORK

- Application................... 60.A20; 60.A49
- Compilation engagement ....... 80.08; 80.10;
....... 80.12-.13; 80.15; 80.20; 80.24-.28
- Compilation report......... 80.20; 80.24-.28;
.................................... 80.33;
......... 80.38-.39; 80.A21; 80.A36-.A37
- Definition................ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Departures............. 70.10; 70.18; 80.29;

........... 80.33; 80.A38-.A39; 90.56-.60;

... 90.68; 90.A49; 90.A89; 90.A104-.A109

- Disclosures......... 70.20-.21; 70.A18-.A19;
... 80.24-.26; 80.A36-.A37; 90.6990.A59

- Financial statements........ 60.A4; 60.A7-.A8;
........... 60.A10; 60.A51; 70.10; 70.A12;
....... 70.A14; 70.A16-.A18; 90.22; 90.24

- Review engagement..... 90.09; 90.11; 90.17,
................. 90.34; 90.A4-.A6; 90.A20

- Review report...... 90.39; 90.42; 90.45-.49;
......... 90.79; 90.81; 90.84-.85; 90.A67;
.................. 90.A73; 90.A94; 90.A98;
........................... 90.A146-.A147

AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS
- Adverse opinion............. 80.A38; 90.A106
- Change in engagement............ 90.86—.88,
............................ 90.A138-.A140
B
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- Definition. ... 80.05
- Required supplementary
information............. 80.38-.39; 80.A46;
....................... 90.84-.85; 90.A137
- Supplementary information......... 80.35-.36;
.............................. 80.A41-.A42

©2017, AICPA

c

CASH BASIS—See Special purpose
frameworks

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTANTS
- Predecessor—See Predecessor Independent
Accountant
- Successor—See Successor Independent
Accountant

CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT—See
Conduct, Code of Professional

COMMUNICATION

- Engagement letters....70.A9; 80.A14; 90.12;

............................ 90.92; 90.A20
- With management and those charged with
GOVEMMANCE ... veveerrnnnnns 90.13; 90.55
COMPARABILITY
- Analytical procedures................. 90.A20
COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
-~ Definition. ... 90.05
+ llustrations.........oooviiiiiiiin.s 80.A48
- Review report..........coovviiinn. 90.45-.50
COMPILATION ENGAGEMENT
- Acceptance and continuance....... 80.08-.09;
............................... 80.A9-.A10
- Applicable financial reporting
framework ....... 80.08; 80.10; 80.12-.13;
.................. 80.15; 80.20; 80.24-.28
- Agreementonterms.............. 80.10-.11;
............................. 80.A11-.A16
Documentation .................... ... 80.38
Engagement letters............... 80.10-.11;
............................ 80.40; 80.A14
lllustrations. ........ovvieviiiinnn., 80.A47
- Independence .................. 80.07; 80.A8
- Management....... 80.02; 80.04; 80.09-.11;
...................... 80.A9; 80.A11-.A15
- Objective....oovvii i 80.04
- Preconditions for performance...... 60.24-.25
Requirements................... 80.02; 80.06
SCOPE. ettt 80.01
- Withdrawal ............ 60.A34; 80.16; 80.32;
............................. 80.A22-.A23

COMPILATION OF PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
- Acceptance and continuance of client
relationships ..... 120.07-.08; 120.A7-.A10
- Accountant’s compilation
report.......... 120.13-.14; 120.A20-.A22
- Accountant’s knowledge and understanding
of the entity’s financial reporting
framework .......... 120.11; 120.A17-.A18

COoM

185



186

COMPILATION OF PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION—continued
- Agreement on engagement

terms.......... 120.09-.10; 120.A11-.Al6
- Compilation procedures..... 120.12; 120.A19
- Definition................ 120.04; 120.A2-.A5
- Documentation............... 120.15; 120.A3
- General Principles .................... 120.05
- lllustrations—see lllustrations
- Independence................ 120.06; 120.A6
- Objective......cooveiiiiiiii 120.03

COMPILATION PROCEDURES
- Appropriateness of financial

statements.............. 80.13-.16; 80.A18
- Disclosures..........ooovvvnnnn 80.A20-.A21
- Management ...... 80.13-.16; 80.40; 80.A18
- Withdrawal ..................... 80.A22-.A23

COMPILATION REPORTS
- Applicable financial reporting

framework ....... 80.20; 80.24-.28; 80.33;
......... 80.38-.39; 80.A21; 80.A36-.A37
Date ..o 80.17

- Departures from applicable financial reporting
framework ........ 80.29-.33; 80.A38-.A39
- Disclosures......... 80.08; 80.18; 80.24-.28;

............ 80.A20-.A21; 80.A29; 80.A31;

............... 80.A36-.A37; 80.A47-.A48
- Elements................ 80.17; 80.A24-.A25
- lllustrations................. 80.A48; 120.A25
- Independence........ 80.22-.23; 80.A33-.A35
- Management........... 80.17; 80.20; 80.A24
- Pro forma financial information ... 120.13-.14;

............................ 120.A20-.A22
- Required supplementary

information........ 80.37-.39; 80.A44-.A46
- Special purpose framework........ 80.18-.21;

............................. 80.A28-.A32

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
- |dentification in review report.......... 90.A67

CONDUCT, CODE OF PROFESSIONAL
- General StandardsRule ............... 60.A23
- Compliance With Standards Rule....... 60.A23
- Conceptual Framework for Independence
interpretation......................... 80.A3
- Independence Rule ...... 70.A3; 80.A8; 90.A12

CONTRACTUAL BASIS—See Special Purpose
Framework

D
DATE OF REPORT
- Compilationreport..................... 80.17
- Review report........... 90.22; 90.34; 90.39;

..... 90.46; 90.49-.50; 90.64; 90.71-.72;
...... 90.74-.75; 90.A59; 90.A63; 90.A78;
......... 90.A94; 90.A120-.A122; 90.A126

AR-C Topical Index

DEFINITIONS—See Terminology

DEPARTURES FROM APPLICABLE FINANCIAL
REPORTING FRAMEWORK

- lllustrations..........coovviiiiint, 80.A48
- Reporting in compilation
reports............. 80.29-.33; 80.A38-.39
- Reporting in preparation
engagement.................. 70.10; 70.18
- Reporting in review
reports ......... 90.56-.60; 90.68; 90.A49;
.................. 90.A89; 90.A104-.A109
DESIGNATED ACCOUNTING
STANDARD-SETTER
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Required supplementary
information............ 90.84-.85; 90.A136
DISCLOSURE

- Applicable financial reporting
framework..... 80.08; 80.29; 80.A20-.A21;
............. 80.A31; 90.09; 90.34; 90.40;
........................ 90.56-.57; 90.A98
- lllustrations.............ooovnnt 80.A47-.A48
- Material misstatement......... 70.18; 70.A17;
...................... 90.27-.28; 90.A107
- Omission....70.10; 70.20-.21; 70.A18-.A19;
................ 80.18; 80.24-.26; 80.A29;
.............. 80.A36-.A37; 90.69; 90.A59

DOCUMENTATION
- Accountants’ responsibility .. .... 60.21; 60.24
- Compilation Engagement............... 80.38
- Preparation Engagement.......... 70.22-.23;
................................... 70.A20
Review Engagement .............. 90.90-.91;
........................... 90.A141-.A145
E

EMPHASIS-OF-MATTER PARAGRAPH
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Review documentation ................. 90.92

- Review report...... 90.52-.55; 90.75; 90.92;
............. 90.A94-.A99; 90.A117-.A119
- Special purpose
framework .............. 90.43-.44; 90.A94
ENGAGEMENT
- Compilation—See Compilation Engagement
- Preparation—See Preparation Engagement
- Review—See Review Engagement

ENGAGEMENT DOCUMENTATION

- Maintenance..........oovviiiiii 60.21
ENGAGEMENT LETTERS
- Compilation engagement.......... 80.10-.11;
............................ 80.40; 80.A14
- lllustrations.................. 70.A22; 80.A47;
........................ 90.A145; 120.A24
- Preparation engagement .......... 70.10-.11;
............................. 70.22; 70.A9
- Review engagement ....... 90.11-.12; 90.92;

........................... 90.A20; 90.A26

©2017, AICPA



AR-C Topical Index

ENGAGEMENT PARTNER

- Quality control...... 60.20-.24; 60.A40-. A41
.................... 60.A43-.A45; 90.A144

ENGAGEMENT TEAM
- Competencies......... 60.21; 60.23; 60.A18;
.................... 60.A43-.A44; 90.A144
- Definition. ... 60.07
- Quality control .................. 60.A40-.A42
ERROR
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Financial statement
preparation.................. 60.24; 90.A73
ETHICAL REQUIREMENTS
- Engagements in accordance with
SSARS........... 60.08; 60.23; 60.24-.25;

60.A13-.A16; 60.A44-.A47

EVENTS
- Subsequent—See Subsequent Events

EXAMPLES—See lllustrations

EXPERIENCED ACCOUNTANT
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Review documentation. ....... 90.91; 90.A144

F

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
BOARD
- Accounting Standards Codification .. .. 60.A11;
................ 80.A44; 90.A135; 90.A147

FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK
- Definition................ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Financial statement preparation. ... 60.A4-.A9;
................... 60.A49; 60.A51; 80.A5;
90.A45; 90.A111
- Knowledge and understanding of...... 60.A20;
70.12; 70.A12; 80.12; 80.A17

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- Accounting standards ........... 60.07; 60.10;
.............. 60.A9; 60.A22-.A27; 60.A38
- Applicable financial reporting
framework ...... 60.A4; 60.A7-.A8; 60.A10;
60.A19; 60.A49; 60.A51; 70.10;
............ 70.A12; 70.A14; 70.A16-.A18,;

............................. 90.22; 90.24
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Preparation and presentation ... 60.03; 60.24;

..... 60.A5-.A6; 60.A8-.A11; 60.A48-.A51

- Preparation versus assistance......... 70.A21
- Professional judgment........... 60.A20-.A22
FIRM

- Comparative financial statements...... 90.A84
- Compilation report..................... 80.17
s Definition. ... 60.07
- Engagement letter....... 70.11; 80.11; 90.12
- Quality control............ 60.20-.24; 60.A16;
............................... 60.A39-.44
Review report..........covviiiiinnn 90.39
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FRAUD
- Communication to management and
others......... 80.04; 90.04; 90.22; 90.34;
............... 90.51; 90.92; 90.A90-.A93
- Definition. ..o, 80.04; 90.05
- Material misstatement......... 60.24; 70.A22;
.......... 80.A47; 90.A45; 90.A56; 90.A73

G

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLES

- Definition. ...l 80.05; 90.05
- Departures.........oocvviiiiiiiinn, 90.A104
- lllustration ...... 80.A47-.A48; 90.A145-.A147
- Supplementary information........ 80.38-.39;
................................ 90.84-.85
GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING
STANDARDS
- Change in engagement................. 90.86
GOING CONCERN
- Disclosure ............... 80.A20; 90.66-.68;
........................... 90.A116-.A119
- Uncertainties............. 80.A20; 90.65-.68;

90.A95; 90.A115-.A119
GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
BOARD
- Basic Financial Statements—and
Management's Discussion and Analysis—for

State and Local Governments....... 80.A44;
.................................. 90.A135
H
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Other prospective financial
information ........... 60.03; 70.01; 70.A1;
...... 80.01; 80.A1-.A4; 90.01; 90.A1-.A2
- Review of financial statements ......... 90.01;
................................ 90.A1-.A2
|
ILLEGAL ACTS
- Communication with management and those
charged with governance............ 90.A22
ILLUSTRATIONS
- Analytical procedures................ 90.A144
- Comparative financial statements...... 80.A48
- Compilation engagement.............. 80.A47
- Compilation reports......... 80.A48; 120.A25
- Departures from applicable financial
reporting framework ................ 80.A48
- Disclosure.........coovieiinnn.. 80.A47-.A48
- Engagement letters.......... 70.A22; 80.A47;

........................ 90.A145; 120.A24
- Generally accepted accounting

principles . ... 80.A47-.A48; 90.A145-.A147
- Representation letters................. 90.A61
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ILLUSTRATIONS—continued
- Review of financial

statements........ 90.A144-.A146; 9090.02

- Review reports..........coooveiinn. 90.A147
INDEPENDENCE

- Ethical requirements......... 60.A15; 60.A16;

.. 70.A3; 80.A8-.A9; 90.07; 90.A10-.A12

- Lack of or impaired ............... 80.22-.23;

..................... 80.A33-.A35; 80.A47

Quality control....... 60.A40; 60.A41; 60.A47

INQUIRIES

- Compilation procedures............... 80.A18

- Ethical requirements ................... 60.23

- Engagement acceptance............... 60.24

- Review evidence ........... 90.22-.23; 90.32

- Review procedures ........ 90.17-.18; 90.39;

............. 90.A23; 90.A33-.A34; 90.A43

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
BOARD
- International Financial Reporting
Standards ...........ooiiiiiiinl, 60.A11

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS—See Financial Reporting
Framework

INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON REVIEW
ENGAGEMENTS

- Reviews performed in accordance
With .. 9090.01-.02

INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON RELATED
SERVICES

- Compilation Engagements............. 60.A27
- Engagements to Review Historical
Financial Statements................ 60.A27
INTERPRETIVE PUBLICATIONS
- Consideration...............coooeeen. 60.18
- Definition. ...t 60.07; 60.A35
L

LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION—See
Representation Letters

M
MANAGEMENT
- Applicable financial reporting
framework ............... 80.27; 80.30-.31

- Compilation engagements....... 80.02; 80.04;
........... 80.09-.11; 80.A9; 80.A11-.A15
- Compilation procedures. ...80.13-.16; 80.40;

................................... 80.A18
- Compilation reports .. .. 80.17; 80.20; 80.A24
- Definition................ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Discussions with

accountant............... 70.16-.19; 90.51
- Engagements............ 60.24-.25; 60.A19;

............... 60.A44-.A45; 60.A48-.A51
- Going concern .............ooe.ut. 90.65-.67

AR-C Topical Index

MANAGEMENT—continued
- Preparation of financial
statements....... 70.04; 70.09-.11; 70.13;
70.15-.19; 70.22; 70.A7-.A10;
............... 70.A12-.A13; 70.A16-.A17
- Quality control ..ot 60.21
- Responsibilities............. 60.07; 90.22-.23;
............... 90.A43-.A46; 90.A73-.A74
- Required supplementary financial

information............. 80.38-.39; 80.A44;
................................ 90.84-.85
- Review engagements ............. 90.08-.13;

......... 90.91-.92; 90.A12; 90.A17-.A21;
............... 90.A23-.A24; 90.A26-.A27,

............................. 90.A90-.A93
Review reports................. 90.39; 90.42
........................... 90.A117-.A119

- Subsequentevents..................... 90.69

- Subsequently discovered facts..... 90.71-.77;
........................... 90.A123-.A125
- Supplementary financial
information........ 80.35-.36; 80.A41-.A43;
90.81-.82; 90.A135
.. 90.33-.34;90.37;

............................. 90.A51-.A63
MISSTATEMENT
- Acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and engagements ....... 60.24
- Analytical procedures .... 90.19-.20; 90.A144
- Compilation procedures ................ 80.13
- Definition. ... 80.05; 90.05
- Knowledge of the entity ................ 90.15
- Management................... 90.22; 90.51
- Preparing financial
statements.................. 70.18; 70.A17
Review procedures ........ 90.18; 90.27-.28;
................ 90.A4-.A5; 90.A7; 90.A48
Written representations................ 90.34;
............................. 90.A56-.A57
N
NONCOMPLIANCE
- Communication with management...... 90.22;
....... 90.51; 90.92; 90.A90-.A91; 90.A93
s Definition. ... 90.05
- Written representations................. 90.34
0

OTHER BASIS—See Special Purpose
Framework

OTHER-MATTER PARAGRAPH

- Definition. ... 90.05
- Required supplementary

information.......... 80.37-.38; 90.83-.85
- Review report ............. 90.44; 90.49-.50;

................ 90.54-.55; 90.92; 90.A94;
.................. 90.A99-.A103; 90.A111
- Supplementary information......... 80.34-.36;
............... 90.80-.82; 90.A132-.A134
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OTHER PREPARATION, COMPILATION AND

REVIEW PUBLICATIONS
- AICPA publications.................... 60.A52
- Application of guidance within........... 60.19
- Definition. ... 60.07
Useof oo 60.A37-.A39
P
PERSONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- Preparation...................ooll 70.A21
PREPARATION ENGAGEMENT
- Acceptance and continuance............ 70.09;
............................... 70.A7-.A11
- Agreementonterms............... 70.10-.11
- Departures from applicable financial
reporting framework .......... 70.10; 70.18
- Documentation............ 70.22-.23; 70.A20
- Engagement letters........ 70.10-.11; 70.22;
.................................... 70.A9
- Independence. ...t 70.A3
- Management....... 70.04; 70.09-.11; 70.13;

........... 70.15-.19; 70.22; 70.A7-.A10;
............... 70.A12-.A13; 70.A16-.A17

- Objectives......covvviiiiiiiiin 70.06
- Requirements .............. 70.03-.04; 70.08
©SCOPE e 70.01-.02

PRINCIPLES, ACCOUNTING—See Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles
PROFESSIONAL JUDGMENT

- Communication with management and those
charged with governance...... 90.13; 90.51

- Definition. ...l 60.07; 60.A34
- Emphasis-of-matter paragraph.......... 90.52
- Exerciseof ...l 60.A18-.A22
- Other-matter paragraph................ 90.54
- Preparation engagement ........ 70.A20-.A21

- Review engagement..... 90.88; 90.91; 90.A7,
................. 90.A33; 90.A41; 90.A145

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES

cDuecare.......coiiiiiii 60.A16
- Presumptively mandatory
requirements............ 60.15-.16; 60.A34
- Unconditional requirements.............. 60.15
PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
- Preparing. ..o 70.19
- Reportingon.................oo 80.24-.27
Q
QUALITY CONTROL
- Engagement level ......... 60.20-.24; 60.A16
- Review documentation............... 90.A141
- Systems....... 60.A17; 60.A39-.A41; 60.A44
R

REGULATORY BASIS—See Special Purpose
Framework
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REPORT RELEASE DATE
-~ Definition. ... 90.05
- Subsequent events and subsequently
discovered facts ....90.71; 90.74; 90.A121
REPORTS
- Compilation—See Compilation Reports
- Review—See Review Reports

REPRESENTATION LETTERS

lllustrations.........covviiiiiiniinn, 90.A61
Review documentation......... 90.92; 90.A66
Written representations................ 90.36;
............................. 90.A63-.A64
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

- Basic financial statements......... 80.38-.39;
.............. 80.A46; 90.84-.85; 90.A137

- Compilation reports............... 80.37-.39;
............................. 80.A44-.Ad6

- Definition. ... 80.05; 90.05

- Historical or prospective financial
information ... 70.A1; 80.A1-.A4; 90.A1-.A2
- Review reports ... 90.83-.85; 90.A135-.A137

REVIEW DOCUMENTATION
- Definition. ... 90.05
- Elements......... 90.90-.91; 90.A141-.A144
REVIEW ENGAGEMENT
- Applicable financial reporting
framework..... 90.09; 90.11; 90.17; 90.34;
................ 90.59; 90.A4-.A6; 90.A21

- Acceptance and continuance....... 90.08-.10;

................................... 90.A12

- Change from audit engagement. . ..90.86-.90;

........................... 90.A138-.A139
Engagement letters........ 90.11-.12; 90.92

................. 90.A20; 90.A26; 90.A145

- Independence................. 90.07; 90.A11

- Knowledge and understanding .......... 90.07
- Management.......... 90.08-.13; 90.91-.92;

...... 90.A12; 90.A17-.A21; 90.A23-.A24;

- Objective..........cooevvin 90.04; 90.A7
- Preconditions for performance...... 60.24-.25
- Requirements....... 90.06; 90.13-.14; 90.A30
- Reporting on financial statements ...... 90.39;
..................... 90.A60; 90.A74-.A75
S SCOPE c et 90.01-.02
- Withdrawal................... 90.07; 90.A105
REVIEW EVIDENCE
-~ Definition. ... 90.05
- Obtained from procedures
performed................... 90.31; 90.A33
- Review documentation ................. 90.91
- Review report.........oocoviiiiiiiint, 90.39
- Written representations......... 90.32; 90.35;

.................. 90.A51; 90.A55; 90.A59
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Agreement on engagement terms ... .. 90.A19
- Analytical procedures......... 90.A32; 90.A39
- lllustrations .................. 90.A144-Al46
- Independence ..........oooiiiiiiinnt 90.07

REV
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS—continued
- Inquiries of management.............. 90.A41
- Objective...coovvieiii 90.04

- Omission of Disclosures—See Disclosure
- Reporting—See Review Reports

REVIEW REPORTS
- Acceptance and continuance....... 90.08-.09
- Agreement on engagement terms....... 90.11
- Alert that restricts use ............ 90.61-.64;

........................... 90.A110-.A114

- Change from audit engagement . ... 90.88-.89
- Communication with management ..... 90.55;

........................... 90.A102-.A103

- Comparative financial

statements.............. 90.45-.50; 90.A87

- Departures from applicable financial reporting

framework .......... 90.49; 90.A104-.A109

- Designing procedures.................. 90.17
- Emphasis-of-matter paragraph ......... 90.05;

..... 90.43-.44; 90.52-. 55 90.75; 90.92;

- Going concern........ 90.68; 90.A117—.A118
- lllustrations................ 90.A147; 9090.02
- Modification......................os 90.A23

- Other-matter paragraph....90.44; 90.49-.50;

..... 90.54; 90.92; 90.A94; 90.A99-.A101;

.................................. 90.A111
- Reporting on financial
statements ....... 90.38-.39; 90.A66-.A80
- Required supplementary
information................. 90.83; 90.A137
Review documentation........ 90.92; 90. A143
Special purpose framework........ 90.40-.4
............................. 90.A81- A85

Supplementary information........ 90.80-.82;
.................................. 90.A134

- Updating thereport.................... 90.48
- Work of other accountants ........ 90.78-.79;

S
SPECIAL PURPOSE FRAMEWORK

- Cashbasis...........ccvennn. 70.07; 80.05
- Compilation engagements.............. 80.08
- Compilation report......... 80.18-.21; 80.27;
............................. 80. A28— A32
Contractual basis............... 70.07; 80.05
Definition................ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
Financial statement preparation........ 60.A5;
............................ 70.15; 70.A15

- Regulatory basis................ 70.07; 80.05
- Review engagements................... 90.09
- Review report....... 90.40-.44; 90.A81-.A83
- Otherbasis..................... 70.07; 80.05
sTax basis...oovviiiiiiii 70.07; 80.05

REV

SPECIFIED PARTIES
s Definition. ... 90.05
- Review report............ 90.61-.64; 90.A85;

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
- Omission in compilation

[£=1010] ¢ A 80.27; 80.A47
- Special purpose framework. .. 80.A28; 90.A81
- Single financial statements............ 60.A12
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
= Definition. ... 90.05
- Reflection in financial
statements............ 90.69-.70; 90.A120
SUBSEQUENTLY DISCOVERED FACTS
-~ Definition. ... 90.05

- Reflection in financial
statements ..... 90.71-.77; 90.A121-.A127

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

- Basic financial statements......... 80.35-.36;
............................. 80.A41-.A42
- Compilation reports............... 80.34-.36;
............................. 80.A41-.A42
- Definition........... 80.05; 80.A6-.A7; 90.05;
............................. 90.A10-.A12
- Historical or prospective financial
information............... 70.A1; 90.A1-.A2
- Reviewed financial statements...... 90.80-.82;

T
TAX BASIS—See Special Purpose
Frameworks
TERMINOLOGY
- Analytical procedures .................. 90.05
- Applicable financial reporting
framework............. 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Basic financial statements.............. 80.05
- Cashbasis............cooeeenn 70.07; 80.05
- Comparative financial statements....... 90.05
- Contractual basis............... 70.07; 80.05
- Designated accounting
standard-setter....................... 90.05
- Emphasis-of-matter paragraph.......... 90.05
- Engagement partner................... 60.07
- Engagementteam ..................... 60.07
SErOr . 90.05
- Experienced accountant................ 90.05
- Financial reporting framework.......... 70.07;
............................. 80.05; 90.05
Financial statements ................... 90.05
Firm. .o 60.07
Fraud ... 90.05
- Generally accepted accounting
principles.............oooennl 80.05; 90.05
- Historical financial information .......... 90.05
- Interpretive publications ................ 60.07
- Management............ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Misstatement................... 80.05; 90.05
- Noncompliance .........ccovvvivvniinnn. 90.05
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TERMINOLOGY—continued

- Other basis..................... 70.07; 80.05
- Other-matter paragraph................ 90.05
- Other preparation, compilation and review
publications.............cooiiiin 60.07
- Pro forma financial information ......... 120.04
- Professional judgment.................. 60.07
- Regulatory basis................ 70.07; 80.05
- Reportrelease date.................... 90.05
- Required supplementary information. . ..80.05;
.................................... 90.05
Review documentation ................. 90.05
- Review evidence............ccovveiinn. 90.05
- Special purpose framework.. ... 70.07; 80.05;
.................................... 90.05
- Specified parties................oooiin 90.05
- Subsequently discovered facts.......... 90.05
- Supplementary information...... 80.05; 90.05
sTax basis...ooviiii i 70.07; 80.05
- Those charged with governance........ 70.07;
............................. 80.05; 90.05
- Updated report..........coooviviiiint, 90.05
- Written representation.................. 90.05

THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
- Acceptance and continuance of client

relationships............ 60.A45; 70.09-.11;
............................. 90.08; 90.10
- Agreements........... 80.10-.11; 90.11-.12;
................................... 90.A18
- Communication......... 80.09; 90.13; 90.37;

............. 90.51; 90.A23-.A29; 90.A43;
.................... 90.A90-.A91; 90.A103

- Definition................ 70.07; 80.05; 90.05
- Role and responsibility . ....... 70.A10; 80.A12;
................................... 90.A73

THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE—
continued

- Subsequently discovered facts......... 90.71;
............... 90.74-.77; 90.A124-.A125
- Written representations....... 90.A49; 90.A58
u
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- Accounting standards................. 60.A23
UNCERTAINTIES
- Materiality ........ooooviiee 90.A6
- GOING CONCEIM. .. vvv e 80.A20
UNDERSTANDING WITH MANAGEMENT
- Documentation........ 70.A9; 80.A14; 90.A20
UPDATED REPORT
- Definition. ... 90.05
slssuance. ... 90.47; 90.A88
w

WITHDRAWAL FROM COMPILATION
ENGAGEMENT—See Compilation
Engagement

WITHDRAWAL FROM REVIEW
ENGAGEMENT—See Review Engagement

WRITTEN REPRESENTATION

- Definition. ... 90.05

Form.........o.ooiiil 90.36; 90.A63-.A64
- Management............ 90.33; 90.A52-.A54
- Reliability ..........ooooeeii 90.37
- Review evidence............... 90.32; 90.A51
- Specific............. 90.34-.35; 90.A55-.A62
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